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In  1880 y o u n g  J ea n  B a p t is te  O c ta v e  
M o u to n  le f t  B e lg iu m  a n d  h is  tr a d e  
a s  w ig m a k e r ’s  a p p r e n tic e  to  b e t te r  
h is  p r o s p e c ts  in  th e  P a c ific . W ith  h is  
fa th e r , a  le a th e r  w o r k e r , h e  jo in e d  
th e  r a s c a lly  M a r q u is  d e  R a y s ’s  
i l l- fa te d  c o lo n is in g  v e n tu r e  in  N e w  
Ir e la n d  a n d  s ta y e d  to  b e c o m e  a 
w e a lth y  tr a d e r  a n d  c o p r a  p la n te r .

M o u to n  w a s  r e fr e s h in g ly  fr e e  o f  th e  
p o m p o u s  su p e r io r ity  o f  m o s t  
E u r o p e a n s . H e  w a s  n o t m is le d  b y  
h is  o w n  p r e c o n c e p t io n s  b u t  
sy m p a th is e d  w ith  n a tiv e  f e e lin g s  
a n d  p e r c e iv e d  s o m e th in g  o f  th e  
r e la t io n sh ip  o f  c u s to m  to  th e  
in s t i tu t io n s  o f  k in sh ip  an d  
a u th o r ity . In d eed  h e  m a r r ie d  a  lo c a l  
w o m a n  a n d  a d o p te d  c e r ta in  lo c a l  
p r a c t ic e s — in e v ita b ly  in c u r r in g  th e  
d isa p p r o v a l o f  h is  E u ro p ea n  f e l lo w -  
s e t t le r s .

H is  ‘M e m o ir s ’, im p a s s iv e ,  m a tte r -  
o f-fa c t  a n d  im p e r so n a l in  s ty le ,  
i l lu s t r a te  a  d r a m a tic  th e m e :  th e  
im p a c t  o f  E u ro p ea n  a r r iv a l on  
s m a l l ,  i s o la te d  b u t s ta b le  
c o m m u n it ie s ,  a n d  th e  d isr u p t io n  
c a u se d  to  tr a d it io n a l w a y s  o f  life . 
R e c o lle c t io n s  su c h  a s  th e s e  th r o w  
v a lu a b le  l ig h t  on  a  p o o r ly -  
d o c u m e n te d  p e r io d  o f  N e w  G u in ea  
h is to r y  a n d  p r o v id e  a n  a c c o u n t  o f  
su c h  c o lo u r fu l f ig u r e s  a s  T h o m a s  
F a r r e ll , th e  le g e n d a r y  Q u een  E m m a  
— a n d  M o u to n  h im s e lf .
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P e te r  B isk u p  w a s  b o rn  in  
C z e c h o s lo v a k ia  a n d  c a m e  to  
A u str a lia  in  1950 a s  a  d isp la c e d  
p e r s o n . H e  r e a d  la w  a t th e  
C o m e n iu s  U n iv e r s ity , B r a tis la v a ,  
a n d  i s  a  g r a d u a te  o f  th e  U n iv e r s ity  
o f  W e ste r n  A u str a lia .

H is  f ir s t  jo b  in  A u str a lia  w a s  a s  a 
n a v v y ;  h e  a ls o  tr ie d  h is  lu c k  a s  a  
g a r d e n e r , fu r n itu r e  r e m o v a lis t ,  
s to r e m a n , s a le s m a n  a n d  w a ite r .  
S in ce  1958 h e  h a s  w o r k e d  in  P e r th  a s  
l ib r a r ia n  a n d  a r c h iv is t ,  tr a in e d  
l ib r a r ia n s  a t  th e  N a t io n a l L ib ra ry  
in  C a n b erra  a n d  ta u g h t  h is to r y  at  
th e  A d m in is tr a t iv e  C o lle g e  o f  P a p u a  
a n d  N e w  G u in ea . F r o m  1969 to  1972 
h e  w a s  L a w  L ib r a r ia n  a t  th e  
A u str a lia n  N a t io n a l U n iv e r s ity  an d  
n o w  le c tu r e s  in  lib r a r ia n sh ip  a t th e  
C a n b erra  C o lleg e  o f  A d v a n ced  
E d u ca tio n .

D r  B isk u p  b r in g s  to  th e  e d it in g  o f  
th e  ‘M e m o ir s ’ a  k n o w le d g e  o f  
so u r c e s  in  m a n y  la n g u a g e s  a n d  a  
c lo s e  f a m il ia r ity  w ith  th e  a r e a  w ith  
w h ic h  th e  ‘M e m o ir s ’ a r e  c o n c e r n e d . 
H e is  c o -a u th o r  o f  ‘A S h o rt H is to r y  
o f  N e w  G u in e a ’ (1968) a n d  ‘R e a d in g s  
in  N e w  G u in ea  H is to r y ’ (1973) an d  
a u th o r  o f  ‘N o t S la v e s  N o t C it iz e n s ’ 
(1973).

J a c k e t  d e s ig n e d  b y  
P h ilip p a  L ig h tfo o t  
P r in te d  in  A u str a lia
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P acific  H isto ry  S eries

The Pacific History Series 
o f  books provides an outlet 

fo r  the publication o f  
original manuscripts 
important to historians 
and others interested in 
the Pacific Islands.

1. A Cruize in a Queensland Labour Vessel to the South 
Seas, by W. E. Giles, edited by Deryck Scarr (1968)
2. The Works o f  T a ’unga. Records o f  a Polynesian 
Traveller in the South Seas, 1833-1896, by R. G. and 
M arjorie Crocombe (1968)
3. The Trading Voyages o f  Andrew Cheyne, 1841-1844, 
edited by Dorothy Shineberg (1971)
4. A  Residence o f  Eleven Tears in New Holland and the 
Caroline Islands, by Jam es F. O ’Connell, edited by 
Saul H. Riesenberg (1972)
5. The South Sea Islanders and the Queensland Labour 
Trade, by W. T . W awn, edited by
Peter Corris (1973)
6. The Marquesan Journal o f  Edward Robarts, 
1797-1824, edited by Greg Dening (1974)
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F orew ord

Readers of the first six volumes of the Pacific 
History Series will have gained a  variety of 
first-hand pictures of the island-studded 
crescent of O ceania stretching from the Polynes­
ian M arquesas in the east, through T ahiti, the 
Cook Islands and Samoa, to M elanesian New 
C aledonia in the south-west and thence up 
through the New H ebrides and Solomons to 
the M icronesian Carolines.

T he them e com m on to these often dram atic 
scenes has been the dynam ic one of a world of 
small and  isolated societies throw n into ferm ent 
by the im pact of expatriate visitors or would-be 
residents on tradition-sanctioned mores. This 
seemingly inexorable process of culture change 
has been viewed through the eyes of beach­
combers, a  missionary, a  trading capta in  and 
labour recruiters, who saw it w ith feelings 
varying from an tipathy  to w hole-hearted 
approval.

In  publishing the m anuscript autobiography 
of Jean  Baptiste O ctave M outon our locale 
moves west to New Ireland  and New Britain, 
now politically pa rt of Papua New G uinea,



and our occupational categories of cultural 
agents are enlarged by the accession of one who 
was successively a settler, trader, p lan ter and 
entrepreneur.

M outon’s m anuscript is an opportune find 
since it fills in w ith his detailed personal 
experiences so m uch of the absorbing bu t often 
obscure history of the M arquis de R ays’ ill- 
conceived colonisation venture in New Ireland 
and the early comm ercial developm ent of the 
New G uinea island area now centred on 
R abau l. T he m atter-of-fact, impassive style in 
which he depicts his relations w ith some of the 
most colourful characters in Pacific history, 
such as Farrell, Q ueen Em m a and the M arquis 
himself, lends credence to the objectivity of his 
narrative. W hile he is clearly mistaken or 
forgetful at times, one feels tha t he is never 
deliberately misleading.

In  his In troduction  and Notes Peter Biskup 
not only enables the general reader to follow 
the th read  of M outon’s memoirs w ith ease 
bu t makes a scholarly contribution  him self to 
the early history of w hat came to be G erm an 
New G uinea. W ith his E uropean background, 
his polyglot linguistic attainm ents, and his 
knowledge of New G uinea gained as Senior 
L ecturer at the A dm inistrative S taff College in 
Port M oresby from 1965 to 1969 and as 
co-author of A Short History o f New Guinea and 
Readings in New Guinea History, he is well- 
qualified to identify the persons, places and 
episodes w ith which M outon was connected. 
T he References are of special value to students, 
since so m any of the prim ary sources relating 
to the area and period were published in 
G erm any or France and are only known to a 
handful of specialists.

As G eneral Editor I have long regretted the 
paucity  of unpublished sources relating to New 
G uinea suitable for this Series, and  am



correspondingly elated at a fortuitous discovery 
of the calibre of M outon’s memoirs. I t  is to be 
hoped tha t w ith the establishm ent of the 
Papua New G uinea Documents Project, under 
the aegis of the Pacific M anuscripts Bureau, 
m ore narratives of interest and im portance 
will come to light. Any tha t do will be exam ined 
carefully with an eye to inclusion.

H . E. M aude
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Introduction

Jean  Baptiste O ctave M outon was born in 1866 
in the French-speaking pa rt of Belgium. H e 
came from an im pecunious petit bourgeois family 
and had  left school a t the age of eleven— a 
common enough experience for children of his 
background before the in troduction  in 1914 
of compulsory education . A t fourteen he 
m igrated w ith his father for the Free Colony of 
Port-Breton, otherwise known as New France, 
w ith the last of the four expeditions to reach the 
shores of New Ireland.

T he M outons arrived in Port-Breton in 
August 1881 and  rem ained there until the 
final evacuation of the settlem ent in February 
1882. T ogether w ith perhaps a dozen of other 
undeterred individuals, they chose to rem ain 
in New G uinea ra ther than  to re turn  home, 
never to regret the ir decision. T hey settled as 
copra traders on the Gazelle Peninsula, 
initially under contract to Thom as Farrell and 
his part-Sam oan comm on law wife, the quasi­
legendary Q ueen Em m a. In  1883 they changed 
over to H ernsheim  and Co. and, after his 
father’s death  in 1888, O ctave signed a contract



1 Blum 1900: 151. All 
subsequent footnotes 
use this form of citation. 
Full bibliographical 
details of works cited 
can be found in the 
References.

w ith the Mioko agency of the D eutsche 
H andels- und  Plantagengesellschaft, better 
known in the Pacific as the long-handle firm.
In  1891 he p lanted  the first ten hectares w ith 
coconut trees, on land acquired  by his father 
some eight years earlier. By the mid-1890s 
M outon becam e the first independent trader 
in G erm an New G uinea; by getting his trade 
goods directly from Sydney (initially through 
the Sacred H eart Mission) and  selling his copra 
to Burns, Philp and  Co., he gradually  m anaged 
to break the virtual foreign trade monopoly of 
the ‘Big T h ree’ m entioned above. H e planted 
more coconut trees on his K inigunan p lan ta­
tion, expanded his trading activities to northern 
New Ireland , K apingam arangi and 
O ntong Jav a  and  by 1899 had  become the envy 
of all the struggling traders and sm all planters. 
‘T he example of this m an ,’ said Blum, ‘is 
notew orthy from the point of view of the 
developm ent of the entire colony. H e started 
w ith nothing and  is now, as a result of his 
industry and clear-headedness, a prosperous 
m an .’1 In  1902 M outon felt confident enough 
to leave his business interests in the hands of a 
m anager and to visit Sydney on w hat proved 
to be only the first of several business-cum- 
pleasure trips to A ustralia. I t  was on one such 
occasion tha t he m et a Sydney girl and m arried  
her in 1903; they had  one son, O ctave M ax, 
born in 1904. I t  seems tha t he intended to live 
in Sydney— he bought a property  at the 
N ational Park, not far from Port H acking— b u t 
was forced to spend most of his tim e in New 
G uinea, since he could not rely on his 
managers. H e divorced his wife in 1911 and 
rem arried two years la te r ; by his second wife, 
he had one son, Je a n  Leopold, born in 1915. 
After the w ar he divided his tim e about equally 
between Sydney and  K inigunan. In  April 
1929 he sold his p lan tation  to the Sacred H eart



Mission for £80,000, and retired to the 
suburb  of Bellevue Hill. But he did not sever 
all connections w ith the territory: in 1930 he 
bought the Rabaul Times and later formed 
R abau l Recreations L td  which ran  R abau l’s 
only cinem a. H e died of cancer in Sydney in 
1946 a t the age of eighty.

M outon’s motives in writing the Memoirs 
can only be guessed at. T hey were almost 
certainly not m eant for publication, a t any 
ra te  not in the form in which they appear in 
this book. M outon wrote in retirem ent— to 
pass the time, perhaps, or to cure th a t b itte r­
sweet nostalgia which seems to grip most of 
those who, having spent the best years of their 
lives in the tropics, retire to rusticate in more 
tem perate climes. I t is equally difficult to 
decide when he wrote them — there are no 
clues in the Memoirs themselves except for the 
fact th a t they end early in 1931. I t  m ay be tha t 
M outon was inspired by the publication, in 
1936, of M adam e N iau’s The Phantom Para­
dise, the first comprehensive (if not always 
accurate) account in English of the Port- 
Breton disaster. This supposition is lent some 
w eight by the fact tha t there exists an 
incom plete French version of the reminiscences 
w ritten  soon after 1911 and covering m uch 
the sam e ground as the later English version. 
T he appearance of The Phantom Paradise may 
have rem inded M outon of his earlier literary 
efforts; perhaps he dug up the m anuscript, 
rew rote it in English and expanded it to cover 
his last tw enty years in New Guinea. W hat 
tells against this line of reasoning are the 
occasional discrepancies in dates, distances and 
other m inor details between the two versions, 
not to m ention the fact tha t several incidents 
described in the French version have been 
om itted from the English version and vice 
versa. I t  is also not unreasonable to assume

3



tha t, had  the Memoirs been w ritten after 1936 
ra ther than in the early 1930s (as seems 
likely), M outon would have m entioned, at 
least in passing, such events as his th ird  
m arriage or the m arriage of his first son, 
O ctave M ax, both of which had  occurred 
before 1936.

W hatever their origin, the Memoirs are a 
valuable addition to early New G uineana: 
unlike the pioneer missionaries and  govern­
m ent officials, the early traders tended to be an 
inarticulate lot and left few records for 
posterity. A dm ittedly, M outon sat down to 
w rite m any years after most of the events he 
describes had taken place, so th a t the usual 
allowances must be m ade for lapses of 
memory, resulting no t only in mistakes of fact 
bu t also in selective coverage of events in 
general. But the Memoirs are not an  au to­
biography in the usual sense. M outon does 
not, as a  rule, a ttem pt to justify his actions or 
even to explain th em ; he writes w ithout undue 
em otion or involvement. D escribing the 
expedition to punish the villagers who took 
part in the 1893 attack  on R alum  P lantation  
and the New G uinea C om pany station a t 
Kokopo (the G erm ans called it H erbertshoehe), 
he says: ‘I t was a t th a t patch  th a t I m anaged 
to drop a fellow w ith w hite feathers on his 
head and a round disc on his chest he was 
about three hundred  yards, all I can say is 
tha t we saw him  drop and  then next the blood, 
the w ounded was carried  aw ay.’ I t  is this 
com bination of detachm ent and attention  to 
detail which a t times gives M outon’s rem inis­
cences a directness and  freshness usually found 
only in actual reportage', his descriptions of 
daily life at Port-Breton, of the physical 
dangers the pioneer traders had  to  face, of his 
early recruiting trips, give one the feeling tha t 
the events he talks about took place bu t

4



yesterday. O nly occasionally does emotion 
show— as w hen he remembers how he was 
once offered a piece of baked hum an flesh, 
served w ith taro and bananas, which looked 
like pork and which turned him  off pork for 
years to come. N or does he always disguise his 
hatred  for some of his contem poraries, 
particu larly  his bete noire, Thom as Farrell— 
bu t then he was not alone in his unflattering 
estimate of the la tte r’s character and  business 
practices.

M outon himself emerges from his reminis­
cences as a dow n-to-earth, pragm atic and 
somewhat colourless person, a calculating 
m oney-m aker who lived largely for his business 
and his p lantation. His New G uinea contem ­
poraries m ust have seen him  in m uch the same 
light for, unlike some of the more flam boyant 
New Britain pioneers, he hardly  rates a 
m ention in the literature of the period. His 
A ustralian acquaintances and friends, on the 
other hand, rem em ber him  as a ‘kind and 
lovable fellow’, generous with his money. Can 
these two views be reconciled ? I think they 
can. M outon never really m astered the English 
language. H e is a t his best when he talks about 
concrete, everyday things and events; his 
occasional excursions into the realm  of the 
abstract tend to end in confusion.
His reticence to discuss his personal life is 
understandable. H e m ay have blam ed him self 
for the failure of his first m arriage (it seems 
tha t his wife consoled herself during his long 
absences in New G uinea w ith the caretaker of 
their N ational Park property) and he was 
somewhat disappointed in his sons. Yet from 
the French version (w ritten while he was still 
with his first wife) one gets a different im pres­
sion of M outon the individual. H e seems to 
write w ithout an  emotional strait-jacket and, 
while the occasional gram m atical or spelling

5



mistakes are still there, he is more a t ease 
when discussing ideas and  relationships. As 
for the views of his New G uinea contem ­
poraries, these can to some extent be explained 
by the fact th a t M outon was not a m em ber of 
the social establishm ent: his strained relations 
w ith Queen Em m a ensured tha t he was not 
on the guest list of her G unantam bu ‘castle’ 
and because of his poor G erm an and  his 
educational background he had little in 
common w ith the local New G uinea Com pany 
or the Im perial officials.

A lthough the Memoirs are not well struc­
tured, they can nevertheless be divided into 
several parts. T he first, which covers slightly 
less than one-third of the text, describes 
M outon’s childhood, the sea voyage to Port- 
Breton and the six months he spent there. T he 
second pa rt is considerably shorter and could 
well be entitled ‘Pioneering on the Gazelle 
Peninsula’: we learn about the copra trade, 
the early land purchases and the clashes w ith 
the local people. T he next section (about one- 
th ird  of the text) is m ainly about M outon’s 
life as p lantation  owner, his recruiting trips 
to New Ireland and  his rise as the first indepen­
dent trader; it also contains comm ents on 
Tolai customs. T he rem ainder is a  highly 
selective account of the years starting w ith 
M outon’s first m arriage in 1902 and ending 
w ith the sale of his p lan tation  in 1929. T he 
background inform ation which follows m ay 
help  the reader place M outon’s observations 
in a  w ider context.

T he Free Colony of Port-Breton, better known 
as New France, was not the first attem pt 
before the 1884 partition  to p lan t a European 
settlem ent in New G uinea. As early as 1793 
C aptain Jo h n  Hayes of the East Ind ia  Com ­
pany, w ith the private backing of three

6



C alcutta m erchants, established a semi­
official colony called New A lbion near today’s 
M anokwari in W est Irian . T he settlem ent was 
evacuated after twenty-one months, and cost 
the lives of more than  a dozen Europeans and 
Indian  soldiers. In  1828 the D utch, following 
the annexation of the south-west coast of New 
G uinea, opened a G overnm ent post a t T riton  
Bay, nam ing it M erkusoord, in honour of the 
then G overnor of the M oluccas. T he settle­
m ent was closed in 1835 after it had  claim ed 
the lives of over one hundred D utch officials 
and Indonesian  soldiers and their dependents. 
O ther colonising projects failed to get off the 
ground: some prospective settlers could not 
raise the required  capital while others, for 
instance Brigadier-G eneral H enry M clver and 
his ‘adventurers’ of the New G uinea E xplora­
tion and Colonisation Com pany, abandoned 
their plans because of Colonial Office 
opposition.

New France differed from these schemes in 
its scale, its entirely private nature and  the 
personality and  motives of its founder. T he 
organisers of New France m anaged to raise 
nine million francs (about £370,000); by 
comparison, British New G uinea was to be run 
for m any years on an annual budget of no 
more than  £25,000 and the G erm an New 
G uinea C om pany was to spend even less on 
its adm inistrative— as distinct from purely 
economic— activities. All told, between 1879 
and 1881 some 700 settlers left for New G uinea, 
in four separate expeditions; about ha lf of 
them died in New G uinea or at sea, some 
seventy returned to Europe, about 200 settled 
in New South W ales and Q ueensland and 
only about a dozen rem ained in New Guinea. 
Because of the unco-operative attitude of the 
French G overnm ent, all four expeditions had 
to leave from non-French ports. T he first ship,
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2 Niau 1936: p. 26. the Chandernagor, was prevented from leaving
3 Ibid.: p. 11. Le p javre a decree of the M inistry of T rade

and Agriculture and  had  to be diverted first 
to Antw erp and then to Flushing; the Genii, 
the India and the Nouvelle Bretagne left from 
Barcelona. As for the founder of New France, 
Charles Bonaventure du Breuil, better known 
as the M arquis de Rays, authorities disagree 
w hether he was a swindler, a m adm an or both. 
A swindler the M arquis certainly w as; he sold 
land he did not ow n: ‘lands unknow n were 
represented as know n; waste tracts or m arshy 
plains . . . were m ade to seem as if they were 
groaning under the w eight of bountiful crops 
of coconuts, w ith copra only w aiting to be 
gathered and transported . . .’.2 His madness— 
if indeed he was m ad— lay in his insistence 
tha t the scheme m ust go on (and hum an  life 
be sacrificed) when it was all too evident tha t 
it could not succeed. But he was also a 
dream er, a  deeply religious m an, a Don 
Q uixote bent on recapturing the ‘glory tha t 
was France’.3 H e rem inds one of another 
dream er, Napoleon I I I , who had  nearly ruined 
France a few years earlier; there was even a 
certain  physical resemblance between the two. 
T he M arquis’ arrest in Spain in Ju ly  1882 was 
seen by m any of his adherents as an act of 
political and religious persecution, and even 
in Port-Breton some settlers did not think him 
guilty, in spite of all the evidence before their 
eyes. French courts took a different view. After 
his extradition from Spain the M arquis was 
tried and sentenced in Jan u a ry  1884 to four 
years’ im prisonm ent and  a  fine of 3000 francs. 
H e died before his sentence expired.

Although the M arquis had  never visited 
New Ireland, he was a m uch-travelled m an 
and had lived for varying periods outside 
Europe. H e was born in B rittany in 1832, and 
came from a noble family of ancient Celtic

8



stock. Colonising and adventure seem to have 
been in his blood (some of his ancestors had 
served w ith distinction in French colonial 
adm inistration), for he was nicknam ed le 
petit colon by his schoolmates. Not yet twenty, 
he had tried his luck as a rancher in the U nited  
States of America. Subsequently he was a 
peanut broker in Senegal and also lived for a 
period in M adagascar and Indochina. In  
1869 he re tu rned  to the family property in 
Barnabec, by then heavily m ortgaged, became 
a model husband and joined the Legitimist 
Party which was opposed to all the T h ird  
Republic stood for. But the quiet and respect­
able life of a country squire did not apparently  
agree w ith him . In  Ju ly  1877 there appeared 
in several French newspapers a brief advertise­
m ent in the nam e of M onsieur du  Breuil de 
Rays, offering land in the Free Colony of 
Port-Breton a t five francs a hectare and 
promising investors a ‘quick fortune w ithout 
leaving one’s hom eland’. I t  is not generally 
known tha t the original Port-Breton was to be 
planted a t Shark Bay, one of the least 
hospitable stretches of W estern A ustralian 
coastline, selected, it would seem, because the 
names of French discoveries abounded in the 
region. W e intend to found, announced the 
M arquis in his prospectus,

a free institution designed for the vast 
expansion of Colonial enterprise. T he vast 
solitudes of Australia throughout the N orth- 
West, adjoining our settlement (Port 
Breton), belong to no one. No G overnm ent 
has any claim on these vast tracts, partly  
discovered by the French nation; no savage 
people and no settled tribe cultivates the 
ground— only a few w andering families of 
tim id blacks pass over the limitless waste. 
T he land belongs to the first occupier. I t  is
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only necessary to settle in  sufficient num ber 
to organise upon a sound basis, and with 
sufficient means, under a G overnm ent 
agreed upon and accepted beforehand. We 
now ask you for means, and  we now offer 
you this G overnm ent. T o us, then, belongs 
the future. O n  the ocean shore of a new 
port and a new country we shall establish 
the perpetuity  of our families and hand 
dow n our mem ory to posterity.4

I t  is indicative of the M arquis’ mentality 
and  lack of realism tha t he was ‘quite 
astounded’5 when one of the recipients of this 
docum ent, an A ustralian living at Fontenay 
aux Roses, near Paris, told him  that neither 
the British nor the W estern A ustralian 
G overnm ent would countenance such a 
scheme. Sometime in 1878, after an official 
com m unication from the British Ambassador 
at Paris had finally convinced him  that he 
would not be allowed to p lan t his U topia in 
W estern A ustralia, the M arquis moved Port- 
Breton to Port-Praslin, nam ed by Bougainville 
in 1768 and visited by D uperrey and his staff 
of scientists in August 1823. D uring the nine 
days he spent in southern New Ireland, 
D uperrey found the local people friendly 
enough, and experienced unusually clement 
w eather for tha t time of the year. If  the M arquis 
had chosen Port-Praslin on the basis of the 
published accounts of the expedition— as 
seems to be the case— he could not have read 
them  very carefully, for they w arned of the 
possibility of torrential rain  and spoke of a 
‘mass of vegetation’ which left ‘no clear spot’ 
and covered ‘the whole place w ith a single, 
vast forrest’.6 Bougainville, who had visited 
Port-Praslin in Ju ly , referred to ‘continual 
ra in ’ and described the country as ‘m ountain­
ous, the soil is very light, and the rocks are
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hardly covered w ith i t ’.7 W orse than  that, 
Port-Praslin turned out to be an unhealthy 
cul-de-sac, w ith an annual rainfall close to 200 
inches (the settlers called it le trou, m eaning 
the hole, as well as some other more expressive 
and dow n-to-earth names). D uring the rainy 
season (April to Septem ber), downpours 
would last up  to a week; when it d id  not rain, 
the air ‘seemed to stagnate like the vapours 
in a sweating room ’, 8 because the island of 
Lam bom  prevented the south-easterly winds 
from reaching ‘the hole’. D uring the Dry, life 
was more bearable bu t the prevailing north- 
westerlies gave little relief, since they were 
deflected by the m ountain range behind the 
port. T he peculiar topography of the locality, 
com bined with the poor quality of the soil, 
m ade agriculture virtually impossible. Even 
the taro, the staple food of southern New 
Ireland, refused to thrive; it ‘shot up high in 
search of light, bu t would not set’.9

In  selecting Port-Praslin as the seat of his 
em pire (it was to include not only New Ireland 
b u t also the rest of today’s T erritory  of Papua 
and  New G uinea and  the British Solomons), 
the M arquis had  in fact chosen one of the few 
spots anyw here in New G uinea to be avoided 
a t all costs. ‘T he tragedy of Nouvelle F rance ,’ 
said M ichener in his well-written though not 
always accurate account of the reign of Charles 
I, Em peror of O ceania (a title the M arquis 
assumed in 1880), ‘can best be com prehended 
w ith the aid of the m ap. M ark in red pencil 
each of the New Ireland establishments where 
G erm ans and Englishmen have lived 
prosperously . . . T he red dots are scattered 
fairly evenly along the entire coast. This means 
th a t a gam bler could have pointed to almost 
any spot along the shore, saying, “ T h a t’s where 
w e’ll settle.” A nd his chances of striking a 
likely site— move up  or down the coast ten

11



10 M ichener and Day 
1957: 74-75.
11 Baudouin 1885: 15.
12 Translation of speech 
in Niau, 1936: 11-14; 
original in La Colonie 
Libre de Port-Breton, 1879 
and in de Groote 1880.

miles in either direction—would have been 
almost one hundred per cent certa in .’10

But to return  to the story. By the beginning 
of 1879, w ith Port-Breton definitely situated 
in New Ireland, some 3000 people had bought 
about 500,000 francs w orth of land in the no n ­
existent colony. But this was not enough for 
the enterprising M arquis, who now thought 
in terms of millions rather than  thousands. T he 
instalm ent of the first R epublican (and an ti­
clerical) M inistry in February  1879 gave his 
scheme an unexpected boost. H e decided to 
enlist the support of the R om an Catholic 
C h u rch ; in the words of the doctor of the last 
expedition, D r Baudouin, the ‘colony was to 
be catholic, which would not prevent it from 
being free, and it would be free, which would 
not prevent it from being catholic’.11 T he 
G overnment, as expected, refused to support 
or even condone the colony, thus blessing it in 
the eyes of the faithful. At a conference held 
in Marseilles in A pril 1879, the M arquis gave 
further details of his enlarged scheme. L and 
would be properly surveyed and entered into 
a cadastre, and the bonds representing ow ner­
ship {bons coloniaux or bons de terrain) would be 
transferable like any other property. Agri­
culture was to be along the lines of the ‘D utch 
system’ used in Jav a , w ith indentured Chinese, 
Indian  and M alay coolies ra ther than 
‘enslaved negroes’ providing the labour. New 
Guineans were to be given the benefits of 
Christianity and civilisation: ‘the monks 
expelled from old France will help to C hrist­
ianise the N ew .’12

Although the M arquis could promise no 
other security except ‘the success of the en te r­
prise’, funds started  to pour in—-and the price 
of land went up  first to ten francs a hectare, 
then to tw enty francs and finally in April 1881 
to fifty francs. Two months after the Marseilles
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Conference there  appeared the first issue of a 
fortnightly sheet, La Nouvelle France, devoted 
to the affairs of the colony-in-m aking and 
profusely illustrated by old engravings p u r­
porting to picture South Seas islands scenery. 
Prospective investors were showered w ith 
pam phlets and  prospectuses. For a  consider­
ation, they could also procure a po rtrait of the 
M arquis (for sixty centimes), a m ap of Port- 
Breton (one franc), a  m ap of New France, 
either in an ‘ord inary’ edition (fifty centimes) 
or in a ‘de luxe’ edition (one franc) and, 
finally, (for two francs) the ‘M arch of Port- 
Breton’, composed by the L iberian consul in 
Paris, one D r Febrer, and dedicated to the 
founder of the colony.

But there was still one m inor problem  to be 
overcome: the M arquis had promised the 
subscribers th a t they could become rich 
w ithout em igrating. H e solved this difficulty 
by floating a second company, the Societe 
des Ferm iers-G eneraux de la Nouvelle-France. 
Anyone who owned shares in the parent 
com pany could join, by paying an additional 
five francs a share (representing one hectare of 
land). For this paym ent, the new com pany 
undertook to make the land productive w ith 
the help of indentured labour. Never one to do 
things half-way, the M arquis was also 
instrum ental in the foundation of the Society 
des Sucreries, Distilleurs et Exploitation 
Agricole which was to run  the Port-Breton 
sugar factory, the Societe Franco-Oc^anienne 
de Commerce et de N avigation which was to 
establish a regular shipping service between 
A ustralia and C hina, and the Societe Franco- 
Oc£anienne des M ines de Nouvelle-France 
which was to exploit the New Ireland copper 
deposits.

M atched against this grandiose vision, the 
real New France was a m undane, alm ost
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grotesque affair—except for those who lost their 
lives or money there. Perhaps real is not the right 
word to use, for during m uch of the time 
between the arrival of the first settlers in 
Jan u a ry  1880 and the final evacuation of 
February  1882, the colony did not exist except 
on the pages of La Nouvelle France. T he first 
ship, the sailing vessel Chandernagor, w ith some 
seventy settlers on board, reached Port-Praslin 
on 20 Jan u ary  1880, having earlier dis­
em barked seventeen colonists on the L aughlan 
Islands. O n 31 Jan u a ry  the settlem ent was 
‘m oved’ twelve miles east of Port-Praslin to 
Liki-Liki (also known as M etlik), in circum ­
stances which help to explain m uch of the 
subsequent failure of the entire scheme. O n 26 
Jan u a ry  there arose a  violent storm, the 
C aptain  of the Chandernagor m ade for the open 
sea and, unable to land during the next five 
days, finally sought shelter a t Liki-Liki. A 
group of settlers, including T iteu  de la Croix, 
the first of the line of Governors who were to 
preside over the affairs o f  the unhappy colony, 
was left in Port-Praslin w ithout supplies. 
Im m ediately after landing a t Liki-Liki, the 
C aptain  of the Chandernagor sent a rescue party  
to fetch the stranded group, b u t they found the 
cam p deserted. T he colonists were eventually 
reunited  on 7 February  (a small group had  
reached Liki-Liki by canoe, while the rem ain­
der had  m ade their way overland) and on the 
following day a general m eeting ratified the 
choice of Liki-Liki as the ‘m ain ’ settlem ent. A 
large square, nam ed Place de la R epublique, 
was pegged out, as well as a  num ber of streets, 
and the settlers selected the ir land. T hen the 
unloading of supplies began. There was am ple 
evidence, said the M ethodist Missionary, the 
Rev. George Brown, w ho visited Liki-Liki on 
several occasions,
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13 Brown 1908: 363. of the great preparations which had  been
m ade in France for the success of the 
expedition. A large steam boiler and fire­
place were on the beach, together w ith a 
great quantity  of bricks, which were 
intended, I believe, to be used in the founda­
tions of the cathedral which they purposed 
building. T hey also had  the m achinery for 
sugar refining, a steam  crane, incubators, a 
sawmill, and agricultural im plem ents; b u t 
it was evident tha t there had been great 
carelessness either in shipping the m aterial 
or in landing it, as they had cases of knife 
handles w ithout any blades, and a num ber 
of wheelbarrows, bu t no wheels. T hey had 
scarcely any axes, and the few spades w ith 
which they were supplied appeared to be of 
the worst possible m aterial.13

Not only did the colonists lack basic equip­
m ent; they were also short of food. O n 20 
February the Chandernagor, w ith T iteu  de la 
Croix on board, left Liki-Liki under the cover 
of darkness and sailed to Sydney for supplies. 
T he Governor decided to ‘abdicate’ and 
rem ained in Sydney, never to set foot on New 
Ireland shores again. By the time the 
desperately-needed supplies arrived in mid- 
M ay (on a chartered schooner, the Emilie), 
forty-two of the sixty-six colonists left behind 
a t Liki-Liki had been evacuated, a t their 
request, to Port H un ter on the Duke of York 
Islands by the M ethodist missionaries George 
Brown and Benjamin Danks. After the arrival 
of the Emilie a few of the evacuees rejoined 
their comrades a t Liki-Liki, bu t by mid- 
August the entire contingent was back on the 
Duke of York Islands and Liki-Liki was 
‘officially’ abandoned.

T he next ship to leave Europe, the Genii, 
reached New Ireland late in August 1880. It
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had  no settlers on board— they had all deserted 
in Singapore, in protest against the unorthodox 
disciplinary methods (said to have included 
the use of ‘medieval torture instrum ents’ and 
the stringing up of offenders by their 
thum bs)14 employed by the C aptain, Gustave 
R abardy . T he Genii reached Port-Praslin 
w ith a skeleton crew and twenty-five M alay 
coolies, engaged by R abardy  in Singapore, 
b u t did not unload its hum an cargo until the 
arrival of the th ird  ship, the India, on 14 
O ctober. T he India contingent consisted of 340 
colonists, mostly Italians, of whom more than 
one-half were women and children. It was a 
m uch better organised expedition than  the 
first two, and for a m onth or so it looked as if 
New France m ight succeed after all. T he 
C aptain  of H .M .S . Beagle, which called at 
Port-Breton on 2 November, found everyone 
in good health and full of determ ination and 
ten days later the Rev. George Brown could 
still report ‘good progress’.15 But by the end of 
N ovem ber dem oralisation had  set in, m alaria 
and vitam in deficiencies began to take their 
toll, and provisions were running low. So the 
new Governor, Colonel J .  A. le Prevost, 
proposed tha t he and R abardy  should go to 
Sydney for supplies, solemnly promising to be 
back in fifty days. Once in Sydney, the Colonel 
chose to follow the example of his predecessor, 
developed ‘heart trouble’ and New France 
was for the second time w ithout a Governor. 
R abardy  did not return  until 20 February, 
almost five weeks later than  promised. H e 
found Port-Breton deserted and  the India 
gone— the decision to evacuate the settlement 
was apparently  m ade only a day or two before 
the Genii's return , and the two ships missed 
each other by only a few hours. O n  its way 
to Sydney the India called a t N oum ea where 
the French authorities found her unseaw orthy;
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she was eventually sold for a fraction of w hat 
the M arquis had  paid for her. T he settlers 
were offered a home in New C aledonia bu t 
most of them  had no wish to live in a penal 
colony. Some 200 were eventually brought to 
Sydney on the James Patterson, chartered  for 
tha t purpose by the New South Wales G overn­
ment, and decided to settle in Australia. But 
their trials w ere far from over. Fearing the 
creation of a ‘colony within a colony’, the 
New South W ales G overnm ent insisted tha t 
the group be split up (and friends and relatives 
separated from each other) so tha t they ‘would 
more readily acquire a knowledge of the 
English language and English customs’.16

T he M outons left Barcelona on the Nouvelle 
Bretagne on 7 April 1881, the very day the 
dispirited India contingent disem barked in 
Sydney. By then the Liki-Liki fiasco, while not 
well publicised, was certainly no longer a 
secret, some of the survivors of the Chander- 
nagor expedition having returned hom e before 
the end of 1880. But the fate of the India 
expedition was apparently  still unknow n; if 
the M arquis and his associates had  any know­
ledge of the evacuation of Port-Breton, they 
kept it to themselves. T he settlers on the 
Nouvelle Bretagne first heard  the bad  news at 
Colombo, where a  cable from the M arquis 
aw aited the C aptain, Jules Henry, nam ing him  
‘provisional’ Governor of New France. C aptain  
H enry was one of the few realists am ong the 
colony’s officials. In  Singapore he and  the 
French consul had  tried in vain to dissuade the 
settlers from proceeding to Port-Breton. New 
France had become an obsession w ith most of 
them : ‘they believed C aptain  H enry  w anted 
to call off the expedition so tha t he alone could 
exploit the riches of New France and to steal— 
this was the word used by one m an— their 
share of paradise.’17 H aving failed to divert
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be a t least p roperly  equipped: he bought tools 
and food, engaged local carpenters, fishermen 
and a group of ‘A rab policem en’, purchased 
an old barque which was to be used as a 
floating hospital and generally tried to replace 
‘decor by reality’.18 In  this he was fully sup­
ported by the ship surgeon, the young D r 
Baudouin: both men cared more about the 
welfare of the people on board than  the ‘glory 
tha t was F rance’, and had displayed ‘self- 
sacrifice, skill and loyalty’19 throughout the 
expedition.

After his re tu rn  to France, D r Baudouin was 
chief prosecution witness a t the trial of the 
M arquis and his associates and subsequently 
published the book L ’Aventure de Port-Breton, 
generally accepted as the most reliable eye­
witness account of the Port-Breton affair. 
M uch of w hat has subsequently been w ritten 
about New France comes from this book, and 
I myself have found it indispensable in editing 
the first pa rt of M outon’s reminiscences where 
essential background inform ation is often 
lacking and where the sequence of events is 
at times difficult to follow. This is not to say 
tha t M outon’s account is inferior to tha t o f D r 
B audouin: it is different. B audouin’s comments 
are those of an  intellectual. H e has a point 
of view; he is critical; even when he chronicles 
(as when he describes the deadly infighting 
and intrigues am ong the leaders) he still looks 
for motives and explanations. M outon 
describes the everyday life of an indentured 
labourer’s son ; he writes about simple things 
like leaking roofs, bug-infested beds and food— 
especially food. It is only when it comes to 
portraying people tha t B audouin’s account 
can be said to be superior.

In  M outon’s reminiscences, w ith one or two
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e x ce p tio n s , th e  in d iv id u a l  m e m b e rs  o f  th e  
N ouvelle  B retagne  e x p e d it io n  a re  sh a d o w y  
fig u res— a n d  u n d e r s ta n d a b ly  so, s in c e  M o u to n  
w as o n ly  a  b o y  w h e n  h e  k n e w  th e m . B a u d o u in ’s 
b o o k  b r in g s  th e m  to  life, w a r ts  a n d  a ll. N o ta ry  
C h a m b a u d , fo r in s ta n c e , w h o se  j o b  i t  w as to  
su rv e y  la n d  a n d  to  p re s id e  o v e r th e  c iv ilia n  
c o u r t,  e m e rg es  f ro m  th e  b o o k  as a  s in is te r  
in d iv id u a l  w h o  d id  p re c io u s  l i t t le  su rv e y in g  o r  
p re s id in g  o v e r  c o u r t  p ro c e e d in g s  b u t  w h o  
to o k  v e ry  se rio u sly  th e  ta sk  o f  ‘in v e n to ry in g  
a n d  se a lin g  u p  th e  c h a tte ls  o f  th e  d e a d ’.20 
C a p ta in  R a b a r d y ,  w h o se  ‘te r r ib le  c h a r a c te r ’ 
is o n ly  v a g u e ly  h in te d  a t  b y  M o u to n ,  b e co m es  
a  f r ig h te n in g ly  re a l  p a r a n o ia c  w h o  in s is te d  o n  
d in in g  a lo n e  in  h is  c a b in ,  w ith  a  lo a d e d  
re v o lv e r  a lw a y s  o n  th e  ta b le , a n d  w h o  s u r ­
r o u n d e d  h im s e lf  b y  a  ‘b la c k  g u a r d ’ o f  B u k a  
re c ru i ts .21 W e  m e e t  th e  D ire c to r -G e n e ra l  o f  
A g r ic u ltu re , S c h u rm a n , w h o  finds h im s e lf  
d e fe a te d  b y  th e  h o s tile  e n v iro n m e n t  a n d  
sp e n d s  m o st o f  h is t im e  te n d in g  e x o tic  sp ices. 
W e  m e e t A b b e  D e n y , w h o  w e n t to  P o r t-  
B re to n  d e te rm in e d  to  p la n t  th e  c ro ss o n  th e  
sm a lle s t is lan d s  o f  th e  P a c ific . W e  le a rn  a b o u t  
th e  p ra e to r s  o f  th e  m il i ta ry  c o n tin g e n t,  d r e a m ­
in g  a b o u t  c r e a t in g  a  n e w  s ta te  in  th e  ju n g le s  
o f  N e w  G u in e a ,  o f  e s ta b lish in g  a  s t r in g  o f  fo rts  
a lo n g  th e  c o a s t, o f  d a r in g  e x p e d it io n s  in to  th e  
in te r io r .  A n d  w e  m a k e  th e  a c q u a in ta n c e  o f  
so m e  o f  th e  lesse r c o lo n ists , w ith  th e i r  in g e n io u s  
p la n s  for g e tt in g  r ic h  q u ic k ly , in c lu d in g  th e  

o n e  m a n  w h o  su c c e e d e d , u p  to  a  p o in t ,  in  

p u t t in g  h is p la n  in to  p ra c t ic e .  H is  n a m e  w as 

d e  S p le n te r  a n d  h e  w e n t  to  P o r t -B re to n  to  

e s ta b lish  a  sea s id e  h o te l  w h ic h  w o u ld  o ffer 

tra v e lle rs  th e  b e s t in  c o m fo rt a n d  se rv ice . H e  

m a n a g e d  to  o p e n  a  t in y  c a n te e n  w h e re  h e  

so ld  b e e r  a n d  w in e  b o u g h t  fro m  p a ss in g  s h ip s ; 

u n fo r tu n a te ly  h e  w as p a id  fo r h is  re fre sh m e n ts
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22 Being of recent origin, 
the term  does not 
appear in the Memoirs', 
nor does M outon use 
other names under 
which the Tolai were 
known, such as 
G unantuna or K uanua.

in the Port-Breton paper currency (bons 
monetaires) and so lost his entire investment.

W hen the M outons landed in Mioko in 
February  1882, the golden days of the copra 
trade—-when a ton of copra could be bought 
from the villagers for som ething like six 
shillings and sold in London for £2 0 —were 
gone forever. Still, the opportunities for 
making a quick profit were there for anyone 
prepared to work hard  and to pu t up w ith the 
clim ate and the lack of amenities. T he coastal 
areas of the Gazelle Peninsula had  been 
pacified and in terham let w arfare virtually 
elim inated, practically  all the land was still in 
native hands and the num ber of Europeans 
settled there negligible. Conditions were ideal 
in other ways: because of its volcanic character 
m uch of the soil on the peninsula was extremely 
fertile, the local T o la i22 population was one 
of the densest in M elanesia and  had from pre­
contact times a flair for trade, having been 
accustomed to producing m ore than  they 
required for bare subsistence. M arkets were 
conducted  regularly , usually every three days, 
and the transactions were conducted through 
the m edium  of a shell currency known as 
tambu or diwarra.

At the time of the M outons’ arriva l the 
E uropean com m unity in the Bismarck A rchi­
pelago (if the term  com m unity can be applied 
to the motley of individuals assembled there) 
comprised no more than  twenty-five souls, 
mostly traders. T here were two M ethodist 
missionaries in the islands, the Rev. Benjamin 
Danks who arrived late in 1878, over three 
years after the landing of the founder of the 
mission, the Rev. George Brown, and the Rev. 
I. Rooney, who cam e in 1881. By 1882 the 
M ethodists had got over most of the difficulties 
which norm ally accom pany the establishm ent
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of a m ission: they had bought about seventy 
acres of land in the Duke of York Islands, and 
had over tw enty stations in the Duke of York 
group, on the Gazelle Peninsula and in 
southern New Ireland.

T he traders were represented by three 
establishments: the Mioko branch of the 
Deutsche H andels- und Plantagengesell­
schaft (M outon refers to it as the Mioko 
Agency), H ernsheim  and Co., and Thom as 
Farrell. T he D .H .P .G . was the successor of 
the H am burg  m erchant firm of Jo hann  Cesar 
Godeffroy and Son, established in 1766, which 
started trading in the Pacific in 1845, estab­
lished its Pacific headquarters in Samoa in 
1857 and had  been active in New G uinea 
waters since 1871. In  1873 it landed a white 
trader on the Gazelle Peninsula and another 
on the island of M atupit, bu t they were driven 
out almost im m ediately. In  1875 it established 
a station at Mioko, this time perm anently. In  
1878 the Godeffroys transferred their South 
Seas interests to the newly formed D .H .P .G ., 
bu t the paren t com pany w ent bankrupt soon 
afterwards.

T he D .H .P .G ., a t least in its New G uinea 
operations, lacked the vigour of its predecessor, 
and was soon displaced from its leading 
position by H ernsheim  and Co. which m ade 
its appearance in the archipelago in 1875.
T he founder of this Com pany, E duard  
Hernsheim , was the closest equivalent to a 
pukka sahib ever produced by the G erm an 
colonies and his residence on M atupit was for 
m any years the cultural headquarters of 
G erm an New G uinea. A H am burg seam an 
who started  plying the W est Pacific in the 
early 1870s, using Hongkong as his base, he 
established himself on Palau and Yap in the 
first ha lf of 1874. L ater in the year he w ent to 
the H erm it Islands to collect trepang, bought
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23 Kraemer 1927: 151.
24 Wichmann 1910: 
275.
25 Truppel 1888: 287.

land at Port H un ter on the return  journey, 
and in 1876 opened a station at M akada in the 
Duke of York Islands (it was moved to 
M atupit two years la te r). In  the m eantim e he 
had  been jo ined by his brother Franz; after 
about a year the latter returned to H am burg 
and ‘so came into existence the firm of Herns- 
heim and Co.’, operating from M atupit.23 
In  1882 the com pany had  over forty stations 
in New Britain, N orthern New Ireland, the 
A dm iralty and the H erm it Islands, and in the 
Carolines and the M arshall Islands; in 1887 it 
was to divest itself of its interests in the last- 
m entioned group in favour of the Ja lu it 
Company.

T he last of the ‘Big T h ree’ establishments in 
existence in 1882 was th a t of Thom as Farrell 
and his common-law wife Em m a Elisabeth 
Forsayth. Farrell was, by universal acclaim, 
something of a ‘dubious character’,24 one of 
the last of the South Seas pioneers ‘whose 
stormy past and m oral qualities do not bear a 
closer investigation’.25 O f Irish stock, he had  
spent most of his younger days in A ustralia 
(he was still legally m arried  to an A ustralian 
when he settled in New G uinea), had  tried his 
luck on the New Zealand goldfields and was a 
shipowner and hotelkeeper in A pia when he 
m et Em m a in the mid-1870s. Em m a, whose 
m aiden nam e was Coe, was a Samoan half- 
blood, educated in San Francisco and Sydney 
by her American father, and  had m arried the 
M auritius-born Scotsman Jam es Forsayth in 
1869 a t the age of nineteen. V ivacious and 
beautiful, she found herself a t a loose end after 
the disappearance of her husband in a shipping 
disaster off the C hina coast in 1873, and w hen 
Farrell asked her to come w ith him  to New 
G uinea, she agreed. T he couple settled in 
Mioko late in 1878 as traders for the D .H .P .G ., 
bu t almost from the start d id  m uch trading
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on their own account. By m id-1881 Farrell 
was independent, conducting his business in 
partnership  w ith the Sydney firm of M ason 
Brothers. H e was a thrusting  entrepreneur and 
ruthless w ith his competitors as well as his 
own traders. According to Romilly, the 
British D eputy Commissioner for the W estern 
Pacific, he failed to supply his traders w ith 
E uropean food, medicines or habitable houses, 
paid  them  the merest p ittance for wages and 
only sent boats to visit them  a t rare in tervals:

T he m en he sends off to his outlying stations 
are, I im agine, the sweepings of the colonies, 
as I am  convinced no respectable m an, 
however reduced in circumstances, could 
accept such a life. A bout the antecedents of 
these m en I was unable to obtain any 
inform ation, bu t they invariably refuse 
every opportunity  of leaving, in spite of the 
extrem e unhealthiness o f the climate, which 
usually kills them  in less than  two years.
T he two big G erm an stations present a 
m arked difference to the English. I was 
m uch struck w ith all M r. H ernsheim ’s 
traders. T hey are all well-educated, gentle­
menlike m en, clean and  neat in their dress. 
T hey  live extremely well, and have all got 
good houses and serviceable boats . . .  I am  
convinced th a t these natives, savages 
though they be, m ake a very great distinc­
tion between the G erm ans and the English.26

I t  was the M outons’ misfortune tha t they 
should have started life in New Britain as 
traders for Farrell; however, as O ctave points 
out in his reminiscences, they h ad  little choice 
in the m atter. W hen their contract w ith 
Farrell expired, som etime in the first ha lf of 
1883, they moved to K inigunan, about a mile 
east of Kokopo, signed a contract w ith H erns-
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27 M outon Senior to 
M onsieur Armand, 
2 Ju ly  1885.

heim  and were still trad ing  for him  when 
M outon Senior died in 1888. D uring this time 
they were traders pure and simple; although 
they had bought some 5000 acres of land 
around K inigunan, they did not think of 
em ulating the exam ple of Farrell, who started 
his first p lan tation  at R alum  in 1883. T heir 
only item  of trade was coconuts; it was only 
later, after his fa ther’s death, th a t O ctave 
started to diversify his trading activities.
D uring most of the 1880s the pattern  of trade 
still followed the indigenous one and the 
M outons had little difficulty in fitting in. 
Possibly because they had  little in common 
w ith most European residents, they did no t 
keep themselves separate from the villagers. 
‘W e have become accustomed to our new 
country ,’ wrote M outon Senior in 1885, ‘we 
are a bit like the natives and think little of 
tom orrow  . . .  In  o rder to succeed one has to 
no t only know their language bu t also find 
opportunities to partic ipate  in their ceremonies 
and I believe th a t no-one here is capable of 
doing tha t because most of them  are frightened 
of the kanakas.’27

D uring their first year as traders the 
M outons had one trad ing  post, first at 
R avalien and later a t Kokopo. Soon after they 
started  trading for H ernsheim , they had two: 
M outon Senior rem ained a t K inigunan and 
O ctave spent m uch of his time a t K abakaul. 
In  1886 they had  five: the two already m en­
tioned plus another three in nearby localities, 
following the curren t practice of leaving a 
small supply of goods w ith a trusted  m an in a 
village and calling back periodically to pick up 
the nuts he had bought. After his father’s 
death  Octave traded  for the D .H .P .G . bu t 
becam e independent in 1894, w ith the 
financial backing of the Sacred H eart Mission. 
In  the same year he started  to diversify his
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St Jo h n  Islands in 1899.
29 Commonwealth 
Archives Office, CRS 
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G erm an adm inistration 
was about to cancel his 
m onopoly when the 
w ar broke out.

trading interests. H e landed a profitable 
contract with the New G uinea C om pany to 
supply its Kokopo labourers w ith taro and 
also sold several shiploads of tortoise shell. In  
1896-97 his boat m ade a num ber of trips to 
the A dm iralty Islands to collect beche-de-mer 
and to St Jo h n  Islands to buy snail shells, but 
he failed to secure a  perm anent footing in 
either.28 In  1897, together w ith C aptain  
R ondahl, a Swede, and C aptain  M onrad, a 
Dane previously employed by Q ueen Em m a, 
he formed the trading firm of M outon and Co.

By the end of 1900, according to the Annual 
Report o f German New Guinea for 1900-01, the 
firm employed two Europeans at K inigunan, 
had a European trader a t Balgai near Nusa, 
employed Chinese traders a t K abakaul, 
G ardner Islands and at B iritanai in northern  
New Ireland  and ‘stood in business relations’ 
with independent European traders a t M odip, 
N atava and Londip and w ith  a native trader 
at Nam alili (all on the Gazelle Peninsula); it 
also had ‘business interests’ on K apinga- 
m arangi and O ntong Java , the isolated 
outposts lying respectively south of the 
Carolines and north-east of the Solomons. In  
April 1903 M outon brought off a  real coup: 
he beat H ernsheim  to a thirty years’ concession 
granting him  the monopoly of the copra trade 
on K apingam arangi, in exchange for an 
undertaking to m aintain a regular shipping 
service to the atolls, plus the paym ent of 500 
marks annually .29 T he death of M onrad in 
Septem ber of the same year (R ondahl had 
left the partnership earlier) brought this 
expansion to a h a l t ; if M outon’s experience 
w ith other masters, so well docum ented in the 
Memoirs, was a t all typical, sober and h a rd ­
working captains were virtually impossible to 
find in New G uinea in those days. Still, in 
1906 M outon and Co. had  twelve trading
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an ordinance of 26 
January 1905, the tax 
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posts in the Bismarck Archipelago— five more 
than  the D .H .P .G ., the same num ber as 
Hernsheim, and only four less than  the New 
G uinea Company. In  1912 M outon paid 
2000 marks in business tax30— the same 
am ount as the D .H .P .G ., ha lf the am ount 
paid  by H ernsheim  and Co. and quarter the 
sum paid by Q ueen E m m a’s business suc­
cessor, R udolph W ahlen.

Thereafter M outon gradually scaled down 
his trading activities, partly  because of his 
age, no doubt, b u t m ainly because he saw 
little prospect of success in com peting with 
Burns, Philp and Co. (and later W. R. 
C arpenter and Co. L td  as well) which had 
acquired a near-m onopoly of the export- 
im port trade by the end of the First W orld 
W ar. And he was the owner of a prosperous 
coconut p lantation, in full bearing, which 
brought him  a steady income w ithout m uch 
exertion or undue worries.

M outon’s career as a p lantation  owner 
goes back to Septem ber 1891 w hen he planted 
the first ten hectares of his K inigunan estate 
w ith coconut palms. H e does not m ention the 
reasons which prom pted him  to take the step 
a t tha t particular tim e. Presum ably the 
decision of the New G uinea C om pany to go 
ahead w ith large-scale p lanting around 
Kokopo was one such reason. T he gradual 
increase in the price of coconuts31 (and the 
growing tendency am ong villagers to make 
their own copra and  sell it either green or 
sun-dried to the stations) which an astute 
businessman could only expect to continue, 
was probably another. M outon’s workforce 
consisted initially exclusively of locals. In  
spite of the Tolais’ aversion to European style 
wage-labour he m anaged to recruit (the term  
is M outon’s) about a hundred  villagers who 
stayed w ith him  for about two years. I t  is on
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32 Parkinson 1887: 78.
33 A coconut tree, under 
the cultivation methods 
prevalent in New 
Guinea before
1914, normally started 
bearing in its seventh 
year, with one hectare 
producing about 100 kg 
copra. The yield went 
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(Preuss 1916: 542-43). 
The price of copra, in 
European ports, was as 
follows: £15-19 per ton 
in 1908, £18-23 in 1909, 
£21-28 in 1910, £21-28 
in 1911, £24-28 in 1912, 
£22-33 in 1913 
(Preuss: 541). In 
1917-18 the f.o.b. price 
inRabaul was £19, and 
two years later a 
phenomenal £33 per 
ton.

occasions like this that one wishes Mouton 
were more precise in his use of words. It seems 
likely that there was no mekim pepa on that 
occasion (if only because contracts were for 
three years and were rigidly enforced) and 
that Mouton, with his feeling for native ways, 
had preserved a sense of reciprocity in his 
relationship with the villagers. Clearing bush 
for gardens was traditionally a task where 
reciprocal work was normal and it may well 
be that this is how Mouton got most of his 
early clearing done. In return, he may have 
given them tobacco and possibly an occasional 
feast and a dance as his neighbour Parkinson 
had done so successfully on more than one 
occasion.32 All this is, of course, conjecture. 
After the local villagers had left him, Mouton 
became his own recruiter: in 1892 he signed on 
a dozen labourers in Labur, in central-west 
New Ireland, in 1893 a group of thirty on 
Gardner Islands and in the following year a 
contingent from Bougainville. In 1901, he 
employed 157 labourers on his plantation and 
286 two years later. This was reflected in the 
growth of the area under cultivation.

In 1895 Mouton had only forty-four 
hectares under coconut palms, as compared 
with 260 planted by the New Guinea Company 
at Kokopo and 400 by Queen Emma at 
Ralum. Three years later Mouton had about 
350 hectares, as compared with the New 
Guinea Company’s 750 and Queen Emma’s 
800. He did little new planting after 1900. 
From about 1904 onward, when most of his 
trees had begun bearing, he had a steady if 
unspectacular income from his plantation. 
After about 1911, when all his trees had 
reached maturity, his annual receipts from 
the sale of copra would never have been less 
than £6000, and perhaps twice as much in a 
year of bountiful crop and high prices.33 To
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arrive at his net income, we must deduct 
m aintenance costs of about £ 7  per hectare per 
annum ,34 salaries of E uropean staff, taxes, an 
export levy of ten shillings per ton of copra, 
and the occasional expenditure of a capital 
nature— say £3500 annually. This did not 
make M outon a m illionaire bu t it enabled 
him  to invest wisely, to travel widely, and to 
live in a certain style. H e spent almost a year 
in Europe in 1908-09 and again in 1919-20. 
W hen he happened to be up in New Guinea, 
his household included a m uch comm ented- 
on ‘rarity, a governess from Sydney’ ;35 when 
he was down in Sydney his second wife had 
for a good m any years a V unanam i boi and his 
meri to relieve her of the drudgery of household 
chores and to look after M outon’s younger 
son. He sold his p lantation at a most opportune 
time, only a few months before the crash of 
1929. His estate was w orth £143,571 when he 
died in 1946.

For all his success, M outon never quite 
made the grade w ith the local establishm ent— 
not that one gets the impression tha t he ever 
w anted to. H e was probably too m uch of a 
solid petit bourgeois for the easy-going, here- 
today-gone-tomorrow assortm ent of traders 
and officials who m et a t the Kokopo hotel or 
the R abaul Club. His appreciation of the 
‘kanaka ways’ and in particular his ‘m arriage’ 
to Yekanavo, a N odup girl,36 m ay also have 
influenced the attitude of the European 
com m unity— though not necessarily so because 
H ahl, before he became Governor, also had a 
Tolai consort. M outon’s already-m entioned 
strained relations w ith Queen Em m a—who 
for years was the local establishm ent—were 
not improved by his public attack  (in 1896) 
on her past land acquisitions, which landed 
him in court on charges of defam ation of 
character.37 H e also appears to have had some
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difficulty in controlling his tem per, since on 
another occasion he found himself in court on 
charges of libel, after he had publicly ‘insulted’ 
one of E m m a’s employees38— although one 
should hasten to add tha t libel proceedings 
were a popular form of en tertainm ent on the 
Gazelle Peninsula, providing as they did an 
exciting alternative to the ‘m onotony of 
afternoon teas and tennis’.39

Both the English and the French version of the 
Memoirs are in the possession of M rs J . Sturrock 
of M osman, New South W ales;40 copies are 
held in the library  of the University of Papua 
and New Guinea. As m entioned earlier, both 
versions are undated  and they are unsigned. 
T he French version chronicles events up  to 
1911 and is handw ritten , while the English 
one is typed and  has some m arginal anno ta­
tions. These are  in a  hand  which is similar to 
M outon’s but is not his. T he evidence for this 
statem ent can be found in one such annotation 
reproduced in footnote 77 which reads: ‘W as 
given a piece of the boy bu t says Octave [italics 
supplied] I never ate  it.’ T he handw riting is 
probably tha t of M outon’s th ird  wife. W e can 
visualise them  going together through the 
Memoirs several years after they had been 
w ritten, w ith O ctave reminiscing and his wife 
making an occasional note. In  tha t sense, 
M outon can be regarded as the author of the 
m arginal comments, if only because they 
m ention facts w ith which only he himself 
could have been fam iliar.

T he editing of the typescript presented a few 
m inor problems. Since the quality of the typing 
was not all th a t could be desired, I decided 
initially to correct all obvious typing mistakes. 
I t becam e soon apparent, however, tha t 
because of M outon’s educational background 
and life style some of these apparen t mistakes 
were not mistakes a t all. For instance, his
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inconsistency in the use of the plural and  the 
past tense was alm ost certainly due to his 
superb com m and of Pidgin— even in his 
w ritten  English he occasionally slipped into 
Pidgin, as in ‘the steam er belong the M arquis’. 
H e also misspelt personal names, sometimes 
consistently, sometimes erratically (V an 
instead of Von O rtzen, C ham beaud instead of 
C ham baud, Schuller instead of Schulle) as well 
as place names, even of localities in Belgium. 
H e was also inconsistent in his use of capitals, 
and his punctuation  was haphazard . In  spite 
of this I have tried to follow the original as 
closely as possible. M ost of the ‘obvious’ typing 
mistakes have been left untouched, in particu lar 
those which reveal som ething of M outon 
him self—for instance words like envie, enemie, 
unfaire and controle which betray his Gallic 
background. His capitals have not been 
interfered w ith and  neither have his tenses, 
except on rare occasions. His singular has been 
changed into a p lural only when m atters of 
sense required it (as in ‘Judge  T ilm ont and  
his son[s]’, where M outon obviously refers to 
all the ju d g e’s sons, or when the rest of the 
sentence m ade it necessary (as in ‘the p lanters 
were those who were going to do the work, and 
m ake the colonial[s] w ealthy, by cultivating the 
land  for them ’). Finally, all mistakes in the 
spelling of personal and place names, w here 
the correct form could be ascertained, were 
corrected in the text itself, w ithout recourse to 
footnotes.
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The New Guinea Memoirs of Jean Baptiste 
Octave Mouton

I was born in Velaine Belgium, a small village between N am ur 
and Charleroi, my parents were of small means, my father was a 
commercial traveller, as far as I know I understand that he was 
with the same Firm for thirteen years, Sapart was the nam e of 
this Firm. As far as I can rem em ber I was more with my G rand­
m other than with my parents.

My first schooling was at Chätelineau, from there I went to 
Velaine with G randm other, and attended school there, then I 
went to Nivelles also at school, this last school was under controle 
of Catholic Brothers, this is the last of my schooling, I was about 
eleven then. At that unfortunate early year I had to go to work 
and learn a trade and it was decided by my m other that coiffeur 
or barber was a good and easy trade, so I made my first app ren ­
tice as a barber at Nivelles. I stayed at Nivelles for about a year, 
then I shifted to Brussells. There I got into a barber shop but did 
not stay long a t the first shop because I was doing only messages 
instead of learning then I got another job  with a theatrical barber 
who did the La-M onaye works. This job  was the happiest job  of 
the lot, every night I could see the play from the top of the stage, 
our work as a rule was only needed after each act or change then 
we had to make a move, of course I did not do m uch only help 
in one way or other, the grown up men were doing the work, 
with this barber I had only to make wigs mostely with horse hair, 
and all the work were very rough m aterial used for the m aking 
up of the artists.

33



Though I had a very good time there owing to the theatrical 
life, I was not satisfy with the work, I wanted to learn the trade 
properly late hours every night and rough work did not compen­
sate for the opportunity of seeing the play, so I answered to an 
advertisement and got another job  at the Passage St. H ubert, 
there all the best workmanship was done, I got the job  and it is 
the job  I wanted I was very keen to learn and there was a good 
opportunity with a master in the trade who was a Hollander, my 
earning was mighty small all I received was two franc fifty 
centime a week,1 as apprentice the salary was very poor as the 
main point was to learn the trade.

In  those days 1878 to 1880 time I was working, the trade was 
a trade and shaving was a secondary part of the trade, it was only 
after having served 3 years that an apprentice could go into salon 
as it is called, for shaving or doing ladies hair dressing, the work­
shop was the apprentice place, in those days Ladies has long 
hairs and were not satisfy with their own but had to add to it, le 
chignon etait la mode, the chignon was the mode then and a 
great deal of false hairs were used, also we were m aking wigs for 
client for everyday wear, this work was very intriguing, the hair 
long plaits was done on three strong thread supported by two 
poles right and left of about three feet apart, the hair is then 
worked between those thread— then with the wig this is done on 
wooden heads, and the most difficult part is the parting which 
has to be on the left side or right or in the middle, and im planted 
one hair a t a time and on hair tulle in such a way that it look 
quite natural, in my spare time I used to sneak some piece and 
work the parting, one day I was caught and I thought that I was 
going to get the sack, bu t on the contrary, the Boss was so sur­
prised with my attem pt and good finish, that if there was some 
very delicate wig to do he gave it to me to do it, of course he did 
not increase my small salary, bu t myself I was quite proud of it, 
a t that time I was about 13 years old, and of course I was looked 
upon with envy by the others, they did not like me making such 
stride at all.

In  1880 there was the international exhibition a t Brussells, my 
Boss was an exhibitor and was preparing his stall, and I had the

1 About one shilling and sevenpence. The exchange rate for both the French 
and the Belgian franc was a t that time twenty-five francs to one pound sterling.
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good fortune to accompany him every time, so I was able to have 
a good look from the first start.

I rem em ber all kind of industries, such as making felt, cutting 
diamond the mine where the diam ond were found was represen­
ted in m iniature, the niggers diggers and the whole working plant 
was represented, I rem em ber tha t the polishing of the diamond 
was m ade by rubbing against diam ond, the diam ond was secured 
in a kind of strong wax or putty, and the men rubbed it against 
the other, the felt I remember consisted of a form in the shape of 
a bee hive, this revolved and the hairs which I understood was 
rabit hairs, were blown on it by a powerful machine, one blowed 
a liquid of very fine spray, and the other was the blower m en­
tioned.

I also rem em ber that there was an  electric train  and sundries, 
the plant was very crude, but it was electricity and the purpose 
was to show w hat it could be used for, the electricity usefulness 
was not yet acknowledged, the m ethod now in vogue were not 
thought of, and for this reason the crude way of showing it was 
very interesting, it is very strange that those little episodes are 
quite clear in my mind, and I can see those stalls in my im agina­
tion, bu t I may not rem em ber anything of recent happening, it 
seems to come and go and no notice is taken by my brain.

It was a t that periode of my life that, my Father become 
acquinted with a M r. Schurm an an  Hollander, who represented 
some American firm for agriculture implement such as shovel 
forks etc, whatever it was he did not make anything by it, and he 
was living from m outh [hand] to m outh, he appeared of a very 
intelligent m an, I understand that he had some experience with 
the D utch colonie, in fact I was told by my father tha t he was 
born in Sarang , 2 he could speak malay like a native, he also had 
a small knowledge of Chinese.

This Schurm an become acquainted with the M arquis de Rays 
expedition to colonize in a part called New France (Nouvelle 
France), and called the Colonie Libre de Port Breton, and he 
m ade arrangem ent w ith the representative D r de Groote3 who

2 This is almost certainly a spelling mistake. M outon seems to refer either to 
Serang (West Jav a), or, more likely, to Sam arang (Central Java). H e uses the 
latter on p. 43.
3 A retired naval doctor, P. de Groote was the Consul of New France for 
Belgium and the M arquis’ propagandist-in-chief. His Nouvelle-France: Colonie
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was in Brussells doing the propaganda, there was a newspaper 
called ‘La Nouvelle France’, this paper represented the new 
enterprise as a wonderful thing, picture showing, sceneries of 
unim aginable prospects, of course those sceneries were taken 
from quite a different part of the world, bu t we did not know, 
however, as we had nothing to lose and all to win, my father was 
quite taken with the prospect, and as far I can rem em ber the 
conditions were as follow or rather the prospect.

The M arquis de Rays sold land in the Nouvelle France to 
whom may buy it at the rate of 5 Francs an hectare (or 2 | acres) 
the land would be cultivated by colonial workers* * * 4 and the profit 
would be distributed amongst the shareowners, or rather in this 
case by the landowners. Those who were as colonials to cultivate 
the land for the benefit of the landowner, were to be alloted with 
so m any hectare of land, with the exception that they were kept 
at the expense of enterprise there was no wages stipulated, I 
think that my Father was under the Colonial, that is the man 
under Schurman to cultivate the million of hectares of land for 
the owners, that was our understanding and father did not know 
better than what he was told. M r. Sapart the leather manufac­
turer having died suddently while walking in the street, the whole 
business went to pot, and to get another job  was very hard, so

Libre de Port-Breton, which appeared in O ctober 1880 (well after the Chander-
nagor disaster mentioned in fn. 19), described the colony in most glowing terms
and held out totally unrealistic prospects for potential settlers; it also claimed 
that the M arquis himself visited New Ireland although he had never done so.

4 Elsewhere M outon uses the term  planters, but both names are misleading, 
since the individuals he has in mind were called ouvriers agricoles (agricultural 
labourers). These ‘colonial workers’ were indentured for five years, during 
which period they were to be entitled to free board and lodgings but received 
no cash wages except a vaguely defined share in profits, depending on their 
‘conduct and labour’. After five years they were to be given a house and 
twenty hectares of ‘good’ land. Passage to Port-Breton was not free; a single 
worker had to pay 500 francs, and a family 1200 francs, irrespective of size. 
The ‘colonial workers’ should not be confused with the ‘colonials’ mentioned 
by M outon in the next sentence of the text. T he latter were officially called 
dmigrants-colons, paid a m inimum of 3000 francs per family (or per ‘association 
of four persons’), and were entitled to ‘3rd class passage’, a four-room house, 
twenty hectares of land and free rations for six months. M any colons on the 
Nouvelle Bretagne had invested considerably more than the minimum. M outon 
Senior was an agricultural labourer.
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he accepted with the vision of making good, not having any 
knowledge of tropical life or the way of things relied on his friend 
Schurm an to see to it, he did not care where the wind blowed, it 
was better than stay in Belgium w ith no prospect ahead.

Therefore on a September cold night in 1880 my father and 
myself left Brussells at 11 p.m. left the Gare du Nord accompnied 
with a young H ollander nam ed Hulster, arrived at Paris at about 
4 a.m. at this early hour all we could see is the people going to 
m arket for the daily supply of Paris, in those days there was no 
restaurants train, and at our arrival after a very cold night travel 
we felt very peckish, so we bought bread one botle claret and 
some fromage de Brie, and to this day I think that it was the best 
meal I ever had to taste so good, we partaked of this in our room, 
after securing a m oderate hotel.

At Paris we expected to see Schurm an, the notary C ham baud 
and three other young men, H. H auterm an, Andre, and Jule, 
two of those young men were realy black sheep of this family, I 
understood that the Father send them  away to better themselve 
and get out of the way, we stayed in Paris one day.

Then we left Paris for H avre our destination so far, where we 
were to continue our trip by the steamer ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ a 
wood ship steamer of about 2000 tons, build in Norway,5 after 
we were properly installed, the next day we went and interviewed 
the M arquis who was installed in a very poor lodging, for a man 
of his importance, he then informed us that the French Govern­
m ent objected to take more than 39 passengers on board, bu t we 
were to remain at Havre until further orders, we were then in a 
moderate boarding house near the wharf, the food was very good 
and to this day I still think that it was the best meal we ever had, 
just good plain French good cooking, we stayed at Havre for quite a 
long time I think at least two months, we had nothing to do but 
taking it easy, during all those days we only saw Schurm an twice 
he prefered to stay at Paris, some of the other members of the 
expedition were installed in an other large boarding house, but 
we never met them very much.

5 Originally the Ingebord, bought by the M arquis for 135,000 francs. It was 
m uch smaller than asserted here; in the French version (p. 6) M outon says 
that it was ‘no bigger than 400 tons’. It was eventually sold for a pittance in 
M anila and the proceeds were used to pay off the crew.
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After the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ left H avre with the only passen­
gers allowed, we also left H avre for Barcelona Spain to jo in  the 
steamer, we were in all three myself Father and Hulster a young 
Hollander, the rest went their own way.

W e passed again Paris bu t stayed there three days, we met 
Schurm an and C ham baud who was to be a N otary a t Port 
Breton, those people were then staying at Paris, we also m et the 
H auterm an Andre, Jule, and H enry, Andre knew Paris very well 
and those three days were well filled to see the sight, un fortun­
ately we could only do it cheaply, our finance were very low, 
Schurm an did not give father much to go on with, however our 
stay a t Paris was too short.

Here end our stay a t Paris and we are on the move for Bar­
celona, the three of us, Schurm an was to follow with the rest that 
is the H auterm an brothers. W e m anaged to find a m oderate 
lodging near the quay, not so good as a t Le Havre, but we had 
nothing to complain about, the food was Spanish cooking, which 
use m uch garlic and everything is mixed with red powder, after 
a week or so we got used to it, a t the same lodging there were 
also a French family, consisting of father m other two sons and a 
daughter, the boys were of my age, so we had a very good time 
while at Barcelona, having nothing to do but kill time, we only 
came back for our meals, I rem em ber tha t there was hardly a day 
we did not come to trouble with Spanish boys, who seemed to 
have a grudge agains us French, there was not a day that did not 
finish with some battle of some sort, 6 fortunately for us boys there 
was a boy who spoke french who took fancy to me we were great 
friends, bu t had no time for the other boys, I do not know why, 
through him I learned Spanish and could make myself understood 
which was a great help to me, unfortunately having no practice 
I lost it, or rather not enough foundation to have the language 
rooted into my brain, I was rather quick in learning language, in 
fact as I see things now and w hat I had to go through, if I had  the 
chance I would have done better than my sons now.

We stayed at Barcelona at least three months as I did not keep 
a diary it is hard to rem em ber the proper length of time bu t I

6 One of the reasons for this lack of cordial relations might have been the fact 
that ‘for three m onths one could see in the streets of Barcelona young m en in 
strange uniforms’—a reference to the Port-Breton militia (Lucas-Dubreton 
1929: 7-8) .
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know th a t it was not less than three months, it seemed to me that 
there was trouble about leaving Europe, this of course I was too 
young to worry about or take notice, and the great drawback was 
that my education was not good enough to do it.

There were about 120 emigrants including soldiers and colo­
nials,7 the soldiers were to guard the peace and protect the settlers, 
the settlers were those who bought land at five francs per hectare 
or five francs for two and half acre, and the planters were those 
who were going to do the work,8 and make the colonials wealthy, 
by cultivating the land for them, bu t the workers were to be com­
pensated by land for their work, the whole expedition comprising 
of all nation, there were French, Belgium, Spaniard, Italian, 
Germ an, I do not rem em ber of any Englishmen, I and father 
were am ongst the planters under Schurm an who was in charge of 
the planters, with the exception of the military lot who had more 
officers than  men, the majority were of the poor land owners and 
called colonial, and we were only the part to cultivate the land.

T he French G overnm ent seemed to make objection to the 
expedition, and even Spanish, however when the ‘Nouvelle 
Bretagne’ was ready to leave Barcelona that is after about three 
months wasting time for which I did not know the reason, but no 
doubt it was owing to Governm ent objection, at the last m om ent 
when the ship was ready m any of those people who took advantage 
of being kept for all this time left at the last moment, and only a 
half of the expedition shipped on board the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’, 
the rest deserted w ith the protection of Government, and I may 
say tha t it was a good job, because if the full complement had 
shipped I do not know where they could have been accom m odated 
on board the ship, as we were like sardines, amongst those who 
deserted two of the H auterm an Andre and Ju le  the only one who 
went was H enry the best son of the lot, it would have been very 
bad for us had we had bad weather, packed like sardines as we 
were, however we did not do too bad of course com pared with the 
present it was rather rough but we did not think so, a t least I didnt, 
I never was sea sick for one thing, which mean a lot, every thing

7 Actually 150 (Hueskes 1932: 20; Stephan 1905: 331; Robson 1965: 226). 
Note also the French version: ‘There were many emigrants on board some 
120 to 200 people colons and soldiers of all nations’ (p. 7).
8 See fn. 4.
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was new to me, and I m ade the best of it, knowing w hat privation 
is.

O ur first stopping port was Port Said, there I first came in 
contact with strange peoples and hot climate, a mixture of races 
A rab amongst them as predom inant, we coaled there and it took 
three days to do it, during day time we went on shore and saw the 
town, at night we went on board again, this enable us to see the 
most of the town, the bazar and all the strange way of the people 
were very interesting to me. Having our full load of coal we started 
on the forth day to go through the Suez channel, we stopped a t 
night and anchored near the bank, no vessel could go at night, on 
one occasion we had to make room for an English transport, who 
carried troup to Africa for the Zoolou war I think, or the Sudan I 
forgot which , 9 all I know is that was fearfully hot not a breath of 
wind, it was a very trying passage, and it took us four or five days 
before we reached Suez and so on through the Red Sea, nothing 
special only we had an Arab pilot on board who would not partake 
of our food he made his own cooking which was very simple bu t 
to me it was strange, the only excitement was that we saw several 
large sharks who were following the ship monsters they were.

O ur next stop was Aden, a very barren country there was no 
green to be seen, we stayed at an Hotel with Schurm an, H enry, 
father and self also Cham baud with his wife, I forgot to m ention 
that Plulster did not come with us he left us at Barcelona, a t Aden 
we stayed at the hotel for three days, I rem em ber that the mos­
quitos were terrible it was the first time I felt them, at the back of 
the hotel were we stayed there was a big heap of bones, and pro ­
bably was the cause for the mosquitos the w eather was very dry 
and trying for us coming from Europe, when we were there they 
said that it did not rain for seven years, perhaps I made a mistake 
it may be seven months, at any rate we were drinking distilled 
w ater from sea water, this big heap of bone must have been for 
some industrie of some sort, w hat it was for I do not know, bu t it 
was a very large one, I did not like Aden at all nothing m uch to 
see there.

O ur next stop was Ceylon Point Galle or G ala Point, this was 
an eye opening to me, the vegetation was wonderful all tropical 
fruits to be had were there, the country was wonderful and green,

9 The Sudan W ar: the Zulu cam paign was over by 1881.
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this was the first glance at the real tropical vegetation, we stayed 
at an  hotel for three or four days, the stay was too short for me 
because for the first time there was such a great contrast with the 
other places and above all Aden, the climat was also very bearable 
every surounding being so green the heat was cooled by it, and very 
soothing to the eye, it was the first time I tasted banana and pine­
apple, so you can imagine, not having tasted banana or pineapple 
and mangoes in my life though I have seen them in Brussells for 
sale, I could not aford the luxury, I had to be content with the 
smell of it. I rem em ber that in the arcade in Brussells was a green­
grocer who sold all kind of expensive fruits such as those m entioned, 
m any time I tought that I would like to taste them, the smell was 
so enticing.

O ur next stop was Singapore, making our fourth stop since 
leaving Barcelona, I liked Singapore very much, it was far more 
busy than  Ceylon and there was a great num ber of Chinese, and 
the shipping m ade this port more lively.

W e rented a two storey house and cooked our own food, which 
was not very satisfactory, for the simple reason the cook expert was 
missing. However this only lasted a few days then we got our suply 
from the convent, the Sisters were kind enough to supply us twice 
a day lunch and dinner, breakfast we cooked ourselves in the 
continental fashion coffee and bread and butter, that is all we 
required as we were used to it. A t lunch time a Chinam an would 
bring in on his shoulder hanging on a bamboo stick, two sets of 
enameled plate or dishes containing our meal, at every meal there 
was curry as in Singapore there was no meal w ithout curry, the 
curry act as an ordeuvre, a t night the Chinam an did the same, all 
I had to do was wash up, and the next day the carrier would take 
the one he left in the morning and leave the one he brought and so 
on, having two sets in use.

In this house we were in all six peoples, Schurm an, Judge 
T ilm ont10 his sons and daughters, and father and myself.

The water for our bath  was brought by a chinam an who charged 
a few cents for it, our bath  consisted of large wooden tub, this was

10 He was, to use M outon’s terminology, a ‘colonial’ (emigrant-colon) who was 
said to have invested his entire fortune of 25,000 francs in the venture. He and 
his six children were stricken by m alaria soon after arrival; the whole family 
was eventually evacuated to M anila on the Nouvelle Bretagne (see fn. 33).
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filled and with a dip m ade of cocosnuts shell fastened to a stick as 
handle this acted as a shower, the method being to pour over the 
body with a laddie, I must say that we found the bath  very nice 
and cool, having our supply as mentioned before, we had plenty 
time on hand, the house did not take much trouble as there was no 
furniture except chair bed and table, and our crockery, and the 
usual wash stand, no wardrobe our cloths were hanged on the wall 
with a kind of printed m aterial cover. I used to go about on my 
own, I soon become friendly with a boy who lived next door, he 
could talk a little French so I learned Pigin English for the first 
time, a t that time the only language I could master was French, 
it was not very long before I could quite use the Pigin English, and 
this become very useful la ter . 11

M y only trouble then was with Miss T ilm ont she was a pest, she 
was a great cigarette smoker, and never pu t a hand to anything 
in way of help she was the most useless person I ever met, I do not 
know that she was useless or that she did not w ant to do anything, 
for all I know is that she did not make her own cigarettes even, 
that is if she saw me handy, she asked me to make her cigarettes 
for her, and as she smoked a great deal I was sometime very busy 
at it, I was I may say through her great dem and quite an expert in 
making cigarettes, not only tha t bu t she was a great nuisance, if 
she wanted anything on the table near enough for her to reach, 
she would ask anyone near to pass it to her. At the end it got upon 
my nerves; if I had any in those days I dont think, bu t at last I 
could not stand it more and I stood my own ground and dodged 
her when the opportunity arised, and had all kind of excuse to get 
away from her, she could do nothing against that because she had 
no controle over me in any shape or form, w hat I did first was to 
be agreable to her, until it became an abuse then I had to kick,

11 I t  is a pity that M outon did not elaborate this point, in view of the still 
unresolved question of the origin of Melanesian Pidgin (see, for instance, the 
conflicting views expressed in W urm  1966 and Salisbury 1967). W hat he 
seems to be saying is th at in the early 1880s there was little difference between 
the Singapore Pidgin and that used in the Bismarck Archipelago— an impres­
sion which is strengthened by his references to demi-Anglais or Anglais bdtard in 
the French version. O ne of the main difficulties here stems from the fact that 
virtually all recorded samples of early Melanesian Pidgin come from individuals 
who spoke or at least understood English. Since M outon did neither when he 
arrived in New Guinea, anything he m ight have said on the subject would have 
been of great interest to linguists and social historians.
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and I had to be rude and tell her the strength of her tyrany and in 
plain speaking I told her w hat I tought of her, she did not like it 
and make a great fuss by crying and complaining about my 
insolence etc. I did not care I wanted to get free from her and I 
did, do not make a mistake I was only fourteen years of age only a 
boy, and w anted as much time to myself as I could, so that I could 
go out with my friend, even if she went out she wanted me to go 
with her, I could see only one thing and tha t she intended to make 
a slave of me so I had to act and be rude. W e stayed a t Singapore 
rather a long time, what was the reason I do not know, and it must 
have cost something to keep the whole expedition because beside 
us there was the others who were in a kind of boarding house in 
town, where we were we had the luck to be out of town proper and 
in a secluded part of the town, which was very agreable, never­
theless it did not worry me and I was too young to know the why 
and wherefore, bu t no doubt it must have been financial m atter, 
a t Singapore we had a very large supply of all kind, which had to 
be paid for so I think that it was the reason, Schurm an bought all 
kind of plants in specially m ade cases, coffee, nutmeg, etc., all what 
he thought would be needed as a start, but now when I think of it, 
w hat a fleabite it was to cope with the vast enterprise the expedition 
aim  was, Schurm an was the only m em ber of the expedition who 
knew something about tropical plants, I understand that he was 
born a t Sam arang of D utch parents, he spoke malay fluently, and 
Chinese a bit, he could speak five languages, and very fluently as 
well, and I am sure with his knowledge, had he had any sort of 
inducem ent and the soil and labour to work with he was a very 
capable m an and would have been very valuable in a plantation.

I think our stay a t Singapore must have lasted at least three 
months and during that time other passengers deserted but not so 
m any as in Barcelona, it appear that there was some sort of rumours 
about the object aim  of the expedition, and no doubt they were 
well earned.

At Singapore a sailing barque was added to our equipm ent, she 
was an old vessel three masted barque, renam ed ‘M arquis de 
Rays ’12 the cargo as well as m em ber of the expedition were divided 
between the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ and the ‘M arquis de Rays’ and

12 Originally the Nettie Merriman. She was bought by C aptain Henry for 25,000 
francs and was used as a hospital ship in Port-Breton.
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we were some of them but Schurm an and the other crowd of our 
party remained on the steamer. There was no cabin accom m oda­
tion, our sleeping gears were hammocks hanging on the beam  of 
the ship under the first hole of the ship, when the hatch could be 
left open it was not too bad but God help when bad w eather it was 
unbearable, with the exception of the sleeping part of it, the deck 
was very pleasant we had plenty space to move about which we 
did not get on the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’.

But before continuing I must relate the incident of my trouble on 
shipping; we chartered a large sam pan to load our belonging 
which consisted of our luggages and poultry etc. me and my father 
were in charge of the sam pan, think were going nicely when to 
our surprise we saw our ship leaving her anchorage and moving 
toward the entrance of the harbour, and to try to reach her with 
this big sampan was too slow so my father got a smaller sam pan 
and followed m aking sign, but to my horror the boat continued and 
took no notice of my father signal and there I was left alone in 
charge of this sam pan with malays. Then my trouble began with 
the malays they refused to go further, and the only way left was to 
go back to the wharf, the malays started to take things from the 
cargo and showed nasty, it was out of the question to make them 
follow the vessel, in my ignorance of the movement of the vessel I 
thought it was just as well to go on shore and find out, so I told the 
malays to make for the Agent wharf, but they did not they landed 
in fair distance from the w harf I wanted them to land, so I dem ­
onstrated with them  that they were not acting according to my 
instructions, and I made them understand that I was going to the 
Agent, some of them tried to stop me but I threatened them  with 
the call for the police, they let me go, this threat seemed to have 
cooled them a bit, so I reached the Agent and explained matters, 
as I reached the Agent to my great relief I met some of the members 
and they told me that the boat would be at anchore for another 
two days, so there was plenty time to reach the boat with the cargo 
the same day before dark, but as the distance was further the 
malays wanted more pay, and tried to take advantage of my 
inexperience, when I explained to the Agent they were a bad lot 
and that they had poached the cargo, of course this m ade a different 
construction to their claim, for their pilfering m ade them  guilty 
and lost their right to claim more, so they had to take the price of 
the first contract and say nothing, of course all pilfered goods were 
returned.
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W ith a crew finding themselve outwitted I came on board the 
ship a t about four o’clock in the afternoon, the distance really was 
no more than double a m atter of a few hours only, when I arrived 
I found my father on board and everybody having a good laugh at 
me and called me C aptain au long cour, which mean deep sea 
Captain, well I did not think so, when I come to think of it my 
father could have taken steps to let me know as soon as he knew, 
of course he did not think that I would have trouble with the 
malays and that they keep going like they did, well I suppose when 
he saw that there was plenty of time that I would follow and did 
not think of the treachery of the malays, the trouble was that the 
malays pilfered a case of brandy and started to drink it, it appear 
that it was the only thing that they were afraid of, and they asked 
me if I did not say anything about it they would cause no trouble 
any more and that the cargo with me would be delivered in no 
time, I kept that promise the only thing they lost was a large fee, 
and we left the best of friends, amongst the crew there was only one 
who could speak English, or rather Pigin English.

All these anxieties would have been avoided if Schurm an had 
informed father, and I was kept going with the joke of deep sea 
Captain. To continue we are on board the ‘M arquis de Rays’ and 
waiting for the departure she is loading explosive by w hat I am 
told, and now continue our life on board.

The ‘M arquis de Rays’ being an old barque was towed by the 
‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ so our progress was not very fast, and our 
worst time was at night, the vessel having been at anchore for some 
time, was full of vermins, cockroaches and centipede scorpions 
were very bad, especially cockroaches flying all over the ship, and 
it was not a surprise to see one having his toes or sole of his feet 
nipped during the night.

The C aptain of the ship was a young Norwegian , 13 a rather 
decent fellow with the exception of night we were not so bad during 
daytime we had our work, cleaning and cooking was on the pro­
gram, there was no special crew to do it.

After a little while we got used to it and by hunting the vermins 
it was more bearable the first week was horrible, fortunately we 
had good w eather the most part of the trip , if we had had  bad 
weather I do not know how we would have stood it.

13 Captain Bull, formerly an  officer on the Nouvelle Bretagne.
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O ur course was along the coast of Sum atra at the time we could 
see gunsmoke on the shore where the Dutch were fighting with the 
natives , 14 our next stop was Sangire15 an Island in the Celebes, 
this Island was occupied by a D utch Missionar who had a very 
nice nutmeg plantation, of which he received a nice income. We 
took water and also nutm eg plants. Schurm an managed to get 
them from him, no doubt Schurm an was a wonder he could rattle 
malay like a malay, and no C hinam an could get the best of him in 
any bargaining. W e stayed at that Island a few days. W e kept 
going along all the Islands and our next sixth stop was on the coast 
of New Guinea, an Island called Arimoa on the chart there may 
be another nam e16 bu t it was the name the C aptain gave us. We 
had to get water, we anchored into a little harbour the Island 
looked very attractive bu t there was no sign of life at first, but 
later one canoe showed nearby but not too close, it was evident 
that the natives were not used to whiteman, bu t must have had 
some dealing with some sort of peoples bartening with them, those 
people were well build and had a bow and arrow, naked with only 
a small covering m ade of bark of some sort, dark skin more like 
malay type color than the papuan type, they were very shy a t first 
and it took some time before one more daring than the others came 
on board, and Captain H enry who had his wife aboard m ade soon 
friendly term with him, he was shown the cabin of the ‘Nouvelle 
Bretagne’ and presents were made, and w hat surprised him most 
was Mrs Henry playing the piano, it seem to me that M rs H enry 
was the principal instrum ent of peace maker.

After that when this native went on shore a score of canoes came 
to the ship and in no time the next day we were surrounded with 
canoes bringing fruits and turtle shells, to exchange with trade the 
only ones who did a good business were the M alays we had on 
board, they knew the value of turtle shells and they bought all they

14 Another slip of m em ory: after leaving Singapore, the expedition steamed 
along the north coast of Borneo (Baudouin 1885: 102). M outon himself says 
in the French version (p. 12): ‘Having left Singapore we went past Borneo 
and from the ship we could see the smoke of the D utch cannons as they fought 
‘les Atchinois’ (Atjeh?).
15 I.e. Sangihe, an island about 150 miles north of M anado.
16 Actually a group of three islands off the northern coast of West Irian  (c. 
1°35'S, 138°50'E)— Niru M oar, Lansutu and Liki. M alay traders, who fre­
quented them regularly, called them  Kum am ba Islands (W ichm ann 1909: 69).
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could with small cheap pocket knives, we europeans did not know 
only one here and there took notice and bought it only to make 
ornam ent with it, this prove that it was not the first time they did 
business in that line with white or M alay, those natives brought 
quite a large quantity  of turtle shell and very good quality a t that, 
but we poor fools did not know and with the exception of one or 
two more clever the M alays had the best of it, those malays where 
part of the fishing gang to fish for the residents of the colonie to 
come.

They also brought cocos nuts, banana, taro, yams and sundry 
tropical fruits and vegetable, taros and yams were unknown to us 
the only ones who used them  was the malays again who cooked 
them as food.

The first attem pt to get w ater was a failure, on arrival no sooner 
we dropped anchore the C aptain send a boat on shore to get w ater 
but they had  to come back w ithout it, the natives did not look too 
promising, but after the peace was m ade and they knew that we 
were friendly there was no trouble and they helped to get the 
water, it is fortunate that there was no need at the first instance to 
exchange shot and kill some of the natives, we would have had 
w ater all right but by force a landing party  would have m ade 
short work with the natives. As it was it was possible for us to go on 
shore and have a good look and strech our legs, everything was new 
to us, it was the first meeting with real savages m an eaters and 
head hunters.

After we had all the w ater we needed and firewood for cooking 
to save the coal we left Arimoa just as we were very friendly w ith 
the natives, now we are on our way to the land of Paradise and 
our goal. Jogging along at the tail of the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ until 
a day came that if we kept going as we did we would be short of 
coal, and  in such predicam ent there would be no reaching the 
promised land, so it was decided that the steamer would go ahead 
and leave us to sail the rest of the voyage , 17 and then sailors were

17 If  we accept Baudouin’s version of the incident (1885: 104-05), the separation 
of the two ships was not the outcome of a ‘decision’— it simply happened. I t 
seems that the quarter-m aster of the Nouvelle Bretagne, unhappy about the 
overstraining of the engine of ‘his’ ship, cut one of the strands of the rope 
which linked the Marquis de Rays w ith the steamer. About an hour later the 
rope broke and the two ships began to part company. After waiting all night 
for the Marquis de Rays to catch up with his ship, C aptain Henry decided to
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put on board the barque and we sailed on our own power for the 
first time, while C aptain Henry went ahead with the ‘Nouvelle 
Bretagne’ to meet again later a t the end of our voyage unless she 
could find coal enough to pick us again bu t this was not the case 
and we had to keep going the best we could the vessel being very 
old the Captain did not trust the masts, and at the slightest strong 
breeze which would have been a good sailing breeze he had to 
shorten sails, of course this did not help us a bit.

The Captain knew his work all right he was a very good sailor, 
and worked the ship well to the capacity of the gears he had to 
handle. So now we are on our own, I do not know our exact 
position, bu t we must be close to our destination, because we had 
the South east wind which was against us, and the boat had to 
tack our way through. I think that we must have been more than 
one week doing this, wind and current against us and a slow 
vessel, slow because we could not carry sails, I thought tha t we 
never would reach the place.

However, after a long tedious time we managed to reach Port 
H unter in Duke of York Island only a few miles from our goal.18 
We stayed about a week at Port H unter, this Port H unter was 
occupied by the M ethodist Mission, and while we were there our 
people put a m onum ent m ade of coral stone on the graves of the 
11 or 12 of the former members of a previous expedition who died 
and were burried on the Island,19 the story go that they all died

proceed to Port-Breton alone, since the Nouvelle Bretagne had hardly any coal 
left. According to Baudouin, the ships became separated ‘at the entrance to 
St. George’s Channel, or more precisely, a t the latitute of Elisabeth Island’ 
(also known as Alim Island and located south of the Adm iralty Islands). The 
Nouvelle Bretagne arrived a t Port-Breton on 10 Ju ly  and the Marquis de Rays five 
weeks later.

18 Note the corresponding passage in the French version: ‘T he Genii came to 
our rescue . . . and finally towed us to Port H unter in the Duke of York Islands 
. . . After a few days the wind abated, the Genii returned [from Port-Breton] 
and towed us to our destination.’ (p. 13).
19 The dead belonged to the Chandernagor contingent and were am ong the 
forty-two men evacuated from Liki-Liki by the M ethodist missionaries on 
2 April 1880 (Brown 1908: 353-70). Brown mentions that eight evacuees died 
a t the mission headquarters but was unable to account for four of the forty-two 
men rescued, so that M outon’s figure is probably correct. Most of the survivors 
from the Chandernagor sailed for Sydney on 1 September 1880 on the Victor. 
Among those who rem ained as traders were the following: Tetzlaff, Semeriva,
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of m alaria fever, and I quite believe if they were lacking of quinin 
as we were, this Island was beautiful and while we were there 
we went on shore every day, the natives seemed to be very peace­
ful, I presume that the Mission had a great deal to do with it, 
though they were only begining to teach their Gospel. After a 
week about the ‘Genii’ a small steam er belong the M arquis de 
Rays cam e a t last to our rescue and towed us to Port Breton it 
took only a few hours to do that.

We arrive at Port Breton on the 15th of August 1881 a t 4 p.m. 
and w hat a delusion, our paradise become a hell rather than a 
land of promise, some of the passengers were so m uch affected 
tha t they cried of disappointm ent, imagine coming into a small 
harbour which was no more than a little bay which could only 
hold about three vessels a fourth one would be an impossibility, 
the vessel could not swing round her anchore w ithout coming in 
collision with the other, this small hole to make m atter far more 
ugly was surrounded by high m ountains reaching the clouds the 
sum m it was covered by cloud, a t the time of our entrance into 
the Port there was no cloud to be seen, only rain and such rain, 
this rain lasted at least forty eight hours, before it cleared, then 
we were able to see what we came to.

The more accurate explanation to this hole is that it represen­
ted a funnel such as used to fill bottles the bottom  was the little 
bit of land I should say no more than 100 acres at the end of 
which the hill rised very steep right up the sky, climbing wras very 
difficult owing to the steepness, we saw some few buildings there 
along the shore which were only sheds and the rest heavy tim ­
bered land rising to the sky, owing to the rain it was not too hot, 
and our vision was not too good either owing to the same reason.

According to the description given by the M arquis de Rays 
newspaper the Colonie Libre de Port Breton was m uch to be 
desired this newspaper called ‘La Nouvelle France’ made a p ara ­
dise of this hell of a land, and for this reason we felt it much more,

Lemesle (or Lemele), Benninger, Coulfuty (or Coulfitie), Brandt and Coenen 
(by the time the M outons landed in Mioko, in February 1882, Benninger had 
been killed by the villagers and Coulfuty had committed suicide). Not a single 
em igrant from the India settled in New G uinea and only three members of the 
Nouvelle Bretagne expedition were to do so: the M outons and a Frenchm an 
called Dupre. By 1900 only M outon, Coenen and Lemesle were still in New 
Guinea and in 1909 only M outon and Lemesle remained.
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we came to the two extremes. No doubt this newspaper got those 
pictures and informations from other countries20 and m ade use 
of it for his own paper to deceive the poor fools who spend their 
saving to buy land, those were indeed to be pitied, and one of 
them named Pitoy21 was nearly out of his head when he asked 
where shall find my 1800 hectares, there he was pulling his hair 
and crying the poor devil was to be pitied.

Well now after anchore touched bottom  we m et Schurm an 
who was wearing an oilskin coat, he did not look too happy, and 
Henry H auterm an was not better either both looked very m uch 
on the gum, no doubt Schurm an realised the deceiving part o f 
the whole enterprise, there his knowledge and experience were 
not to be of any value, his disappointm ent m ust have been 
terrible.

I will try to describe this famous Port Breton, to the best o f my 
ability. The H arbour look very small and is no more than a little 
bay protected by the narrow  entrance and a reef with room 
enough for about two or three vessels and not too large at that, 
along the harbour there was a road m ade by the members of the 
previous emigrants, this road was about 12 feet wide, the far side 
of the bay was occupied by the m ain body a long building like a 
shed w ithout ornam ent but more like a long shed made of corru­
gated iron roof and walls, this long shed called block-house had 
for walls w eatherboard, the whole construction was divided into 
sections, I may say of about 14 to 16 feet wide to the depth of 
the shed, in this lived a lot of people, bu t I rem em ber well that 
a t one end was the part used for the Church, then came the

20 Most of the illustrations came from the seventy-volume publication called 
L'Univers: Histoire et Description de tons les Peuples (Paris, 1835-63), popularly 
known as V  Univers Pittoresque. On the skilful use of illustrations by the M arquis 
and his associates in general, see Baudouin (1885: 72-74).
21 A typical Emigrant-colon, Auguste Eustace Pitoy came from the Lorraine and 
was a fairly prosperous barge-owner before he decided to emigrate with his 
wife, three children and a niece. During the sea-voyage ‘he spent his days 
dream ing about his life at Port-Breton. His house would give to the east, and 
would be surrounded by a huge orchard . . . My property, he would say 
[studying the map] will be called Nancy. This little river which runs through it, 
I shall name the Moselle. And this m ountain here I shall nam e the Montague 
Thiers, in honour of the liberator of France’ (Baudouin 1885: 92). Both Pitoy 
and his wife died at Port-B reton: the children and the niece grew up in Australia 
and their descendants are still alive in New South Wales.
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different families and even Italians had some of the partition  
alloted to them, there was also a few other building o f the same 
pattern  and made of native m aterial no doubt m ade by the new 
arrivals for freedom of space, in those building there were the 
Priest22 who m ade use of the church for a sleeping room as well, 
the officers and their wives, Colons with their families, Italians 
and Spaniards, soldiers of all nations, in all I presume that the 
whole colonie upon this little space of land was about say 60 or 70 
if that much, all living according to who they were in those 
departm ents.

Along the bay a little farther about say 600 yards was a cottage, 
which must have been build for the former G overnor,23 this 
cottage was occupied by the N otary C ham baud with his wife and 
child, this was the best of the lot as far as architecture is con­
cerned, the ground available for cultivation was very poor it 
consisted of a flat of no more the 100 acres if that m uch with a 
river going through this w ater came from the hill and in reality 
was only an outlet the w idth was no more than 100 feet the 
w ater was like chrystal so pure and clear that is the best part of 
the whole setlement, on this flat the settlers had made some 
attem pts to gardening and there was indication that the former 
settlers had done the same because the land was cleared and what 
the present ones had to do was to clear the small growth and it 
was ready for gardening, I think tha t this was the only thing this 
land could be used for there was not enough to do anything with 
it, beside should the river overflow w hat would happen, God 
know. There was also the rem ain of the last expedition, part of

22 Abbe Renö-M arie Lanuzel. Born in 1846, he was a captain of a Breton con­
tingent in the Franco-Prussian war, became a priest in 1874 and was a secular 
missionary in Haiti until 1879. Although he went to Port-Breton a t the behest 
of the Sacred Congregation for the Propagation of Faith, he was not officially 
a missionary; Rome, a t this stage, ‘supplied a priest, but with its customary 
prudence, was not involved in the adventure itself’ (Dupeyrat 1935: 39). He 
came out on the India, accompanied R abardy and le Prevost to Sydney and 
returned on the Genii in February 1881. He then acquired a piece of land near 
Nodup in a locality referred to by Jouet as Beridni and by Hueskes as M atana- 
kunai but his house was burned down by the villagers after a few months. He 
returned to Europe in O ctober 1881 and was later sent to New Zealand. He 
did not return  in 1883 as claimed in Salisbury (1970: 27) nor did he die in 
R abaul as stated in N iau (1936: 78).
23 Colonel J .  A. le Prevost.
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sugar machinery, it appear that the m achinery arrived before the 
sugar cane could be planted, or even find enough land to plant I 
am sure that it could not be done at Port Breton.

We were in a way more fortunate, our selected part was about 
5 miles farther along the coast in a bay called Bay M arie,24 this 
bay was very exposed and could not be used as shelter for anchor­
age, the place was also a flat surrounded by high m ountains, but 
we were more open, there was building build by the first settlers, 
this building was build of logs and of two stories, ceiling also 
build of logs, on the wall there was loopholes for the insertion of 
guns, like a barrack it seems to me that thoses peoples were 
prepared for an attack if it should occure, we all lived there for 
the time being, then we build a shed m ade of malay mats which 
we brought from Singapore with us, this was very soon made, 
when the frame was up the rest was simple we had only to nail 
the mats on the frame, this shed was about 40 feet long by 12 
feet wide, and about 7 feet high, at one end the cooking place 
which was very simple, and our dining room, then all the rest was 
used for sleeping, our floor was the earth, and our bed iron one 
at that was simply on it.

While Father Schurm an and Henry H auterm an and myself 
lived in this shed the Judge T ilm ont and his sons and daughters 
were living in the log house, our time was filled with m aking a 
fowl house for our poultry platforms for our plants, clearing the 
land available which was no more than 50 acres if that m uch, as 
far as I can rem em ber the only thing growing was pum kin and 
water melons,25 there was no proper soil for anything else, my 
part of the business was to kill time by cooking and sometime do

24 Also called Port St Joseph by the settlers and known today as Irish Cove. 
The main settlement was at the Baie Frangaise (or Port des Frangais)— today’s 
English Cove. The distance between the two settlements was actually two and 
a half miles; in the French version (p. 15) M outon says it took him about an 
hour to cover it.
25 O ctave’s pumpkins drew an appreciative comment from J . Poulain who 
visited both Baie M arie and the main settlement six months after the final 
evacuation (see fn. 39). ‘W hat passion the settlers must have had for pum pkin ,’ 
said the Director of the Societe des Fermiers-Gendraux de la Nouvelle-France, 
but otherwise gave them  full marks: ‘They tried hard to grow things here, 
much harder than at Port-Breton’ (Poulain 1883: 99). Poulain was tried a t the 
same time as the M arquis and sentenced to five years’ imprisonment.

52



some clearing, and sometime fishing with the natives when I 
could spare the time.

From  the Bay M arie where we were the first settlers made a 
road to the m ain settlem ent Port Breton, I should think of about 
five miles long, this road we used when the sea was too bad, when 
the w eather was favorable we used a native m ade canoe, which 
was m ade of a hollow wood w ith an outrigger this canoe would 
hold about four peoples, but generally it was my job  to go to 
Port Breton to get the ration twice a week, this consisted of wine 
claret, salt pork, coffee, rice, and olive oil, and biscuits, unfor­
tunately flour was not used, and butter was unknown, and only 
those who knew better had a better diet, for instance we had 
condensed milk and a little bu tter in tin which turned like oil in 
the end, our principal dish was good curry, from Singapore we 
brought w ith us two large jars of curry powder, and one square 
tin of red paste this was made offish and for all the world looked 
like dynam ite in appearance the same grain and all, the nearest 
is anchovy paste, bu t this was not anchovy, and in fact since I 
have tried to obtain it from Singapore bu t could only get other 
paste bu t not the real one, to make curry I used one spoon of one 
ja r  powder and one spoon of the other ja r, anything in the shape 
of m eat eggs fish could be used, with a teaspoonful of the fish 
powder I could make a tasty curry, this red paste was the secret 
o f the whole flavour, and m any time I have tried since to get it, 
unfortunately I did not know the name, w hat a boon it would 
have been for me in the later days, of course it was not too sweet 
to smell bu t it kept wonderfully well, I am  speaking about this 
paste so m uch because as I had to cook, I can say that I could 
make a good tasty curry with an  old pair of boots if you could 
chew it, it was like stock in a good m anaged kitchen. Well now 
enough w ith this curry, we also brought a lot o f cocosnuts from 
Singapore which we placed in nursery shape for w hat reason I 
do not know, as there was no room anywhere to plant them, not 
only th a t bu t it was prohibited to eat them, when I think of it 
w hat a foolish prohibition, when there would never be any reason 
to plant them. O ur biscuits were round and about six inches 
diam eter, and hard  as wood it was impossible to chew them 
unless they were soaked in coffee or soup or any liquid, those 
were french biscuits used in the navy but when soaked they were 
very nice, it is surprising w hat we had to pu t up with, if we w anted 
to fry anything it was to be done with olive oil, I rem em ber a
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dish which I used very often to make, I boiled rice together with 
salt pork and used to put the young top of the pum pkin leaves 
and that dish was very acceptable, there was the wild pigeons but 
we had to go a bit far to get them though they were plentyful 
our luck was they were not where we were, bu t sometime H enry 
used to go hunting at Lam bom  an Island near by, why we did 
not get pigeons was simply because there was no fruit trees and 
there was no food to a ttrac t them.

W ith our poultry we were not too badly off and I m ust say 
that our ducks and fowls did very well, bu t we never killed a 
fowl.

They were for breeding and only eggs were allowed to eat and 
we were well supplied with them, the ducks and fowls lay very 
well, so we were not short of eggs, but I must say that after the 
other way of living even in our trading station I consider tha t we 
were very badly off though not starving, we were only a bit better 
off than those western story fellow who lived mostly on bacon 
coffee and beans and some kind of m ade biscuits out of flour, as 
I was very young and I had a good appetite anything would do 
me but those more aged felt it more. One of our great support 
was the harricots beans in bulk which I forgot to mention, those 
were very hard as they were dried beans, bu t with a little care 
I m anaged to get them  very tender and tasty. As the trip  to 
collect provision was left to me, I rather liked it I would call my 
friend Massun a native who took to me at first an old m an of 
about forty I should say or fifty, and he and I we would go to 
Port Breton in the canoe, both of us using the paddle and  with 
fine w eather we were at Port Breton in about two hours sometime 
early if we had the current with us, the worst part of the trip  was 
to pass the point it was very short only a few yards bu t it was 
like going through boiling water, with a launch or a  boat it 
would have been a simple m atter but with my dugout canoe it 
was not a joke, however we m anaged.

At Port Breton I generally took my time, as a rule I went to 
Mrs. C ham baud who was living the nearest to my approach to 
Port Breton, and as I liked Mrs. Cham baud very m uch for her 
pluck and  I as a boy of 14 did all I could for her in my power,26

26 This m ay be one of the reasons why C ham baud himself emerges from 
M outon’s reminiscences as a pleasant enough character, when the opposite
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so first stop Mrs. C ham baud, more likely stayed for lunch, then 
to the headquarters to get my provision, have a look at the 
differents peoples and have a good look at Mrs. Dessus who was 
the wife of an Officer, I generally got my lunch there if I did not 
get it a t Mrs. Cham baud, I rem em ber one day we had some very 
nice chicken at least it looked like and tasted like, only after meal 
it turned out to be a large carpet snake, a t any rate I must say 
tha t it was very nice and tender, I am sure that it was not the 
first snake Mrs. Dessus has cooked, I was very fond of Mrs. Dessus 
she was a fine lady very capable and resourceful.

I generally stayed at Port Breton until 4 p.m. then we made 
track again for our residence, and it was generally sunset when 
we arrived, as it was the only break we had I took advantage of 
it.

T he people at Port Breton were kiling time by doing useless 
hard  work and this kept going until the m alaria fever started, 
and the provision started to get short and that was not very long 
after our arrival. We at Bay M arie did the same thing cuting 
tim ber and making platforms for our plants and clearing the 
little land available for planting a little vegetable when we got 
seed to come.

After about I should say three months by the decision of the 
Council it was judged necessary that the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ 
leave for M anila to get a load of provision and also some of the 
Colons who were supposed to be at M anila waiting, the ‘Nouvelle 
B retagne’ left Port Breton at once and m ade for M anila,27 so

was more the case (see Introduction). His interest in colonial ventures m ay have 
been due to the fact th at he found it difficult to find work as a notary in France 
-—at one stage he had to give up a practice in the Dordogne after he had 
kidnapped (or ravished— ‘enleve’) the wife of a friend (Lucas-Dubreton 1929: 
94). H e was sentenced to two years’ imprisonment for his role in the Port- 
Breton affair.

27 W ith the example of the two previous Governors in mind, the settlers 
naturally  feared that C aptain Henry might not return, and some proposed 
that his wife should rem ain behind as a ‘hostage’. They eventually accepted 
his word of honour as a sailor that he would be back in three months. Strictly 
speaking, the decision was not m ade by the ‘Council’ but by the Colonial 
Assembly (Assemblee Coloniale) which m ade all m ajor decisions affecting 
the colony, a t least in theory. C aptain Henry left earlier than suggested by 
M outon— on 16 Septem ber 1881. For elucidation of the reference to settlers 
who were supposed to have been waiting at M anila, see fn. 53.
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there was only the ‘G enii’ left and the ‘M arquis de Rays’ the 
Barque we came with, the latter useless as transport purpose but 
divested of all her sails she was used as an Hospital ship, and it 
was the intention for which she was bought.

This was rather a long wait and provisions were geting short, 
so one day the ‘Genii’ with a few passengers of which I was one 
of them we went to the coast of New Ireland as far as Likiliki 
only a few miles from Port Breton, we anchored first at Likiliki 
where some of the first expedition landed, we stayed there one 
night then we proceeded up to Mimias we bought taros yams and 
all sundry food also pigs, we didnt stay long there, the coast was 
rather open and in case of bad w eather it was rather risky.

Mimias looked like a Paradise com pared with Port Breton, and 
those on board asked why not put the colonie there, the land at 
that place hiked very attractive in appearance, it was covered 
with alang alang (blady grass) 28 and rising gradually to the hill 
in a gentle grade, this was dotted with acacia trees, in appearance 
it looked like a great paddock planted with apple trees, like in 
Norm andie and one of the Passengers who had a right to m any 
thousand hectares Pitoy by nam e cried when he saw it, and  asked 
why not let him have his share a t Mimias, the poor m an did not 
know, that the land was not much good and the hard  work it 
would entail him to make something out of it, C aptain R abardy  
told him but it was with a broken heart that he left the place, 
which we did after a night a t anchore which was quite sufficient, 
a t that place it appear the morals are very lacking and the crew 
as well as the natives from Lam bom  made good use of this lacking 
morals with the women, the next day we used to barter article of 
trade such as ax butcher knives beads for provision then we lifted 
anchore and were back at Port Breton in no time, with a very 
heavy heart. This few provision could not last long and was only 
a fleabite for the lot.

From our place a t Bay M arie it was very often that we saw 
aligators passing across the bay nearly every m orning we saw 
them they looked like logs, one day we noticed tha t one of our 
ducks was in trouble, an aligator was after him  in the w ater in 
front of our house we could see the aligator making a lot of fuss, then 
we saw that he was after a duck, it was very curious to w atch the

28 Better known today under its Pidgin nam e (of Tolai origin), kunai.
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action of the duck, when the aligator turned to get hold of the duck 
the latter dived and came up a t the aligator tail, it kept going for 
a  while when we thought that the duck may become tired and 
succum b in the end so we settled the m atter by sending a few 
bullets a t the aligator whether we hit it or not we do not know, 
as he dived and disappeared, a 44 winchester is not m uch use on 
aligator, unless the hit is in a very vulnerable spot, though we saw 
them  crossing every day we never shot one, and we never had 
any oportunity to see one sunning himself, the fact was we did 
not trouble about them  at all, we never saw one coming on our 
shore and we never lost a duck, the instance m entioned above 
was the only one we noticed of having been troubled by aligator 
they must have been very timid, no doubt if we had been careless 
to go for a swim in the sea instead of the river there would be 
trouble, about 50 yards from our hu t there was a river bu t not 
very deep only we had a hole where we could dip and  we used 
it for our bath, the rest of the river was very shallow and  of stony 
bottom  we could cross it by jum ping from stone to stone, this 
river was not suitable for crocodile as it was too shallow, and the 
only fish to be seen was shrimps, the water was run ing  too fast 
for anything else, so we were free of the visit of the aligator in the 
river, however we took good care that there was none about 
before taking our dip, I think tha t this hole which was about ten 
feet long and eight feet wide must have been made by our pre­
decessors which could have been easily done by rem oving the 
stones provided they were loose stones really I do not think that 
any one of us ever troubled how it happened to be there where 
it was needed, I dont know, I presume we were not observative 
enough.

The same river one night played us a trick, a t about 10 p.m . 
one night we found ourselve with w ater up to our knees in our 
hu t rising out of bed we found w ater and splash into water, our 
floor being the earth and  the hu t not very solid we did not know 
if the whole thing would not be driven into the sea, it was raining 
heavily and very dark all we could do was to wait, the flood did 
not seem to rise, at daybreak we found ourselve surrounded by 
water, fortunately not deep, bu t all the cocosnuts were floating 
toward the sea and we lost a great num ber, with the exception 
of those we rescued, fortunately our poultry did not suffer they 
were housed in a bam boo house m ade for them, and tha t saved 
them  from being washed to sea, had the w ater rised higher we
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would have lost everything, and no doubt ourselves may have 
been washed into the sea and eaten by aligators or sharks, unless 
we managed to run up higher land which there was not very far 
only a few yards.

Another time we had another experience which we never will 
forget, one day my father D upre29 and myself we decided that 
we would go to Likiliki which was not very far by land, so we 
took a guide from Likiliki and went on the road so far appeared 
to be the following of a water course, but when we got over the 
cape and came to a small bay we found ourselves blocked by a 
cliff and unless we got a canoe it was a m atter for swim we did 
not think it advisable to risk it so it was agreed that our guide 
who could climb like a monkey would go to Likiliki and bring a 
canoe and bring us over, of course to the native way of calculating 
it was not far, however after we thought that we waited rather 
long time we decided to go back the way we came, and we 
arrived opposite Lam bom  Island just as it was getting dark, now 
to go along the coast was impossible owing to very tick jungle and 
also there was several little sandy beach where we had noticed 
aligator spreading themselve in the sun, the Island is in S traight 
Praslin and only about half a mile from where we were so we 
managed to make signs w ith flare of fire and after waiting a 
considerable time the Lam bom  natives came with a canoe, and 
we manage to get home nearly at day break very tired and with 
no more envie to go to Likiliki any more, I think that our guide 
had enough after a long walk and did not feel inclined to come 
back and so left us to manage the best we could, and we never 
found out the real tru th  about the m atter.

I think that I now know better that it was rather foolish for us 
to do because we may have run into a trap  and be killed, and 
perhaps had we waited it may have happen, that was one of the 
reason why we did not wait we were obliged to reflect a great 
deal on our escapade, and we thanked our star when we got 
back, we also were told later that where we passed it was the 
hunting ground of the kulolon bush native opossum hun ter , 30

29 A Norman from St Malo, not much older than M outon. He was the 
unofficial undertaker at Port-Breton (he m ade about thirty-five coffins) and 
became a Hernsheim trader a t V unakam bam bi near Vlavolo. He returned to 
France in 1892.
30 Seefn. 4L
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who m ade a trade with the opossum teeth, those were rather wild 
tribes and canibal above all, as far as canibal goes the Lam bom  
natives were also canibals.

The kulolon natives make practice to go hunting a t certain 
time of the year when there is not raining too much which would 
be in the south east monsoon, they are about thirty or forty in 
num ber they carry their cooked taros they are arm ed with heavy 
stick of about six feet long and about one and half inch thick 
m ade of hard wood and some possess spears but not many, when 
they are on those trip their principal hunting is opossum, on each 
opossum there is only four teeth I think or two I am  not sure 
those teeth are very greatly valued by the natives of New Britain 
and  New Ireland and are interchanged with to nearby natives, 
in time they are bleached white and are used as collars, the New 
Britain natives are using them  for collar of about 2 inch wide and 
w ear around the neck like the old time collars, the flesh of the 
opossum are good to eat and the natives are fond of it, they are 
also hunting wild pig etc.

W hile we were w aiting for the return  of the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ 
a few got the fever, one of the first who got it was Mrs. C ham baud, 
it was a very sad case, the Doctor had no quinin and this maladie 
was new to him, however after a hard struggle she m anaged to 
get over it after Mrs. Cham baud were a few more Pitoy and his 
wife died of it, a strong fellow who I saw felling trees only wearing 
his trousers head and back naked strong as a bull, pay for his 
carelessness he got the m alaria fever and die in a few days sick­
ness and a few more passed away that way.

At last one fine m orning the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ arrived after 
a very long wait, and brought a little hope to the poor peoples it 
was about time they were very disheartened, but unfortunately 
when the report of C aptain  Henry was related we found out that 
our trouble was not ended. The object of C aptain Plenry was to 
buy supply of provision for the people at Port Breton who were on 
the point of starving, therefore he bought all his requirem ent, and 
would be ready to sail again as soon as possible, he was only 
waiting for the bill to be paid, this however did not come and 
the vessel was kept as security until paym ent was m ade so an 
embargo was put on the vessel, in such case a part of the engine 
is taken out so that the vessel cannot leave its anchore w ithout 
it, w hat part it is I do not know, but fact is that the ship was kept 
prisoner and two officers were on guard on boat as well. During
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that period a typhoone was expected and for the safety of the 
vessel she was rendered able to go to sea by returning and fitting 
those part, and during the typhoone C aptain H enry let go his 
cable and sailed away with the two officers on board, and arrived 
at Port Breton, I understand that he pu t the officers on a Island 
not far from M anila, who turned out not worse for their experi­
ence.31

Two days after the arrival of the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ a Spanish 
M an-of-war arrived,32 she nearly got on the reef when she came 
in and Captain H enry seeing that she was in danger went to her 
in a rowing boat, after the M an-of-W ar was securely a t anchore 
Captain Henry was m ade prisoner, having become liable against 
the law by runaw ay with the goods and having contravened 
against an official while on duty, well tha t was a bad position to 
be in for Captain H enry no doubt, bu t there it was and he had 
to go through it.

The M an-of-W ar stayed three days I think to fix m atters, it 
was arranged by the Com m ander of the Spanish M an-of-W ar 
that provision for those who wished to stay would be left, and those 
who wished to leave could go on board the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ 
to M anila with the M an-of-war who put Spanish crew on board 
and kept company until she got to M anila, I father and D upre 
and several others rem ained but the bulk of the expedition went 
away, amongst them was Schurm an, Cham baud, the Judge and 
a num ber of the others,33 also owing to sickness the colons were

31 They were landed near the village of Dao on Panay Island. Captain H enry 
apparently expected that about £8000 would be waiting for him in M anila; 
instead, the M arquis had sent only £1000.
32 This was the Legaspi, a military transport ship, and it arrived on 12 Jan u a ry  
1882; another man-of-war, the Siren, rem ained a t Zam boanga (on the island 
of M indanao), ready to come to Legaspi''s assistance should it be needed. ‘The 
Spaniards believed . . . that the city of Port-Breton really existed; that, as 
asserted by the M arquis, it had  troops and artillery; they did not know that 
the title of “ Colonel” , bestowed by Charles I on his Governors, was in fact an 
empty gesture’ (Baudouin 1885: 204).
33 The Legaspi left on 20 January  1882 w ith sixty-five colonists and all the 
indentured Singapore labourers. Forty settlers decided to remain, including 
Cham baud. O f the sixty-five, three died in M anila soon after arrival, a few 
decided to settle there and the rest eventually returned to Europe. C aptain 
Henry was arrested but was set free in May, after three successive trials by the 
military, naval and civil authorities. T he contents of the Nouvelle Bretagne were
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very downspirited, and there was a fact, there could be nothing 
possible at Port Breton, to this day the place is unhabited by the 
natives, which prove bad enough.

Previous to this happening during the absence of C aptain 
H enry while he went to M anila for provision, there was trouble 
amongst the governing bodies, when C aptain H enry left the 
Colonie he appointed C ham baud as chief in com m and,34 but it 
was not very long when Captain R abardy tried to ride the high 
horse and wanted to be the master, and I think that there may be 
some fighting if the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ did not return, however 
C aptain R abardy was not liked, but he was master of the ‘Genii’ 
and in the eyes of the poor destitutes the ship was a great asset, 
as it was the only means of leaving the God forsaken place, so he 
had a good chance to succeed if Captain Henry did not return  
in time.

The ‘Genii’ with Captain R abardy in command rem ained with 
us, in all I presume that we were no more than 30 or 40 the 
‘Genii’ appeared to make some trips of her own sometime she 
would be away for 3 or 4 weeks, we never knew her movement, 
the C aptain would find some excuse of some sort to make it 
appear that it was for the good of the people he was doing those 
trips, even on one trip he went to Bougainville and brought a 
young girl w ith him, he stated tha t he rescued her from the 
natives35 he also stated that he was dealing with the chiefs about 
m aking everything ready when the other expedition would

sold by public auction and included such exotic wares as a num ber of punch 
and judy  shows, several cases of satin slippers and twenty-two cases of official 
stationery with the M arquis’ coat of arms. T he ship itself was eventually 
bought by the American shipping firm Peel-Hubel.

34 Before he left for M anila C aptain Henry appointed R abardy as ‘provisional’ 
Governor, in disregard of the M arquis’ instruction that ‘at no price do I want 
to lose the services of M r. C ham baud’. However, soon after the departure of 
the Nouvelle Bretagne, R abardy and C ham baud became ‘inseparable’ and ran 
the colony as a ‘duum virat’ (Baudouin 1885: 133-34). Since R abardy was 
away a great deal during this period (see next paragraph), it is easy to see 
why M outon thought that C ham baud was Governor.
35 H er name was T ani and R abardy had apparently bought her for two hatchets 
from a ‘K ing’ K opara. She became attached to her new master and guarded 
his cabin ‘like a dog’. She was almost certainly the only inhabitant of Port- 
Breton to be upset by R abardy’s death (see fn. 43).
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come , 36 one thing is certain, that in some way or other he must 
have had some influence with those natives because I later on 
found out that it was mostly impossible to recruit female native 
on Bougainville, he also had on board a sailor who had been kept 
prisoner by the Bougainville natives this sailor it seems was a 
survivor of one of the other expedition who got away with a boat 
from the rest, he had five or six men with him when he left 
bu t he was the only one left, I think that hunger or wreckage was 
the cause of the other missing, I do not know the nam e of the 
m an but I saw him on board the ‘Genii’ very often, I do not 
think that he was a Frenchm an because he had an accent what 
became of his companions he did not know, but it is more prob­
able that they were eaten by the canibals and part of Bougainville 
are canibals while the other is not, this I found out in later years, 
some story go that this sailor was bought by R abardy from the 
natives, and that others were kept and killed as they were wanted 
for feast, but I have no means to ascertain the fact, a t any rate it 
was one of R abardv’s yarns . 37

I think we must have been about three or four months waiting 
for news after the departure of the ‘Nouvelle Bretagne’ but none 
came we expected one of the vessels of the expedition to come 
either the ‘Ind ia’ or the‘C handernagor’ and when we found out 
that it was useless some of the m em ber of the expedition amongst 
them Dessus and D upre they took a boat and went to Mioko and

36 This is presumably a reference to R abardy’s ‘purchase’ of the entire southern 
part of New Ireland for a pound of tobacco, twenty-five pipes and some hand­
kerchiefs. Port-Breton was to be only a m inor depot and the m ain settlement 
was to be established further north, on the south-western shore of New Ireland 
(Baudouin 1885: 110). The m an who ‘sold’ the land to R abardy, the Lam bom  
headm an ‘K ing’ M aragano (or M aranganu), was apparently something of a 
ladies’ m an and had been chased away from his m ainland village for adultery.
37 The story has been repeated in Baudouin 1885: 113-16; Stephan 1905: 328 
and Romilly 1887: 14-15, and probably has some factual basis. The m an was 
an Italian called Boero and he was the only survivor of a group of six who 
‘escaped’ from Liki-Liki in a stolen canoe some time between the departure of 
the Chandernagor and the arrival of the M ethodist missionaries. T heir destination 
was Port H unter but the wind drove them to Bougainville. Five of them were 
said to have been eaten by the locals; Boero survived because of the ease with 
which he could burst into tears— ‘a phenomenon unknown to the natives’. He 
became a prized spectacle and was safe as long as he could produce tears on 
demand. He was said to have been bought by R abardy for two hatchets.
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I think M atupi, or they went with the ‘Genii’ which is more 
likely, to see Farrell and Hernsheim Farrell was m anager at 
Mioko for a Firm  at Samoa, and Flernsheim represented by 
Schulle38 at M atupi, it was then agreed to leave Port Breton on 
the ‘Genii’.

This decision was partly due to the fact that Farrell send a 
cutter a few days before and m ade approach toward helping for 
the leaving of Port Breton .39

The question became apparen t that it was a m atter of pro­
curing coal. Hernsheim  had no coal but Farrell had coal, as it 
was a m atter of force majeure, the arrangem ent was then made 
with Farrell who supplied enough coal to reach Sydney, under 
the condition tha t Farrell would become possessed of the ship 
‘M arquis de Rays’ with all her cargo as guarantee for the sum 
due for coal, if the account was not settled within three months I 
think.

W e were instructed to pack our belonging which was a ra ther 
big business for us as we had poultry, timber, and a lot of gears, 
all the clothing which never been used and I am  told enough to 
last us three years, but nothing was left everything movable was 
taken away, Farrell had a cutter with a whitem an and a crew 
of natives, the bulk was moved away on board the ‘M arquis de 
Rays’ and the ‘G enii’ as much as possible the buildings were 
demolished and the tim ber carried on board, and all the other 
goods, when everything was ready we were to move from Bay 
M arie the next m orning, my father went to Port Breton to see to

38 Friedrich Schulle, one of Hernsheim ’s ablest traders. He was Hernsheim ’s 
representative in N orthern New Ireland in 1879-80 and founded a dozen 
trading stations from his headquarters a t Nusa. His successor seems to have 
lacked Schulle’s skill: by 1883 only two posts were left and the main station 
had been burned down. Schulle returned to Nusa in 1884 and subsequently 
acquired considerable land holdings in his own name.
39 Possibly because he was at Bay M arie, away from the m ain settlement, 
M outon appears to have been unaware of the events which preceded the 
final evacuation. After the departure of the Legaspi, a conflict developed 
between R abardy and C ham baud (now officially Governor) on the one side 
and the rest of the ‘Forty’ led by Dr Baudouin, who were in favour of evacua­
tion. O n 4 February 1882 a meeting of the Colonial Assembly deposed Cham ­
baud, declared a republic and decided on imm ediate departure, by a ‘unanim ity 
minus one vote’— that of C ham baud; Rabardy, it seems, either abstained or 
voted for evacuation. By the time the decision was implemented, on 13 
February, four of the ‘Forty’ were dead.
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the arrangem ent and I was left behind with the rem aining gears, 
that was alright so long there was no unwelcome visitors, I had 
five or six natives from Lam bom 40 with me to keep me com pany 
until I was fetched by the boat to take me with the cargo.

To my horror a t about 3 p.m. the Gololon41 hunting party  
came down they were about 30 men old and young, all arm ed 
with the usual stick and other were arm ed with spears and clubs, 
this state of affair did not appear to me too healthy, I was sure 
that loot would be the result so I had all our rifles and shotgun, 
I gave the Lam bom  boys the firearms and I kept a revolver and 
a winchester, toward evening before it was too dark I agree w ith 
the Lam bom  natives that we must do something to protect 
ourselve against loot and perhaps m urder, so I used the building 
of the place who was strongly build and this was the fowlhouse, 
this was of about twenty feet long by about fourteen feet wide 
build of strong bam boo imported from Singapore, as it was build 
of bam boo against bam boo I could see between each stanchion 
of the wall, though this would not have been any protection 
against bullets it was a protection against spears, my only fear was 
that I may not be able to stop the loot.

Before dark I draw  a line on the ground, which separated the 
natives from the cargo and anything subjected to loot and by 
means of one of my Lam bom  interpreters I told them, that if any 
of them jum ped over the line I would shoot him dead and  that 
next m orning the other whitemen from Port Breton would be 
here to look for the cargo.

40 Comment on the m argin: ‘Wallis Island native name Laboum ’ (i.e. 
Lam bom ). I t  was nam ed Wallis Island in 1767 by C arteret in honour of the 
leader of the W allis-Carteret expedition and the discoverer of T ahiti, Samuel 
Wallis. Bougainville, one year later, nam ed it lie aux M arteaux, after the 
rare ‘ham m er mussel’ (malleus) which he found there.
41 Elsewhere M outon uses the name Kulolon but in the French version (p. 20) 
he refers to them  as the Golon: ‘Golon is a tribe which lives in the m ountains 
about 60 km from where we are’. Baudouin (1885: 277), in a section devoted 
to the discussion of local customs, speaks of the ‘Kings’ of Lamassa, Mimiass, 
Golonne, Candasse and Nomo. H ahl (1907: 310) lists the following ‘known’ 
localities on the south-east coast of New Ireland: Mimias, Morkon, Siara, 
Golon and Lam bon (in that order). The Golon, we m ay safely assume, belonged 
to the now virtually extinct men-bush (Baudouin 1885: 272-73) known as the 
Läget (which means bush), a ‘wild lot particularly addicted to killing native 
police’ (Cappell 1967: 499). In 1905 the Germans taught them  the ‘customary 
lesson’ and resettled most of them on the coast, south of M uliam a.
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For all tha t night I did not sleep a wink and the boys did the 
same, it appear that it was their interest to save their lifes as well 
as they were not too friendly with those bush men, only once a 
disturbance occured, one of the crowd no doubt w anting to test 
my instruction passed over the line then I fired a shot near enough 
to make him  feel the dirt lifted by the bullet, I see him  yet jum p  
in the air I had to laugh, to see his surprise I think tha t he really 
thought tha t he was hit, and I can see the fellows feeling him  over 
to see if he was hurt.

T h a t did the trick and a few minutes after one could hear a 
fly, they did not go very far, bu t instead of cam ping on the 
premises they cam ped on the bank of the river.

At day break they showed themselves, bu t as soon as they saw 
the boats coming they disappeared like lightning, with the 
exception of a few cocosnuts they d idnt take anything, only they 
gave me a bad anxious time while it lasted.

Loading our gears took some time then we left Bay M arie for 
good, our gears were pu t on board the ‘M arquis de Rays’ and 
when all were ready the ‘Genii’ towed the ‘M arquis de Rays’ to 
Mioko this did not take long we started in the morning and were 
a t Mioko before dark.

No sooner we were anchored that a gang of Farrell boys rushed 
on board climbing from all direction, D r Baudouin was the only 
one who stood on the gangway with a revolver in hand, bu t he 
was only one against 20 or 30 natives and Farrell, they other 
people did not even understood w hat was wrong, from that 
m om ent there was Farrell’s guard on board, to see that no cargo 
moved aboard the ‘Genii’ Farrell had  m anaged to have all he 
w anted on board the barque, so that he could keep control over 
it, this was a breach of the contract instead of waiting the lapse 
of time three or four months he took possession by force,42 we

42 T he contract (also known as the ‘T reaty  of Mioko’) was actually signed 
about three weeks after the settlers h ad  landed at Mioko, i.e. well after Farrell 
had laid hands on the Marquis de Rays and  its contents. The terms were as 
follows: Farrell advanced the settlers the sum  of £900 for a period of four 
months, and in return the settlers assigned to him  the Marquis de Rays, including 
‘all cargo in its holds’ (Baudouin 1885: 297). Note also M outon’s earlier 
comments th a t Farrell had  used similar strong-arm  tactics during the loading 
of the settlers’ possessions in Port-Breton; ‘I have seen at her house [i.e. Queen 
Em m a’s] furniture and valuable objects which came from the colony, and she
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could have made him suffer for it if we only knew what could 
have been done, we had enough am unition and firearms to take 
Farrell and his staff, but again it was better as it was we may 
have become outlaws.

After a couple of days at anchore we heard that C aptain 
R abardy was sick, and went on shore he was sick in the morning 
and died after a few hours on shore, the doctor did not think that 
he was that bad and could not understand this sudden death, to 
his opinion R abardy was not sick at all when he went on shore 
only a little indisposition, so the news of his death came to him  
as a shock, and mentioned the fact, and requested a post mortem  
to be done but Farrell would not hear of it, and a few hours after 
death the body was buried, with no proof to satisfy the Doctor, 
Farrell said that in this hot country the body must be buried at 
once, so Farrell had his own way, I even was told later tha t the 
grave was dug before R abardy was dead, bu t it cannot be true, 
stil that what the rum ours circulated at the tim e .43

After the death of C aptain R abardy, there were two things 
needed now, a new C aptain and coal, Farrell had both of them  
and he did not take him long to settle matters, his interest was to 
see the ‘Genii’ out of the way as soon as possible, coal and C aptain  
on board the ‘Genii’ left Mioko on a fine m orning , 44 with all the

does not attem pt to hide them .’ They included the colony’s altar (used as a 
buffet) and numerous family souvenirs, piously preserved from generation to 
generation—tapestry, embroidered foot-stools, bodkins, grandfather clocks, 
drawing room tables in Louis X V  style, pearl-shell sewing boxes, wedding 
presents made of precious wood, etc. (Festetics de Tolna 1904: 61-63, des­
cribing a 1895-96 visit).

43 Comment on the m argin: ‘Doctor [said?] Farrell poisoned R abardy—his 
grave was dug before he was dead’. R abardy was suffering from fever and 
Baudouin advised him to stay on board for medical reasons; when the doctor 
last saw him, he was depressed, had broken down and ‘cried convulsively’. 
The rum our that Farrell had poisoned R abardy was based on the fact that a 
cup, ‘empty and wiped dry’, was found near the body (Baudouin 1885: 288)— 
in other words, R abardy may well have committed suicide.
44 On 20 M arch 1882. The Genii struck a reef off the north coast of Queensland 
but m anaged to reach Cairns. After a stop of one m onth in M aryborough, it 
finally arrived in Sydney on 2 June, was put up for auction and sold for £2000. 
Most of the immigrants remained in Australia (five had earlier chosen to 
settle in Cairns), since the French consul would not repatriate  them. D r 
Baudouin practised for just under a year in Queensland and returned to 
France in June  1883.
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members of the expedition with the exception of Father, myself 
and D upre, D upre having m ade the trip before to M atupi had 
m ade arrangem ent to rem ain and trade for Hernsheim & Co. so 
no sooner the ‘G enii’ left Schulle came and took him to M atupi, 
there was only me and father left at Mioko, at the merci of 
Farrell.

W hen Schulle came for Dupre father had a conversation with 
him  and it was agree that we would also work for Schulle, but 
unfortunately while this was discussed at night on deck of the 
‘M arquis de Rays’ it appear that one of Farrell men understood 
french Schulle spoke french well so the conversation was carried 
in french, no one knew that this m an understood french, Dupre 
had nothing to keep back only his own few belonging, we on the 
o ther hand had a lot of gears to take in consideration, we had 
our poultry, utensils, and farmers tools, and all the clothing 
enough to last us for years, so in a way if Farrell wished and 
w anted my father for his own purpose we were not free to dispose 
of ourselve as we liked, it must be understand that Farrell took 
advantage of our ignorance regarding the possibilities, we were 
absolutely ignorant of the natives ways and the little we knew 
was to make us believe that we were practically in the hand of 
Farrell, we stayed a t Mioko for at least a week, during that time 
there were discussion between father and Farrell, he wanted 
father to work for him  and even at that time he had the am bition 
of starting a plantation in New Britain, and wanted father to be 
his m anager, of course there was an excuse for Farrell, he thought 
th a t father being associated with Schurm an was the m an he 
required believing father experienced planter he probably in his 
im agination was quite honest, bu t on father refusing the job  on 
the ground tha t he was not com petent to take the job on, which 
was the fact but Farrell being an Irishm an did not believe it, so 
this was the cause of further trouble with Farrell later.

Farrell did all w hat he could to torm ent father so that he made 
a contract with him as trading on one of his station, not having 
succeeded with the plantation business, father was rather reluc­
tan t to settle any agreem ent because he thought that news of the 
expedition may come yet before it was too late , 45 and at last

45 T he expedition M outon refers to is almost certainly that which left Barcelona 
for M anila on 1 Septem ber 1881 on the Barcelona. T he contingent consisted of a
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Farrell got tired of the whole m atter and make use of a very 
simple ruse, which was if  you do not sign this contract you will 
never see your son again, and it was a fact tha t though I was not 
a prisoner I could not come in speaking distance with my father, 
I must say to the credit of Farrell it was done neatly and  no 
doubt he was very conversant with the ignorance of new chums, 
of course father could not do anything else than  to sign the 
agreem ent under protest which did not avail him  of any advan­
tage, and there we were engaged by force you might say for 
Farrell, while we would have preferred to deal with Flernsheim, 
of course in those day it was our believe but on later experiences 
one was not better than  the other, at that time the usual rule was 
100% on goods and six pounds per ton for copra.

W hen time was ripe for Farrell to make use of us, he send us 
to New Britain to a place called Ravalien where he had a bam boo 
hut, the m an in charge of the boat which was only an open boat 
was a russian who spoke french and also a little native, his nam e 
was Rosenthal a young fairhaired fellow,46 he brought us a t the 
place and gave us a few instructions how to handle the business 
etc. he stayed a couple of days then he left us, with the under­
standing tha t we were sufficiently conversant in the way of buying 
cocosnuts from the natives for trade goods such as beads, h a rd ­
ware, tobacco in stick called twisted tobacco im ported from 
America 26 sticks to the pound, also firearms was sold to the 
natives.

At first things seemed very strange but we m anaged to act as 
we were told and the m ethod was to pay one stick tobacco for a 
num ber of cocosnuts ready shelled and ready to cut, for a gun 
we would receive so m any hundred cocosnuts clay pipes also was

num ber of settlers plus a group of Sacred H eart missionaries (see fn. 53); they 
were to be taken to their final destination by the Nouvelle Bretagne. In  the 
French version (p. 25) M outon says ‘father had  faith in the M arquis’ and that 
he intended to wait for three m onths before signing an  agreem ent w ith Farrell. 
Dupr6 apparently  felt the same way. He blam ed the failure of Port-Breton 
on the squabbling, laziness and insubordination of the colonists, and is reported 
to have said: ‘If  only the M arquis had come with us—how different things 
would have been!’ (Poulain 1883: 153).

46 Baudouin (1885: 295) refers to him  as a ‘Russian nihilist who had taken 
refuge in these distant lattitudes’.
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a great trade w ith them specially those representing a nigger 
head or something else, the more fancy it was the better, bu t the 
most usual clay pipes in those days was the one with a ship in 
full sail, calico was also an article of trade bu t not m uch, the 
natives were thoroughly naked men and women the only covering 
they had was on their neck or arms, and only those near the 
Mission wore loin cloth, in one instance I saw a young girl who 
had a loin cloth and when she came to sell her goods to me before 
coming she took off her loin cloth which is called lavalava, she 
did this quite unconsciously, simply as a m atter of habit, Farrell 
after a little while supplied us with an open boat rigged with a 
m ain sail and jib , of about 20 feet long but with a fair beam  so 
as to stand the sail, with this boat we were able to move about and 
get more cocosnuts, not far from where we were there was a 
G erm an T rader called Coenen who was about five miles further 
on the coast called R alum , this trader was one of the survivors 
of the ‘C handernagor’ who cleared out and left them, those had 
to make shift and drifted to the m ainland of New Britain and 
Mioko, and were distributed by the firms Hernsheim and Farrell 
to the different trading station on the coast of New Britain New 
Ireland and outside Islands, who were doing the same thing we 
were doing.

The principal article produce we were buying from the natives 
were, where we were cocosnuts which we dried in the sun, this 
took three days to m ature if there was fine sunny w eather, and 
more if rainy weather, this consisted of the flesh of the cocosnut 
cut in slices and spread on m ats m ade of cocosnut palm  leafs, 
which the natives m ade and bought a t twelve for a stick of 
tobacco,47 we used to spread them  and if fine weather left them 
until dried bu t when the rain came we had  to bring them in heaps 
and cover it with other mats to protect it from the rain  in such

47 Although M outon had missed the golden days o f the copra trade (1878-79) 
when a stick of tobacco could be exchanged for up  to forty nuts, when ‘axes, 
knives and firearms would fetch as m any nuts as were asked for’ (Parkinson 
1887: 85) and when copra sold in London for between £16  and £22 a ton 
(Blum 1900: 169; Finsch 1887: 525), his profits were still considerable. A pound 
of twist tobacco cost about 1/9-2/- f.o.b. in Sydney. W ith twenty-six sticks 
to the pound, the 6000-6500 nuts required to produce one ton of copra would 
have cost him  no more than £ 2 . Most traders prepared  the copra themselves; 
if local labour was required, it could usually be procured for one stick of 
tobacco a day.
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case it was a m atter of quick work, to get the boys to do the work, 
when the weather was favorable there was no trouble and some­
time it took only two days to dry, and m ade a very good white 
copra.

From the beginning father never recognized the agreem ent 
made with Farrell as valid, to him  it was a forced one, he had to 
sign on the point of a revolver, we threatened by a m an who was 
not better than a pirate, he w anted traders he forced them , he 
threatened us to be left amongst the natives and do the best we 
could, we did not know the natives then so it was a very serious 
threat in our eyes, he even one day told father that he would take 
me away from him.

O n that ground father did not stay on Farrell’s property, and 
after a couple week we started to buy a piece of land at Kokopo 
and build a house better than the hu t we were in, and w hen it 
was completed we shifted in to it.

Farrell at the time did not make objection of our shifting as 
long we were dealing for him, and we were quite a t peace for a 
while with Farrell, unfortunately the natives were not civilized 
and we had to be very careful how we dealed with them, they 
came to the m arket which was a fixed day every three days, that 
day the natives would come in great num ber and barter with 
copra or cocosnuts for trade, between the m arket day very little 
business was done, they would sell a few cocosnuts only, the 
proper business day was the m arket day.

It was my business to take the boat and go to K inigunan 48 to 
buy cocosnuts, and even as far as K abakaul, I would return  with 
a boatful this helped to produce more copra, in those day the 
natives were arm ed with spears and tomahawk, this consisted of 
a fantail hatchet with a long handle of about three feet long the 
end of it was ornam ental with some carving figure and painted 
with red, white, yellow, this handle was made of hard wood and 
polished, the spears were m ade of palm  wood and about nine to 
ten feet long, pointed at one end and a t the other generally bone 
or feathers the latter was very pretty, it was an a rt to make them,

48 T oday’s V unanam i, referred to as K inigunan in most early records. Powell 
(1884: 79) uses K ininigunun and Parkinson (1887: 78), K ininigunan. Note 
that it is an area not a village; thus ‘K inigunan is that area that I will call 
V unanam i’ (Salisbury 1970: 21).
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they were made of different birds feathers green red white etc, 
the bone consisted of a hum an thigh or a cassowary thigh bone, 
the hum an thigh bone was very much appreciated owing to the 
fact tha t it represented the fall of an enemie, and when I asked 
them  about it they would m ention the nam e and state that he 
killed him  in a fight, and he was quite proud about it too, others 
were arm ed with club, they also used a sling m ade of pandanus 
leafs and the string m ade of fibre twisted like a rope, with this 
they throw hard round pebbles of about the size of large plum , 
some of them  were very accurate with it. I saw a native kill a 
bird from a tree, and m any clever feats done with it, those pebbles 
are very hard and like blue metal, one of their clubs is m ade of 
a round stone the size of an orange, in the middle is an hole large 
enough to take an ordinary stick of about one and a half inch 
diam eter of hard wood, the stick is fixed into the hole the top of 
the stick is thicker a t the head so as to keep the stone secure and 
finally it is kept solid with putty  m ade of native plant one of them 
is a fruit like a chestnut the kernel of which is scraped and when 
this is dry it become very hard, in fact the smell is very m uch like 
linseed oil, with this putty  they manage to make a very good 
solid job  and the stone rem ain firm, the stone is generally found 
in river bed, the stick is about four feet long, it m ust be the work 
of patience to drill the hole, and it is m ade stone against stone, a 
small stone is secured by putty  and string to an handle and this 
is m anipulated by a bow, it is of very slow progress bu t they have 
plenty patience, and this im plem ent is very efficient I can assure 
you, the handle being a little flexible give it powerful impetus.

We were also arm ed and it was not out of place in the point 
of view of the natives, the beginning was very trying owing to the 
attitude of the natives, a t night one of us was keeping guard while 
the other slept we were specially doubtful about our firearms, 
and we were new in the country having no knowledge of the 
natives custom, and while doing our dayly duty we had a revolver 
in holster ready for any emergency, I found out later tha t it was 
not quite necessary, bu t who know. O n one of my excursions for 
copra a t K inigunan, I had an  accident, the sea was very choppy 
and the boat rocked very badly, I gave instruction to my crew 
who had muzzle loaded gun to load the gun bu t keep the cap 
out of the gun and there would be plenty of time to put the cap, 
well this instruction was not carried out, so when the boat started 
to rock and the natives showing rather nasty on the beach, my
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crew feared an  attack and got hold of the gun, one of the guns 
fell against the rib of the boat and the gun went off, a bullet 
entered the abdom en of one crew and one nipped the tip of the 
ear of another.

There I was in a very bad fix, the natives on the beach started 
to yell and my crew started to pull for all they worth to get out 
of the place it was fortunate for me tha t they were not on good 
term  w ith the beach natives, the natives followed the boat on 
the beach up to our place when I arrived it was low tide and  as 
soon as we touched bottom  the crew left me the sand from the 
boat to our house was about fifty yard and I had to pass through 
two rows of natives all arm ed ready to drop me, I with my 
carabine in one hand and my revolver in the other I kept going, 
to this day I cannot understand why I was not killed, because 
it only required a knock on the head and it would be the end of 
course I would have killed one of them  before one could kill me 
but that was all the next one could kill me easy, I m anaged to 
reach the house father did not know w hat had happen until I 
reached him  then the natives were into the house looking for our 
firearms fortunately they were behind a box out of sight, w ith the 
exception of the revolver on father there was two winchesters and 
shot guns, my father got hold of an axe and m aking m oulinet49 

with it got the natives out of the house.
W e shut the house and we were surprised to find one of our 

boy with us, the natives outside send stone after stone against the 
house and tried to get hold of any vulnerable spot, we fire above 
their heads we did not w ant to kill, it would be the last th ing  we 
would do, however while there was a lull I got out of the house 
to see w hat was going on, for my inquisitiveness I m et a native 
with spear poised over me and in avoiding the spear a t the same 
time I fired bu t missed the next movement he was a t me with 
his tom ahawk to finish me but I had time to reload and he was 
too late, and  he realized it as well he jum ped clear out of my 
sight behind banana plants, I had the spear in my thigh, father 
pulled it out when I reached the house, I bandaged it with an 
handkerchief and looked for targets bu t could find none, I do not 
know w hat happened bu t the natives became more cautious and 
it was under shelter that they kept slinging their stone, it was 
good-bye to our fowls and anything portable outside, however

49 A gallicism; faire moulinet means to flourish.
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we m anage to get the boy who was with us to send word to 
Coenen who was only no more than five miles from us, he came 
with his boys and that was the end of the trouble for that day, 
w hen the attackers saw Coenen coming with his boys they cleared 
out for their lives, the spear got about six inches in my thigh as 
the attacker was above me he throwed his spear in a down way 
direction and only got the flesh downward, the m ain thing was 
to keep the wound clean, which we did with carbolic w ater as 
soon as we were under calm er condition, it is the custom with 
the natives that we were responsible for the accident and with the 
help of Coenen we paid the relatives tha t settled the m atter , 50 and 
when we did our part we got the natives to return  some of our 
poultry, and in a few days we got them  all nearly back.

The next day in the morning half dozen natives came down, 
and  passed rather uncom plim entary remarks about our m arks­
m anship, so to prove that they were wrong I made a circle on a 
coconut tree near by about the place where the head stand, then 
I went about fifty yards and shot two shots in the circle, then 
turning the gun in their direction I told them  if they did not 
clear out quick they would have it, of course it was a point 
necessary to re-establish our prestige, and even I would have shot 
to kill in that case, fortunately it was not needed.

The native who speared me had to pay ten fathom tam bu 51 to 
me to settle the wound he inflicted on me, it took some time but 
a t tha t time I was more conversant in native customs and grad­
ually the m atter was settled, and thereafter our intercourse with 
the natives got on better to a certain point.

It was after tha t tha t father m ade arrangent with Coenen to 
get his supply from him, this was rather foolish because Coenen 
was dealing with Farrell, in fact it was more than foolish because 
though we did not deal direct with Farrell he did not loose any­
thing, we were dealing for him  indirectly, only it m ade Farrell 
ra ther wild about it. L ater we had reason to feel Farrell’s revenge, 
Coenen for his part did not threat us too well, then father found 
out his mistake, we did not bring m atter to better understanding, 
I think Farrell having gone so far thought that father was playing

50 According to the French version (p. 31), the m an who had been shot in the 
stomach died— a fact which is not mentioned here.
61 Shell m oney; M outon refers to it in several subsequent passages and also 
in fn. 82.

73



the game, and the attitude of our trying to avoid Farrell m ade 
him anger toward father, then Farrell claimed the land we bought 
from the natives as his property, on the ground tha t we had  no 
right to buy the land for ourselve, father defied him, bu t it did 
not do any good, at last father m ade arrangem ent with Hernsheim  
and then we shifted to K inigunan where father m ade another 
house, but before father did that, father refused to give the boat 
up to Farrell on the ground that we were in credit to about double 
the value of the boat, of course now I can see tha t father was 
wrong, well it happened that father pay a visit to Father N avarre 
a t Nodup that is I think in 1883 or 1884 during the night the 
boat disappeared Farrell who had his people watching took 
advantage and took the boat, father returned home with a native 
canoe, and we had no more boat, so father m ade an  agreem ent 
with Hernsheim & Co. and we shifted to another place K inigunan 
as mentioned, father tryed to claim the land at Kokopo but 
Hernsheim who was G erm an consul52 advised to let it go, it is 
very unfortunate we did, bu t at the time Hernsheim aim was to 
get father free of Farrell.

I may mention that Father N avarre with some other priests 
came by the ‘C handernagor’, who landed them 53 and went away 
again, only stayed a couple of day, she went to some place and 
was confiscated for debt.

52 Appointed by the Im perial Chancellor under the provisions of the law of 
10 Ju ly  1879 concerning consular jurisdiction. His powers as regards G erm an 
subjects were broadly similar to those exercised over British subjects by Romilly 
as Deputy High Commissioner for the W estern Pacific.
53 As mentioned in fn. 45, several Sacred H eart missionaries sailed from 
Barcelona on 1 September 1881 to re-established the V icariat of Melanesia and 
Micronesia, vacant since the evacuation of the W oodlark Island mission in 
1855. The group consisted of Father Joseph Durin, the mission Superior, 
Father Andre-Louis Navarre, Father Theophile Cramaille, Brother George 
Durin, a nephew of Joseph, and Brother (later Father) Mesmin Fromm. 
According to D upeyrat (1935: 42), the move was initiated in 1880 by a group 
of Sacred H eart missionaries who had settled in Barcelona after being exiled 
by the Ferry Government, and in M arch 1881 the order was formally requested 
by the Sacred Congregation for the Propagation of Faith to supply missionaries 
for the venture. The group arrived in M anila about the same time as C aptain 
Henry, left for Batavia on 9 December 1881, spent five months there waiting 
for further instructions and finally reached M atupit on 28 Septem ber 1882, 
after a journey which took them  to Singapore, Cooktown and Sydney. From 
M atupit they went to Nodup where they stayed until April 1883 when they 
moved to Kinigunan.
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By that time after having our boat taken we did not take long 
to move to K inigunan, father having already arranged to make 
a hu t this is m ade with bam boo and in a few days it is done.

W e are now under Hernsheim & Co. contract, and so far we 
are clear of Farrell, Hernsheim supplied us a boat the usual thing 
in those days and we are keeping trading in the usual m anner , 54 

Farrell never gave us our extra clothings and the tim ber he kept 
that, I presume he thought that he was entitled to it, some of 
those goods were from H auterm an family and had nothing to do 
w ith the expedition, but that did not stand good with Farrell 
later on it was a common thing to see some of Mioko natives 
w earing our cloths, however I think now had father been a little 
more diplom atic and kept trading for Farrell we would have been 
m uch better off, by changing we did not better ourselve and made 
an  enemy of Farrell in the bargain, all my father’s complaints to the 
G erm an Man-of-war or to Hernsheim  were of no avail, they only 
laughed at my father. The G erm an officers when going to Mioko 
were invited by Farrell who explained m atter in a different way, 
together with cham pagne dinner to wash it, there was no chance 
in either way to have justice.

W ith the ‘C handernagor’ came the Sacred H eart Mission, 
Father N avarre, Father Cram aille and Brother V atan 55 who 
landed at Nodup where Father Lanuzel one of the first Missionars 
of the Sacred H eart Mission who came with the M arquis de Rays 
former expedition who landed a t Nodup had a hu t build there. 
Father Lanuzel came by the ‘Ind ia ’ I think that he went away 
by the ‘Genii’ to Sydney when she left.

N odup was not very large piece of land and after a little while 
Father N avarre bought a piece of land at Kokopo from the 
natives, and shifted to Kokopo, the hut they build was m ade of 
grass just a roof over the ground tha t is a two long bamboos as 
frame spaced two feet apart and bound together by strip of 
bamboos like lattices fastened with ratan  (or kanda) on this grass 
was attached up to the pointed head, it must have been about

54 The boat usually became the trader’s property after he had delivered so 
much copra. In the case of Farrell’s traders the quantity  was set a t twenty 
tons, or £120 worth of copra (Baudouin 1885: 289). Hernsheim ’s terms were 
presumably the same.
55 Not Brother but Father (Louis) V atan. Fie did not come with Navarre on 
the Chandernagor but with Father Fernand H artzer and Father Benjamin 
Gaillard in M arch 1884, almost two years later.
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forty feet long or perhaps fifty, this was only a makeshift, and I 
think that they had trouble a t N odup w ith the weather, one day 
in a heavy storm they were nearly washed out of Nodup, Nodup 
is a t the foot of the M other and where they were situated was 
just on the side of the m ountain so a heavy storm brought torrent 
of water rushing down and taking everything with it fortunately 
they were installed on a little knoble and that saved them, bu t it 
was enough to w arn the priests that N odup land where they were 
was not a place suitable for the Mission, it was impossible to make 
any progress there.

Here again Farrell showed himself, not against us this time but 
against the Mission, he informed Father N avarre that the land 
was his property tha t he had bought it from the natives some 
time ago, on information it was proved to be false, and Father 
Navarre was quite satisfied that he was in his right and Farrell in 
the wrong.

About a m onth after the mission was installed at Kokopo and 
thinking of making arrangem ent to get m aterial from Sydney, 
and quite contented that they had a start, a catastrophe occured 
during a dark night the place was on fire, from our place father 
and I we heard the explosion of bamboos, and sure enough we 
saw the Mission on fire, we rush to the place which was only about 
fifteen minutes walk and there we found the Missionars moving 
all they could from the fire, they saved very little bu t fortunately 
for them the fire started at one end and saved the m ain im por­
tant m atter such as documents etc. by the statem ent of the natives 
which I managed to investigate, the cause of the fire was one of 
Farrell’s doing, he did not w ant anybody installed on the land 
and he made provision that it could not be done, however in 
those days there was no m ean to get justice, and this m atter had 
to rem ain as it was for the present . 56

The fathers stayed with us for a while then they bought a piece 
of land a t M alaguna in Blanche Bay and shifted there when their 
house was build of native m aterial, bu t this time they were wise

56 I t would seem that M outon was right in his belief that Farrell was to blame 
for the fire. See, for instance, Hueskes (1932: 27): ‘O n the instigation of a 
white settler the straw hut was set on fire during the night of 27 Ju n e  1883,’ 
and Jouet (1887: 66): ‘I t was not the K anakas we suspected, but a W hitem an 
. . .  a Catholic . . . m ay the Lord forgive h im !’ Salisbury (1970: 27) says that 
the mission records in H iltrup ‘make veiled suggestions that this was done at 
the instigation of M ethodist teachers a t V unanam i’.
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and m ade their house with proper walls and roof forming a shed, 
with partitions as required, it was the best move they could do it 
was no use for the Mission to fight Farrell, for one thing they 
could not prove that Farrell pay a native a gun to do it, fancy a 
grass hu t reaching to the ground on each side w hat a fuel for 
fire, the native set fire by throwing a charcoal which caught fire 
by the wind, a t night there is a land breeze blowing as a rule, 
the native knew that and for two reasons the native used this 
method, first it was quite simple to carry a bit of charcoal which 
would not be noticed, while a fire torche would be seen, on the 
second consideration the escape would occur before the fire 
started, very clever for an  alibi, bu t in this case it was not the 
aim, the aim was to get away out of the way undetected, of course 
I found out all this much later after having kept inquiries it must 
have been some months before I got the truth, but w hat was the 
use as Father N avarre said there was only prove for them  that it 
was done intentionally, bu t very dangerous to act on those 
indications, and beside there was no court, and tha t settled it, 
the best conviction on earth  would have been of no use.

The Missionars were very well supplied with provisions and 
all church ornam ent in silver and other metal, they had divided 
the hut in two portions, one part they lived in and the other they 
used as store as the fire started from the living part they saved 
a little bu t all the church ornam ent we found them melted, it 
was by accident that the fire was detected in time to save their 
life, I think Father Cramaille was the first to notice it and gave 
the alarm , a t tha t m om ent it was just starting, so they moved 
w hat they had time to move before the big blaze started, which 
lasted only a few minutes, when Father Cramaille notice the fire 
his first move was to get the chest which contained the documents, 
amongst them  was the title m ade by Father N avarre with the 
natives confirming the purchase of the land, in those days it was 
the only way, make an agreem ent like stating the lay of the land 
to the best of knowledge as stated by the native proprietor who 
showed the boundary, and signed by the native by a cross and 
witnessed by some w hitem an , 57 the witness was my father such

57 An example of an early ‘p roPerly executed conveyance’ (between Farrell 
and a group of Duke of York villagers) can be found in Sack (1971: 176).
The document specified the sum the villagers received for their land (£52  in 
goods), described in extremely vague terms the land in question (‘one thousand
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docum ent constituted a legal title of purchase, and no doubt if 
lost would be rather hard to duplicate, the original native perhaps 
been informed to keep off the transaction in future by party  
concerned.

W hile this occured our friend Dupre was established a t V una- 
kamkambi on the north coast of New Britain for Hernshein & Co. 
and was doing well he was out of all the troubles, and it didnt 
take him long to m aster the native language, and so did I father 
could only manage the pigin English so far only a word here and 
there, it was when the Mission had been some time at M alaguna 
that Father Navarre started to buy land a t Vlavolo with the help 
of Dupre it was an easy m atter, Vlavolo was only about six mile 
from Vunakam kam bi on the coast, the usual com m unication was 
by boat or canoe, or by native path  along the coast.

W hile Father Cram aille was stil with us I had another narrow 
escape, father went to Mioko in our boat and was rather late in 
coming back and the natives began to show nasty, to their m ind 
father and the crew met with an accident and perished, though 
we did not think that it was the case, I heard the natives dis­
cussing the share of our body as a feast, one say he will have an 
arm  the other part of the leg, etc. it was very unpleasant to hear 
my own body and Father C ram aille’s to be divided by those 
hungry wolfs by the way of their talk, at the time I was quite 
conversant enough with the language to understand w hat they 
were saying, bu t the natives did not know yet, they thought that 
they could boast for all their worth at my expense, owing to bad 
w eather father was three days in coming back so Father C ra­
maille and myself had a very unpleasant waiting, father a t Mioko 
could not very well with the bad weather, we knew that it was 
more likely the case but it did not suit the natives way of thinking, 
in their heart they wished that father and crew perished, so that 
they could kill us and take possession of our belonging, and  by 
the way they were talking have a good feast out of us, it was only 
the second day that the natives showed restive and the third it

five hundred acres more or less’) and concluded: ‘We the undersigned acknow­
ledge receipt of paym ent in full. We further declare that we are the right and 
lawful owners of the above described land, in witness thereof we have sub­
scribed our names.’
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was practically settled that it was a fact, then I told father 
Cram aille that the natives said and that we must prepare for the 
worst.

I had plenty guns for trading at the time because we used then 
for sale to the natives, so beside my winchester and revolver, we 
loaded all the guns I had ready to be used, and we could shoot 
through the wall between bamboos, so the only thing to do was 
to wait events, I did not think that they would do anything at 
night bu t will start in the morning that was the fourth day, as we 
did not know at the time exactly the custom of the natives we 
were on the qui vive58 all night bu t we were prepared to sell our 
life dearly.

At day break father returned with the crew and all well, I then 
noticed that some of the natives were rather disappointed, and 
showed long faces, that settled all their boasting, I did not forget 
to make use of their boasting, to shame them, they were quite 
surprised when I told them  w hat they were saying, owing to the 
fact that I was responsible for the crew according to their custom 
I should have been their victime or pay the pot.

Amongst their unjust rules some one has to pay for the lost one, 
w hether it is your fault or not, in this case they would put the 
blame on me and Father Cramaille, and for this reason they were 
all painted and arm ed to the teeth, no wonder that they were 
disappointed when father turned up, having gone all that trouble 
for nothing, they did not reckon on our defence at all, now that 
I know the natives it is a toss up if we would not get the best of 
them, because I found out that in all their fighting very seldom 
there is m any victims, and as we were determ ined and we would 
have shot a few before they could get us.

O ur present dwelling was rather too near the creek and while 
there was a storm we were nearly washed away, so we decided 
to shift, this time we m ade a ra ther fine house, on piles and the 
walls made of small bamboos or ra ther a kind of cane the thick­
ness of the little finger, this worked in two layers m ade a good 
wall, for floor we had m ade of palm  strips nailed on bush tim ber 
frames, com pared with the other dwellings that was a palace, 
for the first time we did not have the soil for floor.

68 On the alert (literally, ‘who goes there?’).
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I t  was year 188559 that we noticed tha t Farrell was buying 
land from the natives, also noticed that others were doing the same 
so we follow suit, with my knowledge by that time of the natives 
language and very well acquainted with their custom it was very 
little trouble for me to purchase land, a t that time I was no 
longer with father while father was at K inigunan I was at K aba- 
kaul about four mile further east, I thought if we did not buy 
land we would be left in the lurch, the only trouble was to have 
Hernsheim & Co. to make an alteration on our contract, by 
allowing us to buy land for ourselve. Fortunately for us H erns­
heim was not inclined to buy land a t that time, had we been with 
Farrell we never have been able to buy land he w anted all for 
himself, in no time with my knowledge I m anaged to buy the 
land, something like five thousand acres in all, I would have 
bought more which I had ready fixed with the natives a t K aba- 
kaul but father did not w ant it, it would be a m atter of a couple 
days and a little trade which we had, father missed it and Farrell 
bought it, this was a great mistake from my father because it 
proved later a good asset for Farrell, it would have been very 
im portant for us in our trading business, poor father could not 
see further than his nose, we had the means and he did not take 
it ,60 and w hat a boom it would have been it was more mortifying 
to me because I kept the natives from selling to Farrell I had all 
the names done and it was only a m atter of paying and make an 
agreement, I have been very sorry tha t I did not take it on 
myself, bu t I think at the time I was not quite 21 years old, it 
must have been something like that which prevented me, because

59 E ither a typing mistake or a mistake of fact, since the land rush was virtually 
over by 1885. The date should be either 1882 or 1883, more likely the latter, 
if only because in the next paragraph M outon says: ‘I t was just at that time 
[i.e. early 1883] that Farrell started the R alum  plantation . . .’ Fn. 60 is also 
relevant here.
60 M outon Senior came to regret (though apparently only half-heartedly) h i s 
lack of business acumen. T have bought much land, I don’t know how m uch 
because I haven’t been able to have it surveyed. I t cost me 500 dollars, three 
or four years ago. I could have bought the whole island for th at sum’ (M outon 
Senior to M adam e Sapart, 18 M arch 1886). In  the same letter he said: ‘We 
are happy and contented, better off than the likes of us in Belgium.’ Note also 
his comment that ‘life is more relaxed here than  in Europe’ (M outon Senior 
to Monsieur Arm and, 2 Ju ly  1885). Both letters are in the possession of Mrs 
Sturrock.
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I have regretted that my father never took the opportunity  to 
take advantage of my having all fixed for him.

I t was just a t that time that Farrell started the R alum  p lan ta­
tion Farrell brought from Buka 150 labourers and started to clear 
the land a t R alum  where Coenen was about one mile from his 
station, one nam ed Parkinson61 whom he brought from Samoa 
started for him, this has proved very successfull enterprise.

W hile this was in progress we were still trading for Hernsheim, 
then for the first time we got opposition, next door to us about 
ha lf a mile from us, Mioko Agency put a trader nam ed Brandt, 
the latter was one of the survivor of the ‘C handernagor’ expedi­
tion, a G erm an by nationality.

B randt having been in business on different part of the Islands 
for Mioko Agency, was very m uch more experienced in the way 
of trading, and he would have been a very strong opposition for 
us, he also had instruction to buy land from the natives, fortun­
ately for us he did not receive w hat he w anted to do the business 
and  came too late, I understood tha t he was a little disgusted 
with his firm, he was not too anxious to see the firm having the 
land so he did not trouble about buying w hat was left, and there 
was plenty left, for a while, he could have had a good slice, but 
when he got the goods to buy Farrell was ahead, Parkinson m ade 
a big sweep for several days he was busy buying for Farrell.

B randt proved to be a good neighbor, and we divided the 
trading business prety well, bu t unfortunately he did not stay very 
long the firm send him  on other station, and put another one 
with instruction to make a strong opposition to us, for a time it 
was copra war, the rule when he came was twelve nuts for a stick 
of tobacco and we were not doing too bad, the next neighbor 
started to pu t it down a t ten nuts we did the same, and he pu t it

61 T he son of an Englishman who had settled in Schleswig-Holstein, R ichard 
Parkinson was born in 1844, taught English in Heligoland, went to Samoa in 
1877 to work as surveyor for Godeffroy and Son, m arried one of Em m a’s 
sisters in 1879 and moved to New Britain three years later. H e worked for the 
New Guinea Com pany between 1889 and 1900 when he rejoined Em m a’s 
business empire. H e was an ethnologist of repute and published some twenty 
articles and two monographs, including the m onum ental Dreissig Jahre in der 
Suedsee (1907) which had been translated and edited by N. C. Barry and is 
available in typescript form in several Australian research libraries. H e died 
in an accident in 1907. For a sym pathetic portrait of his wife Phoebe see 
M ead (1960). She died in New Ireland in 1944.
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down even less so we fixed this m atter on a different principle 
when it come to six cocosnuts for a stick of tobacco, after the 
m ark ten for a stick we put it for less two nuts at the time but we 
only used a few pounds of tobacco and would not buy more and 
so on we let him have it, and brought it down until by continuing 
buying as he did he was buying at a loss he m ade the copra all 
right, but when it came to reckoning he was very much in debt 
to the firm, the firm only paid for a ton of copra six pounds and 
in M exican dollars62 a t that per ton of 2240 lbs. so it did not take 
long to make a mess of it, then the Mioko Agency came to the 
conclusion to give it up, and it was the last of the opposition.

In 1884 the same year, the Germans hoisted the G erm an flag 
in front of our house and we heard on all the different Islands so 
the Island became Germ an colonie, previous to that the Germans 
had started trading. Farrell himself though he was of Irish descent 
m anaged for Godeffroy established at Samoa, the Man-of-war 
who hoisted the flag in November that year was ‘Elizabeth’, then 
for the first time we had officialdom to deal with, the first Official 
wras V an O ertzen63 established at M atupi and acting as G erm an 
representative under the title of Commissar.

In  1885 Von O ertzen gave instruction that all the selfmade

62 Latter-day relations of the Spanish dollar current in New South W ales 
around 1820, Mexican dollars m ade their way into South-East Asia after 1850. 
Although the New Guinea Com pany had introduced Germ an Im perial 
currency into the Protectorate in 1887, cash transactions continued to be 
effected largely in pounds sterling or in Mexican dollars. Because of the presence 
of coolies from Singapore and the D utch East Indies, they were particularly 
popular in Kaiser W ilhelmsland, even though their value was subject to 
considerable fluctuation (between 2/3d. and 3/—). In 1899 the Mexican 
dollar was worth only 2 /Id. on the Singapore money m arket (Tappenbeck 
1900:535).
63 Arrived in New Guinea in June  1884 to represent Germ an interests under 
the direction of the Germ an Consul-General in Apia, and became Im perial 
Komissar or Commissioner after annexation in November 1884. A Kotnissar, in 
the Germ an colonial set-up, was a Governor in all but nam e ‘sent out in the 
early stages, when Germ an policy was based on the idea of protectorates to 
temporarily look after the affairs of a colony’ (Leutwein n .d .: 15). As Komissar, 
Von Ortzen prohibited the recruiting of labour for non-Germ an territories, 
the selling of arms and amm unition to villagers and the buying of native land 
without official permission. Although the New Guinea Com pany was granted 
an Im perial charter in M ay 1885, the first Landeshauptmann (Adm inistrator), 
Vice-Admiral von Schleinitz, did not arrive in Finschhafen, the first ‘capital’ 
of the colony, until Ju n e  1886.
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titles should be presented to the Commissar with an approxi­
m ated m easurem ent given for acknowledgement, we did what was 
w anted. D upre did the same, to our surprise Dupre had no 
difficulty and Von O ertzen acknowledged his title D upre having 
also bought land on the north coast where he was, those agree­
ments had to be translated in Germ an, the Mission in that case 
helped us, some of the Fathers were Germ an and they obliged us 
with fixing the translation.

T he Mission themselve could not understand why Von O ertzen 
refused to acknowledge our titles which were in order according 
to instruction. The reason given by Von O ertzen was that the 
land had been bought by Farrell and that he claimed it, all 
father’s explanation was of no avail. Von O ertzen would not 
recognize father’s claim.

This was very clear to father that Farrell again was behind the 
scene and with his Sam oan girls and cham pagne he bribed the 
poor fool Von O ertzen , 64 there was no use to claim any more all 
w hat father did was to write the tru th  to Von O ertzen and the 
same to Hernsheim, of course from Hernsheim he got the cold 
shoulder and disapproval for using such terms and reasons, Von 
O ertzen was quite wild with father, even it went so far as to cause 
trouble in our trading.

Farrell again had the help of a G erm an M an-of-W ar to act for 
him, we had established some huts on the coast with natives as 
traders on the land we bought, Von O ertzen gave order to the 
M an-of-W ar to destroy all the huts which they did, so we were 
again against it, the reason for Farrell’s action was to prevent us 
to take possession in any form of our property.

Father wrote a very long letter to the Belgian Consul in Sydney 
explaining the situation as it was, father addressed the letter to

64 Farrell’s modus operandi had been commented upon by several contemporaries.
‘We were enjoying our cigarettes and beer, when one of the Houris of Paradise 

arrived on the scene . . . H er appearance completely took our breath away . . . 
She was of medium h e ig h t. . . with the bust of a Venus, and with supple limbs 
like alabaster . . . W as it to be wondered a t that my friend was enchanted by 
the vision, when two such hard-hearted  mortals as K -h and I were sensibly 
affected?’ (Pitcairn 1891: 167-68). See also E. Hernsheim, ‘Memoirs’, p. 152, 
quoted in Sack (1971: 185): ‘T he nice and approachable nieces and cousins 
did not fail to make Ralum  the centre of attraction of all unm arried employees 
of the Neu Guinea Kom pagnie. Queen Emm a herself, like the Empress 
Elizabeth of Russia, could accomplish miracles in love m aking and drinking.’
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the Belgian Consul Sydney Australia, knowing that it was of no 
use to use the usual post which was only by any vessel chartered 
by Hernsheim or Farrell, and that it never would be posted, 
father acted differently, he gave a sovereign to a sailor and told 
him  to post the letter at the first port the ship m ade the ship was 
a three masted barque loading copra for Hernsheim, and brought 
coal for Hernsheim who was the provider for the G erm an Navy. 
The sailor kept his word, father having explained tha t it was 
im portant and that the ordinary way would not be safe, after a 
lapse of time of nearly a year, father received a message from V an 
O ertzen to send all his land titles to him  for registration, a few 
days after we received a letter from the Belgian Consul from 
Sydney, stating that the m atter had been forwarded to the foreign 
M inister in Berlin and that he is instructed to take notice of our 
claim, the same as the others, the reason why father did not get 
the letter sooner is because Von O ertzen was not too sure of 
himself and asked father to leave m atters as they were and not 
to mention anything of w hat had happen, father told him that 
the only blame he could find in him  is that he was a weak man, 
that Farrell was the culprit.

I t is quite clear that if father had not used this stratagem  to 
circumvene Farrell, any ordinary way to send a letter to the 
Consul and even to other address would never have reached their 
destination, for the simple reason that Von O ertzen knew that he 
was doing wrong, and Hernsheim  would take the part of Von 
O ertzen, and as there was a kind of a m ailbag m ade for any ship 
available for postage for the public and the Governm ent, any 
letter from father would certainly have been censored.

I think that it must have been in the year 1886, tha t Hernsheim  
m ade a proposition to father and Dupre, to enter into p artner­
ship and conduct K inigunan and N orth coast together, he 
proposed to supply goods a t so m uch above cost prices and buy 
copra at so m uch a ton. I forget the term  of the transaction ,65

65 T he contract, which ran  for two years, was signed on 1 November 1885 
between M outon, Dupr6 and Co. (the partnership was formed at the same 
time) and Hernsheim. T he terms, as they affected the Moutons, were as 
follows: Hernsheim supplied them  with a cottage and a boat each and agreed 
to supply them  trade goods at 20 per cent above cost price (‘more than  50%  
cheaper than before’), while he continued to buy their copra a t £ 6  per ton. 
In  November 1885 the M outons had only two trading posts; five m onths later 
they had five (M outon Senior to M me Sapart, 18 M arch 1886).
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Hersheim then supplied us with a w eatherboard cottage, but he 
would not build on our land so we sold him the land where the 
cottage was to be erected, the cottage came from Sydney ready 
m ade all we had to do was to erect it, that did not take us long 
to do, a t the same time I was supplied with cottage also but only 
m ade of pine wood and build by a chinam an carpenter, bu t it 
was a great im provem ent on w hat I had, I took great pride in 
it though it was very simply build, two rooms and a five feet 
verandah, the whole thing in these day would not cost more than 
£25  the plank were not smooth I could only use white washing 
on it, the plank were 12 X 1 in. the frame was m ade of 2 X 3 
hard  wood, so now we are in partnership M outon D upre & Co.

This partnership turned out to be a failure, while father and I 
were economical D upre was extravagant, having goods seemingly 
cheap he got himself and in no time we were in debt, the partner­
ship did not last very long father saw that if we kept going as it 
was we would be more and more in debt, and worst than ever 
so we disolved partnership, D upre went to V unakam kam bi on 
the north coast, he bought the land himself and could deal with 
whom he liked, however he had to deal with Hernsheim  so as to 
clear part of the debt, and I believe never changed.

In  the year 1887 we had a very severe plague of dysentery the 
natives died like flys,66 at the end their tom tom  did not sound 
any more, every day there was a funeral, our house was like an 
hospital. I did what I could for the natives, as well as our people, 
so far we were escaping the epidemy, and then father got it and 
it has been a very hard  task for me to look after him, even he 
was so bad that I had to require the asistance of the Doctor of the 
G erm an M an-of-war ‘M arie’ who was at M atupi, the Doctor 
came at night he gave me strong laudanum  to give father, after 
a while I got him  nearly right when he m ade the mistake of 
eating some w ater melon, that foolishness settled it, he got a 
relapse from which he never recovered and after an illness of 
seven months, he went to Cooktown with the ‘Ysabel’ and died at 
Cooktown Hospital a fortnight after arrival.

A very strange coincidence happened, Father N avarre then at 
Cooktown was present when father died, a t tha t time Father

60 I t is indicative of the value of some of the New Guinea Com pany official 
publications that its annual report for 1887 or 1888 does not mention this fact.
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N avarre was no longer Father N avarre but Bishop N avarre ,67 he 
performed the last religious ceremony for father it was in the year 
1888 that occured, father must have had a presentiment when he 
left because he said, my son I do not think that I will ever see 
you again.

Now at the age of 22 I was left by myself, at the time there 
was no cultivation, our house was surrounded by the jungle we 
just cleared enough land to dry the copra and room for the 
different sheds, our mode of transport was by boat or canoes, the 
access to the native villages were by native narrow winding paths, 
that narrow that one had to walk one after the other, a t either 
side there was thick bush or kunai grass about three feet high, 
and sometime another kind of wild cane of about seven feet high, 
the village as a rule was situated on a cocosnut palm  patch, just 
enough clearing for the village their backdoor was the jungle the 
village were not very large, a large village would consist of about 
twenty huts, and the next village would be about ten minutes 
walk this of course in New Britain a t K inigunan where I was 
stationed, the natives had their little garden or rather taro patches 
which they shift every year, the planting or crop was taro, yam, 
sugar cane, banana, sweet potatoes, and sundry crop used as 
cabbage, when a crop is finished and the last is banana they let 
the shrub take charge of the patch, and go further, the same patch 
may be used again in three years time, this is to give the land 
rest instead of m anuring I understand.

All I had at the time was a little trade goods the land which 
we bought from the natives, the money necessary for father’s 
passage and expenses I owed to Hernsheim & Co. and the epi- 
demy which kept everything back fortunately I escaped the 
epidemy, and with the exception of M alaria fever I kept pretty 
well in good health, though there was a time when father was 
alive that I was so bad that father gave me up, bu t I got over

67 Bishop since November 1887, Archbishop after August 1888. H e left New 
Britain in August 1884 and spent a part of the next three years on Thursday 
Island and later on Yule Island off the Papuan coast. He became Apostolic 
V icar of Melanesia in M ay 1887 and, after the establishment of a separate 
V icariate of New Britain in 1889, remained in charge of the newly created 
V icariate of British New Guinea. He was Superior of the Yule Island Mission 
until 1907 and died in Townsville in 1912.
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it, father also has had his share of m alaria then, and very bad 
too once I thought he would die from m alaria.

In  the year 1888 the New Guinea Com pany had started in 
New Guinea and had a station on the Duke of York group, on 
the Island of K eraw ara68 and the place was too small for the 
G overnm ent also was too far away, and it was suggested that 
they would shift to New Britain.

W hile father was there he would never let me go recruiting, 
so w hen my chance came I went to New Ireland with my open 
boat to recruit this time I was fortunate enough to get fine 
w eather, and after been away a week I returned with six boys 
from Kokola, this was my first start in recruiting, it was not much 
bu t it was a great help for me, at New Ireland I found a G erm an 
who was trading a t Katolik [Kadelek] I stayed the night then 
the next I left for Kokola, this G erm an by w hat I could see did 
not do any good there was not enough copra for him  to make a 
living and could not understand a Firm  making such mistake, 
later I understood that the plan was not so much the copra but 
a footing for recruiting labourers for the plantations at Sam oa,69 
stil even in that line the m an was the wrong m an for that job, and 
I think that he got very sick or he was killed by the natives I 
believe through his fault, I understand that he lost his head and 
provocated his end, myself I found him very funny the way he 
lived, he had a native wom an with him  and I think tha t is all he 
thought about.

W ith my six boys I was more independent of the local natives, 
and I was able to work better and m ade more copra, bu t a t the 
time my contract w ith Hernsheim  was nearly expired and in 
preparation of such emergency I had a bamboo hut build on my 
land a t T am aluban  in case I should not agree w ith Hernsheim

68 The date should be 1886 ra ther than  1888, and the place M atupit (also, New 
Guinea should read Bismarck Archipelago). T he station was transferred to 
K eraw ara in 1887 and functioned almost entirely as an administrative post 
and recruiting depot until it was transferred to Kokopo in 1890, on the sugges­
tion of R ichard Parkinson. T he company eventually developed extensive 
coconut plantations in the locality.
69 M outon is referring to the D .H .P.G . According to Schnee (1904: 370), the 
firm sent about 250 New Guineans to Samoa in 1903. T en years later there 
were still 786 New Guineans on the island, not counting a hundred women 
and twenty children.
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& Co. this place was only about five hundred yards from where 
I was.

The schooner ‘Soe’ came and took my copra that finished my 
last transaction of my contract with Hernsheim, then he m ade me 
a proposition to sell the house land [and] boat for £210, two 
hundred and ten pounds which I accepted, under a contract 
m ade by Hernsheim my debt to him on this transaction was 
seventy pounds, under the term that if I did not pay it within 
twelve months the property returned to Hernsheim, and the 
money paid by me one hundred and forty pounds forfeited, this 
was nothing so far I was sure of myself, bu t what m ade the trans­
action unjust is that Hernsheim would only accept copra for the 
value of goods they supplied that is that if I bought for twenty 
pounds goods they would only take copra for the same value, and 
when I asked Hernsheim how he expected me to pay the seventy 
pounds I owed if he did not buy my copra, he told me that it 
was my business, and I showed him that it would be, and a week 
after that interview, I was clear of Hernsheim, in the following 
m anner I went to Mioko the next day and borrowed the seventy 
pounds from the Firm  Deutsche Handels und Plantagengesell­
schaft, and m ade a contract with them so as to dispose of my 
product, Hernsheim did not like the idea to see me settle so early, 
but was quite willing to take the money and give me a receipt 
for it, but I did not see the business done that way, so I went to 
K eraw ara and m ade inquiry to the adm inistrator who was also a 
judge ,70 and owing to the term  of the contract of very vague 
tenure Hernsheim had to pick me up with his launch and only I 
paid him the seventy pounds in the presence of witness.

W hen I come to think of it, w hat was the business idea H erns­
heim had in his head not to allow me any means to pay him  off, 
did he think that I was too simpleton to find my way clear, if he 
did he got a shock. Hernsheim was a jew 71 and no doubt thought 
he would get the best out of the bargain but to my m ind a very 
stupid way of doing business.

Mioko was now occupied by the Mioko Agency and Farrell

70 G. Schmiele, resident judge in the Bismarck Archipelago from 1886 until 
1891, Adm inistrator of the Protectorate between 1892 and 1895. He died in 
Batavia in M arch 1895 on his way to Germany.
71 Comment on the m argin: ‘Hernsheim  dark with m oustache’.
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was now on New Britain at R alum  where he had started business 
for himself, on the same line as he had m anaged before.

I was fortunate at the time that a G erm an recruiter who had 
m ade a good recruiting trip could lend me the money for six per 
cent, Fring the m anager for the Firm  could not do it it was 
against his power, bu t he m anaged to get Kline the recruiter to 
let me have it, I never paid any interest in a m onth the money 
was pa id ,721 was rich in native money and I used it to buy copra, 
so as to be clear of that debt as well.

This native money of that part of New Britain is a cowry shell 
of about quarter inch long and white, this shell is pierced at the 
back so as to be stringed on a part of the inside part of ra tan  used 
like a string and the way of value is per fathom from arm  to arm , 
for small dealing it is by hand length, or finger length, a t the 
time I could get four bags of green copra for one fathom, bu t it 
gradually got less when my oponent started the same game but I 
did not care much I m ade use of my chance.

Following that year a t the end of 1889-90 the New Guinea 
C om pany offered to buy some of my land a t twenty marks per 
hectar, but to be able to sell, it was necessary to have the land 
surveyed, so they send a surveyor M r. Bernard Linnem ann, he 
came to my place with six New Guinea boys I offered my help 
bu t he did not think that he would need it, the first day he made 
a track from the beach near my house in a south direction this 
was only to have a good knowledge of the lay of the land.

In  doing so he came to the first village and his line came 
through a village and straight on to a house, of course the natives 
in those days were not civilized yet knew me but objected to be 
disturbed, and did not understand that the house would not be 
touched, bu t nevertheless the surveyor had to leave his work and 
come back, the natives having threatened to kill him, so I offered 
my service in future, I left a boy in charge of my business which 
was very easy to m anage, all I had to do was to give him enough 
trade to carry on which I checked on my return  from the day’s 
work with the surveyor, this lasted twelve months this gave me a 
good experience regarding surveying land, and also my trading

72 In  the French version (pp. 60-61), M outon says: ‘I went to Mioko . . . and 
M r. Fring lent me the sum at 6%  and gave me goods, etc., but I only received 
£ 6  per ton for my copra. I paid it off in three m onths.’

89



was not complicated and it was very im portant for me to know the 
lay of the land as well, the first village we came to the line cut 
right in the middle of a native hut, a t first the natives thought 
tha t we would destroy the hut, bu t when I explained that the 
hu t would remain as it was and when they saw the deviation we 
made they understood and there was no more trouble and the 
surveying business went smoothly as long that I was present, we 
started at six a.m. and returned a t six p.m. it was rather hard 
work but I was young and I liked it, a t one period we had a 
G erm an with us nam ed Lausen he did not like the work it was 
too strenuous for him and after a few days he gave it up he could 
not stand it, and we were very glad when he left he was so clumsy 
that he was never out of trouble.

After the land was surveyed the part bought by the New 
Guinea Company am ounted to 445 hectares which I sold to the 
Company, I received the paym ent in New Guinea gold pieces,73 
unfortunately I used this money as current money instead of 
keeping it as a curios, but it was also required for my need, and 
I could not do two things paying my debts and keeping the gold.

M r. Linnem ann could speak french so we talked french, 
unfortunately for me it would have been better if he did not I 
would then have learned germ an instead of him improving his 
french, after having m ade some exchanges to equalize my land 
I think I got about £250 in N.G. gold pieces, and my land of 
K inigunan P lantation as it was called am ounted to 1100 hectares 
clear, it was at about the year 1891 that M r. Linnem an became 
ill and he had to leave as soon as possible he left with the ‘A dler’ 
a Germ an M an-of-W ar, I never heard any more about him  and 
I do not know if he stil living and if he ever reached Germ any.

During those years 1890 and 1891 my boys did a bit of clearing 
but six boys could not do much, so I tought of employing local 
natives I m anaged to recruit one hundred of them  and the work 
was going on well a t tha t time my plan was to clear all the cocos-

73 Between 1894 and 1898 the New Guinea Company m inted its own gold, 
silver and bronze coins, similar to Germ an coins in size, form and metallic 
content. They rem ained legal tender until April 1911 but had disappeared 
into collectors’ coffers long before then, partly  because of their unusual design 
which featured the bird of paradise. As early as 1897 the twenty mark coin 
(worth officially one pound sterling) sold in Singapore for 23/-, and for as 
much as £ 5-6 in Sydney about a decade later (Leidecker 1916: 49).
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nut patches I could get hold of in my property, with those 
hundred boys I did a good job  because the clearing consisted in 
falling bush and burning when necessary, by doing so I become 
m aster of all the old cocosnut trees planted by the natives, the 
natives a t the time neglected those trees and would not look 
after them  they said that they were too old and could not bear 
more, bu t a year after my clearing when they saw that the old 
trees were breaking from the weight of the nuts they saw their 
mistake, however having gone to the trouble of clearing I took 
possession of the cocosnuts and it gave me a good help yearly it 
was a steady income which has helped me to make my plantation 
it was at that time that an  epidemy of influenza raged and after 
about two years work my local labourers left me, and I found 
myself only with the six boys I had, fortunately I had not much 
land planted and those six boys could keep the land under con- 
trole for a while, my plan was to fell as m uch as possible so as 
to prepare for the future, the big tim ber being felled I had only 
the new growing tim ber to tackle, and I found out that it helped 
me a lot, instead of planting as I was going along I cleared and 
let it grow again, by so doing I gained later on having only to 
clear the small bush.

M any a time I took advantage of a dry spell and bush fire, the 
fire would clear the undershrub and leave the trunks which were 
felled before and all I had to do was to clear the rubbish and 
burn w hat I could, in such a way I m anaged to p lant in one 
m onth w hat it would have taken six months to do and even more. 
O f course I had to wait until the land was registered before I 
tackled the clearing this was the advise of Linnem ann when I 
told him of my intention, the land was registered soon after the 
sale to the New Guinea Com pany and I had not to wait very 
long it was a m atter of a few months. I planted my first 
cocosnut trees in Septem ber 1891 on my westerly boundary on 
the beach, at tha t period I had only about ten hectares planted.

Now my boys were due to be returned after three years, and 
it was time that I m ade preparation to get some more recruits, 
to replace those six and get more if possible.

In 1892 I borrowed Father C ram aille’s boat Father Cramaille 
at that time was stationed at Vlavolo on the north coast a few 
mile from Dupre his boat was larger than mine, but also an open 
boat, so with a crew of six I started for New Ireland we had a 
very good wind behind us and we reached Kokola in no time,
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landed the boys with their box , 74 then I started to recruit bu t I 
was informed that I would not get boys before the feast was 
finished, and it was a feast all right there were hundred of natives 
from different villages, and for a week dancing was in progress, 
and to make m atters worse the weather was very bad there was 
a strong South easter blowing, I had to get the boat dragged on 
shore as she could not lay at anchore for the sea was very high 
and the shelter was no good for South east wind the shelter was 
only suitable for N orth west, at the time I did not know that so 
I was trapped.

T he natives promised that when the feast was over I would 
get boys and we stayed at Kokola for two weeks, during those 
two weeks while the feast was on, there was dance every day and 
it would not have been good policy not to be a spectator, it was 
necessary for our life’s sake to show no fear, however I took certain 
precaution in doing so, with those of the crew who would come 
with me I arranged so as to be placed in such a way as to have 
my back protected, at Kokola village the front on the beach had 
a cliff with a drop of ten feet then under that a sandy patch not 
more than twenty feet, the situation was very favorable and 
nothing could come from that side if there was a good stand high 
up I would take it, w ithout showing it, I would do so under any 
excuse if I was asked to sit at another place by the chief, for at 
least eight days it was unbearable and we had to be present 
w hether we liked it or not, after the dance was over I could see 
th a t there was no chance to get boys, for one thing the w eather 
was too bad, and I think the natives did not like it.

There was a day when the sea became calm and boys or no 
boys I decided to shift to another anchorage, this was only a 
quarter of a mile further and the shelter was behind a reef only 
big enough for a small boat like mine, at high tide the swell was 
very bad, we stayed during one night, in the m orning I woke up 
finding my oars gone, at once I knew that there was something 
doing, the oars could not have dropped by themselves while we 
were asleep some one must have come from the shore and take 
then.

I went on shore and when asked the chief for the oars, he did 
not know and thought that the oars must have fell in the water, 
then as he was showing rather an insolent attitude I pointed my

74 See fn. 95.
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revolver a t him and told him if my oars did not turn  up I would 
kill him , this had its good effect and within five minutes my oars 
were returned. Previous to shifting when we were at the first 
place we had some trouble also, a t night one day we noticed that 
the women and children disappeared from the village and toward 
n ight not a soul to be seen, I naturally expected trouble, some 
of my crew started to frighten and wanted to drag the boat into 
the sea, bu t this could not be done if they wanted owing to the 
impossibility of moving it, however I told them to go to the boat 
if they could shift the boat, amongst my crew there was only two 
that I could rely upon, so as the other did not know w hat to do 
with themselve we three kept watch all night ready to fire at 
anything showing if an attack was made, a t daylight I and Jem y 
one of the boys, we covered ourselve with branches representing 
a small brush and walking very slowly we got into the village and 
we saw no one, then we thought that no doubt it would be for 
later on, but the indications did not point that way and I could 
not make out w hat to make of it. O nly later in the day a native 
got more pluck and cam e near us and we learned from him the 
reason of this proceeding.

I t appear that a sm art fellow spread the rumours that we would 
take some boys by force and take them  away, and the fools 
believed him, so we were afraid of them  and we could not make 
out w hat we may expect, both parties were afraid of each other, 
for our trouble we had a nasty anxious night w ithout sleep, and 
the native I think did not fare much better, they were not very 
far away but they did not make use of their huts, so they must 
have hidden in the bush.

To return  to my last anchorage after I got my oars back in 
such a forceful way I judged that the native were very unfriendly 
and only watched their chance,75 so when I saw that the w eather 
was a bit smooth we started and we m anaged to make Labur a 
distance of about 30 miles there we found a fine anchorage, 
sheltered from the South east. I found the natives rather friendly, 
and we stayed rather a long time waiting for fine weather m ean­
while I recruited twelves boys, that is ten boys and two girls, my 
provision were getting short and my tobacco which I used to buy

75 About three years later they did take their chance and ate the entire crew 
of another trading boat. A punitive expedition visited the area in 1896 (Hahl 
1907:311).
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provision such as taro and native food was at an end, however 
I must say that the natives gave me all I w anted . 76

W hile I was at L abur I w anted to get cocosnuts to make oil 
for our guns but could not get them  at the village I was told if I 
would go to the next district with them they would give me plenty 
cocosnuts, of course I accepted, I was only too anxious to get oil 
I did not like my means of protection to be neglected, the fire­
arms must be kept in order.

Very early one day just as daylight started I and my boats 
crew with all our firearms followed the natives over m ountains, 
we were kept going for ra ther a long time, and to my reckoning 
the palm trees were only a few miles from the beach while we 
were going over m ountains along the coast, I could see that there 
was something wrong in this expedition, but there was only one 
thing to do in this case follow and keep quiet, it was no use to 
make a row we would have no chance with them.

By the sun I judged that it was about noon, and we heard a 
great comotion from some distance from where we were coming 
our way I did not know w hat to make of it, and we were prepared 
to defend ourselves if needed, then only I was told the reason of 
the great uproar and sure enough some warriors dressed in their 
fancy painted attires feather headgear and body painted, were 
carrying a child victim of about five years old, he was not quite 
dead he was fastened by the hand and feet with a stick through, 
the stick was carried on the shoulder of two warriors and the 
poor victim still crying and bleeding, went along to is destination, 
I felt inclined to pu t an end to his suffering by putting a bullet 
into his head, but I was warned not to do that.

We arrived at the village in trium ph like and the victim still 
alive was put down in a kind of natural depression into the rock 
about four feet deep, and about twenty feet diam eter, round 
shaped, then the natives thrust taro bananas sugar cane and all 
the m aterial to be used as food for the feast, the first throw which 
was taro killed the victim and put him  out of his misery, and I 
was very glad that the poor child did not suffer any longer.

For three days the natives were in glory, there was dances 
every night and gloryfication, it was fortunate that the weather 
made it impossible for me to leave or I would have left sick of the

76 ‘I was well received by the Chief Bahar . . .  I had run out of trade goods 
and he gave me provisions on credit’ (French version, p. 65).
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whole business.77 The m orning after this expedition I received 
ano ther surprise, a t about six or seven in the morning there come 
from the north point of the bay we were in I saw about twenty 
or thirty  natives all painted white from head to foot, brandishing 
spears and tomahawks dancing and coming toward us, I at once 
collected my boys and there we were ready for the worst then a 
native came to me and told me that there would be no harm  
com ing tha t it was an acknowledgement for the service we did 
in enabling them  to have a revenge against their enemis, in fact 
as those warriors reached us they said, m alum alum  m alum alum 78 
and  throw  their spears at my feet sticking them in the ground.

T hough I had to show that I was not afraid, I was not too sure 
when I saw those savages all painted white whitewashed with 
lime it was and they looked rather uncanny.

I was informed later the reason of their deceit, they wanted the 
protection of our firearms to protect them in their raid they were 
m aking on the next district to revenge themselve of a similar 
raid . O ne of the enemis had a shneider rifle and they were afraid 
of him  and thought of using us for protection, it was quite correct 
according to their way of looking at it, the raiders m ust have 
gone a lot earlier than we did because we only met them  coming 
back they had killed a m an and his wife and brought the child 
to be eaten, I presume the child was easy to carry, or they did not 
take the time to carry the three victims, those victims were simply 
innocently working in their taros patch when they were massa­
cred, it is their way and the enemis had done the same some time 
ago, w ith the protection of the chief who had a rifle, so it was eye 
for eye and blood for blood. After the excitement of the white 
warriors, everything went very nicely and when the victim was 
properly cooked the native presented me with a piece of the child, 
which looked like pork, I told them  that whitemen were not 
eating each other like them, so 1 refused and for a good while 
after when they offered me pork cooked in stone like they do, I 
could not eat it the resemblance was too great I could see in my 
im agination the child carried and bleeding.

77 Com ment on the m argin: ‘Was given a piece of the boy but says Octave I 
never ate it.’ In  the French version (p. 68) M outon says he was offered ‘a piece 
of hum an flesh, on leaves, w ith taro and bananas’.
78 ‘T ranslated’ in the French version (p. 67) as a ‘sort of homage’. In  Pidgin, 
malumalu or malmalum means soft, tender, soggy, swampy.
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I got my cocosnuts all right the same day but not from the 
effect of the expedition they brought them  from a nearby patch, 
not very far away, I proceeded to have those nuts scraped and 
the milk squeezed this I boiled in one of my saucepans until the 
water evaporated and leaving only the oil, which was better than 
letting my guns rusting.

Not very long after this experience we had a chance to leave 
so we made a start, we m anaged to start for an hour or so then 
my boat shipped too m uch sea and we had to return  bu t this 
time we found a little rock Island just enough to shelter our boat, 
I did not want to go back to the village because where we were 
ready to make a start a t any m om ent the sea showed a little 
dullness, seven times I tried and each time I had to come back, 
boat shipping too m uch sea, being an open boat there was no 
chance to keep afloat. After our seventh trial we m anaged to make 
a start, the sea having abated a bit I found that the boat could 
face the sea and we kept going, the current was so strong th a t 
instead of reaching my place K inigunan, we reached D upre’s 
place at about four o’clock in the afternoon, the first thing I asked 
is a cup of coffee I had been without coffee for twenty six days, 
Dupre being a Frenchm an knew how to make coffee.

I just arrived in time it was arranged that the ‘Ysabel’ the 
steamer of the New Guinea Com pany would go and look for me, 
so I did not arrive too soon, I stayed one night with Dupre then 
left for Father Cramaille changed boats and left for my place, 
arrived there in the morning having sailed during the night.

My return did not seem to be welcome by the natives, and  I 
could understand why, you should think that it was the opposite 
that they would be glad, bu t nothing of the sort.

O n asking the explanation, one of the chiefs with whom I was 
very friendly told me that they were tired of me and that I better 
look out for my skin etc. so I could see right away w hat was wrong 
with them, they did not care for my coming back but w anted my 
native money a kind of cowry shell strung to ratan, all my poultry 
were gone curtain on the windows were gone, I noticed that 
practically all movables were gone, fortunately they respected 
the room where the native money was stored.

At first I could not understand the reason, which become quite 
clear to me afterward, a loot would m ean that those who get it 
first would have the lion’s share and the others next to 
nothing.
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Well on my arrival those signes were not too confortables, and 
I was rather uneasy expecting trouble in the m orning, in the 
morning the natives came in an unusual num ber, they showed 
provocation and their disappointm ent, the chiefs came first to 
interview me while the rest of the crowd kept under cover, so we 
had an argum ent and I asked them w hat was wrong with them, 
their people were back and w hat was their reason for looting the 
place and  showing disappointm ent, receiving very belicose 
answere, I come to the conclusion that it was no use talking, and 
the only thing to do was to show fight.

So I gave instruction to my boys to be ready, I placed them  in 
different place so as to be in good position, then I went to the 
chiefs and gave them  a bit of my m ind, and told them w hat their 
intentions were and the reason of their disappointm ent, then I 
took my rifle and fired at a cocosnut palm  and told the chief if 
he did not get out a t once the next one would be for him, also 
tha t I w anted all my poultry back and each chief has to pay me 
10 fathoms diwara, that they were in the wrong and that I 
required reparation, of course this was a bluff, though I had my 
boys in very good strategic position, we were 20 to 1 still knowing 
their m ethod of fighting I had a good chance and they knew it 
too, they knew if we picked our men there would be no resistance, 
and to make sure of it I did not forget to tell them w hat I would 
do, knowing their leaders I m entioned their names as my target, 
this had a good effect, because they knew that me being in the 
know that I was right in presuming w hat effect it would have on 
the attackers, so instead of attack they went away with the good 
knowledge that they would have to return  all the stolen poultry 
and m aterial and pay me the 10 fathoms money I asked.

Their threat to me were that it was a pity that I was not eaten 
by the new Ireland natives and also that they were tired of me 
and that they would kill me to get rid of me etc. I let them have 
their say and then I shouted at them w hat they were, and my 
shot to the palm  calmed their tem per a good bit, as explained 
above.

For eight days return  of stolen things came little by little until 
there was very little missing, the chiefs pay their fine as I re­
quested, after that I was very popular with them, they knew they 
were wrong and when we were in peace I explained what would 
have been the result had they continued in their attitude, and 
they saw that I was right, first by me shooting the leaders as they
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showed themselve the rest would clear out, second the white men 
would punish them  for killing me and my boys.

At that time I was very good in the native language I could 
talk like themselve and knew their rules perhaps better than  
themselve, this of course was a great advantage, which they did 
not realise until it had to be pu t to practice.

I t was in 1892 tha t D upre took a H oliday to Sydney and  to 
be able to do that he asked me if I would look after his place, it 
was a hard job, because I was starting plantation and my place 
was 10 miles by w ater to M alaguna and from there over the 
m ountain to the north coast on foot another 8 miles or 10 miles 
I should think, his business was only trading with the natives 
exchanging cocosnuts for trade tobacco print, calico, axes, spade, 
gun powder bead etc.

Dupre had about 30 undertraders each received goods on 
credit, therefore my job  was to be at D upre’s station every three 
days, I would then collect the cocosnuts on the m arket place 
check the lot and replace the goods, I generally m anaged to do 
it in the m orning I would leave my place in the afternoon I had 
a guide with six rowers sleep at the station and be ready for 8 
a.m. if the work was not too m uch I left the same afternoon or 
next morning at daybreak, the drying and cutting was controlled 
by D upre’s boys, I was young and healthy and there was no red 
tapes to put up with so I had plenty of time to do it nicely. D upre 
returned at last he only stayed about a couple of months, he was 
glad to be back again, and I was more glad than he was because 
it was an ungrateful job, after his re tu rn  I could pu t all my time 
to my plantation and trading business, while Dupre was away he 
found out that he was better off than  when he left, if he had 
known he could have stayed in Sydney longer, it was all right for 
him but not for me. Now the same road I used to walk, one can 
go with motor car from my place to where D upre’s Station was 
in a couple of hours, it took me the good part of half a day by 
boat and by foot.

Dupre was very neglectful in keeping his accounts in fact I was 
very surprised to see that all the accounts he kept was w hat the 
Firm  made for him that is the usual statem ent, w ith the exception 
of the native traders he kept no accounts at all so I tried to made 
up an account book for him, though I did not know m uch about 
bookkeeping I had a way of my own which showed how I was 
standing and what special m atter of my business stood, however
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when I left D upre reckoned that it was waste of time to keep 
book, all he w anted was to know to w hat extent he was in credit 
with the firm, so it was easy for him  he did not w ant more, w hat 
profit he m ade on copra did not m atter to him, all he knew is that if 
he sold the trade cheaper than a certain price he would be the loser.

Well D upre having tasted civilization did not rem ain very long 
before he had a craving to go home, so before I knew where I 
was I was informed by Bishop C ouppe79 that Dupre intended to 
sell his property and go to France, on this information I offered 
D upre the same terms as the Mission and that he could return if 
he wanted, bu t it was no use he accepted £300 cash and £80  
yearly rem ittance as long as he lived, I must say that Bishop 
Couppe acted rather unfaire and behind my back before I could 
reach D upre again the bargain was done.

The m atter would have not interested me a bit, only for the 
fact tha t being only two friends we m ade our will to each other, 
a few years previously, in this case I found it necessary to have 
this will cancelled before Dupre leave the country, I had a little 
trouble about it but, w ith the help of the G erm an M agistrate at 
K eraw ara D upre had to inconvenience himself and come with 
me to K eraw ara and destroy the will, D upre from some reason I 
cannot account for had objection to have our will cancelled, and 
pretended to say tha t he had property in France and would 
compensate, I said this was m ade for this country not for France, 
his relation had more right to w hat he has there then me who 
has no interest in France at all.

I t is a very strange thing tha t D upre and I were very great 
friends we were like brothers, but after he left he never wrote to 
me, so end our friendship for ever, the only news I received was 
from the Mission ocasionally.80

79 Ludwig Couppe, the ‘real founder’ of the New Britain Sacred H eart Mission. 
Born in France in 1850, he joined the order in 1880, spent a part of 1885-86 
as a parish priest in Sydney, went to Yule Island in m id-1886 and was sent to 
New Britain late in 1888, together with Fathers Hertzer, Thomas and Goutherand. 
He became Bishop in O ctober 1890 and rem ained in charge of the New Britain 
mission until 1923. He was elevated to Archbishop in 1925 and died in Sydney 
in 1926.
80 ‘After about a year he wanted to return but the mission could not advance 
him money . . .  he lived for another ten years . . . the mission paid him £  1,000 
in all he could have had £ 2 , 0 0 0  hut he refused he was afraid that if he had 
all this cash he would spend it foolishly’ (French version, p. 72).
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Before going further into my experience, I must describe the 
natives custom , 81 specially in the neighborhood of R abaul 
Blanche Bay and principally K inigunan about ten miles from 
R abaul in New Britain, and next to Kokopo, however the custom 
extend to a great area of New Britain, if not exactly it does not 
differ to a great extent.

O n the child coming to the world, which is about the same as 
the general rule only the midwife is a native woman who has 
some experience in the m atter, during childbirth the m other is 
kept in her hut with only the attendant, the rest of the family 
husband and all have to keep away for the time being.

As soon as it is perm itted the midwife make a fire near the hut, 
and take the child in her arm  and balance the child over the 
smoke and say, for boy; you will be a great warrior like your 
father, you will be a good cultivator like your father, and even 
you will be a good thief like your father etc, that is if the father 
has such reputation, and so on all the virtues or sins of the father 
are mentioned, if it is a girl it is the same only as the 
mother.

U p to the age of ten or more a boy has not m uch to do only 
amuse himself, perhaps he may help his parents if he feel inclined, 
his principal pastime is to exercise himself with sling spears etc. 
the girl is not so fortunate, from childhood she must help her 
parents with the cooking and gardening, as soon as she can walk 
she carry a basket on her back and supported from her forehead

81 No attem pt has been m ade to annotate the ethnological comments which 
follow. There are several useful accounts of the way of life of the Tolai people 
around the turn of the century, for instance Parkinson 1907; Kleintitschen 
1906; and Hahl 1897. Also useful is Salisbury 1970. Although the French 
version devotes less space to the description of the local customs, it has a 
section on cannibalism which does not appear in the English version. The 
description of the ‘m anner on preparing the victim ’ (pp. 48-49) deserves 
quoting: ‘He is suspended by his legs from a tree and they start a fire under 
him . . . and scorch his hair and skin with twigs of straw after that they cut 
open his stomach and remove the intestines and then they cut off his head and 
arms and the pieces are distributed in the various villages. To roast the rest 
they start a huge fire they dig a big hole in the ground and fill it with stones 
and when they are red hot they remove the fire and some of the stones they 
wrap up the m eat in leaves put it on the stones and place on it the rem aining 
stones. All this is covered with leaves and soil . . . Sometimes they start a fire 
on top if the piece is really big it m ay take a whole day before it is properly 
roasted.’
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by a band of string made of bark, as she grow she become used 
to it and I have seen women carry three big baskets made of 
cocosnut palms, filled with green copra weighing 50 pounds each 
making a load of 150 pounds, and in such a way the women are 
beasts of burden, they do all the carrying you may meet a gentle­
m an leading two or three of his wifes all loaded to full capacity, 
while he only carry his weapons consisting of a sling which he 
carry around his head, and in his hands two or three spears and 
a tom ahawk or a club, the handle of the tom ahawk is about four 
feet long the head is a fantail hatchet and the part used as the 
hand rest is about eight inches by five carved and ornam ented 
with feather, before they could buy the hatchet they had only 
clubs made of hard  wood, and under his arm  the inevitable betel 
nut and all his little belonging, the gentlem an having no pocket 
as he is only wearing the cloth he was born in, and so are his 
wifes, not even a loin cloth or leaf, like some other parts of the 
Island, if the gentlem an has the luxury to have a clay pipe he 
carry it on his arm elet m ade as a rule of plated fibres, of which 
he carry one on each arms.

The natives of New Britain and even in New Guinea and I 
know that they have in the Solomons Buka and Bougainville, 
New Ireland, are divided in two totem which is represented by a 
bird or fish, to make this totem clear I will use the totem  used in 
New Ireland, as in K inigunan they have not adopted a nam e to 
distinguish the difference but know the difference by using as a 
root one or the other principal family, therefore by using the New 
Ireland m ethod I will be able to make m atter quite clear, I 
understand that there is very few whitemen who have a grasp I 
am  sure there were none in 1886 and even in 1895.

Now I will call one totem eagle and the other totem hawk. The 
children are taking the totem of their mother, if the m other is an 
eagle the father will be a hawk and so the children will be of the 
eagle totem, therefore no eagle can m arry an eagle he must m arry 
an hawk and vice versa, this has its advantage that it prevent 
blood mixture to be too close, a cousin from the m other side can 
not interm arry, so in their way they keep the close relationship 
quite apart, this also include the m ethod of distinguish the owner­
ship of land property, if the land belong to an hawk descent this 
land will rem ain the hawk and so will be the case with the 
eagle.

This knowledge of the totem distinction become very valuable
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to me in ascertaining the owner of the land we purchased from 
the natives and later enabled me to refute any later claims m ade 
by the natives, with the knowledge tha t the land had also the 
totem of the owner. Say for argum ent sake, a hawk claim that 
the land has not been bought by me and that the land is his 
property, I at once inquire from the natives present if the land is 
an hawk totem or an  eagle totem, I am  told that the land is of 
eagle totem, that settle it the claim ant is only an impostor, he 
being an hawk he could not be owner of land of totem  
eagle.

An hawk must m arry an eagle totem, so the parents select a 
bride if an hawk into an  eagle totem, if the bridegroom is a hawk 
his bride must be an  eagle, the uncle m aternal as a rule select 
the bride for his nephew and having selected the bride call a t the 
bride parents and bargain with the price for the bride, the price 
is from ten to fifty fathom diw ara the price vary according to the 
influence of the bride’s family, the uncle of the bride having 
accepted the money the bride is kidnapped and brought to the 
bridegroom family, a t the same time the bridegroom  is also 
kidnapped and brought in a secluded part in the jungle where a 
hu t has already been build, he may have to stay hiding for a 
month, during tha t time he is not allowed to move from his 
hiding place, bu t while there he is well fed and well looked 
after.

The bride may only be of only ten years of age, and the bride­
groom about twelve sometime eighteen rarely older.

O n the date arranged the bridegroom  is brought to his uncle’s 
village which has been decorated for the ceremonie, but while 
the bridegroom was still in his hiding place the bridegroom ’s 
parents have distributed to the b ride’s parents and relations all 
kind of articles, such as food fruit article of trade such as knives, 
axes beads etc.

The bridegroom is dressed with all fancy painted on his body 
and wearing a necklace bead or opossum teeth collar etc. and 
brought to the selected place in the village where a m at also 
decorated is on the ground, he then kneel on one knee and carry 
a club on his shoulder, keeping his eyes on the ground, he is not 
allowed to look at the spectators for fear he may look at the b ride’s 
parents, the end of the club rest on the ground and the rest on his 
shoulder.

Then the bride’s relations bring before the bridegroom  their
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tribute, this consist of diw ara82 which they deposit on the m at and 
represent the value for the article they received from the bride­
groom ’s parents, this vary from half fathom diwara to ten fathom.

The ceremonie term inated the bridegroom ’s uncle take charge 
of the tributs then the bride return  with her parents and rem ain 
with them  until such time the bridegroom is able to take her, that 
is until m aturity  if she is still too young, the bridegroom  is free 
bu t his trouble start, it is their rule that the bridegroom  has to 
return  to his uncle as m uch possible the value of the bride, to that 
aim he has to do something, to pay back the ten or fifty fathoms 
diwara, which he do by means of fishing if he is on the coast 
selling the fish or making taros patches, this he sell for diwara 
according to price ruling, in such method he accum ulate the 
price of his bride, also if he become a dukduk it will help also to 
collect some diw ara toward the repaym ent, after the first wife 
has been bought he buy as m any wifes as he like, it is only a 
m atter of being able to pay the price, after the first ceremonie 
there is no more ceremonies, in some instance the bridegroom may 
be twenty or more and his first wife only ten, then he get a second 
wife and he is able to bring his first child wife to his second wife 
and rem ain with him  as his property.

This is rather a grave offence, an  eagle commit an offence with 
an eagle girl, she may be a far-off relation or no relation at all it 
is sufficient that both are of the same totem, this is called Pulu 
an unknown witness to the party  call in the middle of the night 
a t the uncle’s or b ro ther’s village of the criminal deposit before 
the hu t’s entrance a cross m ade by two sticks of a plant T anget a 
kind of croton with variegated leafes, in the morning the relative 
see this and know there is trouble ahead, but he do not know yet 
w hat to expect, then the next night he hear a voice stating the 
fact that so and so were guilty of pulu.

W hen this ascertained the uncle or brother of the culprit hunt 
for him and bring him  to the village, then in the presence of 
spectators he is decorated with flowers and painted in the same 
similarity as in the m arriage ceremonie, he then is placed befor

82 Comment on the m arg in : ‘Shell money w orth about 4s. a fathom comes from 
Nakani [i.e. Nakanai] coast’. T he term  diwara was traditionally used on the 
Duke of York Islands; the New Britain word was tambu or tabu, depending 
on the locality.
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the executor who is the nearest of the family who club him with 
a club, a tom ahaw k is not allowed to be used.

The body is then carried in the bush and buried there in a 
disgraced m anner, the woman which may be a young girl or an 
old woman is killed and generally eaten, there is no fuss about 
her she disappear either in the ground or in the belly of the 
natives.

I t is fortunate that it do not occur very often, during the forty 
eight years I have been there I only know one case, of course this 
was in the vicinity of 1885 when it happened in K inigunan a 
family nam ed Tovuti, I did not witness it bu t the full detail was 
given to me, and in those day I could speak the native language 
fluently, I was told if I spoke and nobody knew who it was they 
thought it was a native speaking, in many occasion I have 
surprised natives too.

Adultery in New Britain specially in K inigunan is a rather 
unfair offence, in this way that an innocent person has to suffer 
for the misdeed of a couple.

W hen a husband find his wife commiting that offence, he ask 
no question, he simply arm  himself and the first unfortunate 
person he meet he simply let him  have it, either it is a kill or a 
wound, if the victim is of an im portant family God help the 
culprit, the relations of the victim take it out of the relations of 
the culprit in blood and diwara, fortunately diwara, as it seems 
more im portant than hum an being, this may end in a fight or it 
is settled by paying a price if it turn out to a fight and the woman 
has no support from her side she generally was killed and send 
to the next neighbor to be eaten, for this the neighbor pay ten or 
twenty diwara, if she is from a strong family she is safe because 
her people will save her.

To my knowledge there is no recognized king or Chief, the 
authority only go as far as the head of the family, and the strongest 
and richest has a little more say in the m atter, and is recognized 
as the chief of a district but has no power to com m and nor to 
punish, he has the same right as the head of any family in his 
district, for this reason there is no such a thing as a great chief 
behind the district, and the whole district is comprised of villages 
of about ten to twenty huts the next village may be half mile 
away, in case of a fight the women clear away and hide and the 
men come together, generally the fight last until one is wounded 
or killed then the fight is ended, until the victim is revenged on
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some other occasion, in any fight I never seen more than one or 
two wounded or killed, it often occur that the relation of the 
victim turn  against the instigator of the fight, unless the party  is 
very strong in his family it may turn  out very bad for the starter, 
it was a good thing for me knowing their weakness I m ade use of 
it to protect myself.

The natives of New Britain are cultivators each has his taro 
patch the village as a rule is situated amongst cocosnut palms, 
the garden may be one or three miles away, it is the usual method 
to change the patch each year, they never plant twice the same 
patch one after another, when the last of the produce is collected 
they abandon it.

I t is a rule tha t they leave a patch cultivated until the last plant 
is collected, this tu rn  out to be bananas, then they leave this 
patch for perhaps three or four years, every season they make a 
new patch as near as possible to the old one, on account of 
carting the shoots from the old garden to the new one, a taro 
plant has about six shoots that is six taros plants for the new 
patch.

The mode of clearing the patch is as follow, the men cut the 
undergrow th and let it dry then burn  it, after that if there is any 
large trees they only ringbark it they only cut the small trees, 
after the fire has done its work, the women come and clear the 
ground of all rubish make the land ready for planting.

Taros are planted by the men, this is done with a stick of about 
five feet long of about two and a half inch in diam eter made of 
wild lemon trees or any hard  wood trees, they sharpen one end 
of the stick, and with this they drive the stick in the ground to 
about a foot deep with a rotary motion which leave a hole of 
about one foot a t the top the rotary movement serve also to 
loosen the ground around the hole, then the taro shoot is put in 
the hole with just a little ground around the bottom  the hole is 
never filled to the top only a little is let in to cover the root. Yams 
is also planted by the men but also by the women, sweet potatoes 
not very much, bananas sugar cane, maize and quite a lot of 
variety of plants used for their food, I may state that maize has 
only been introduced lately, when I arrived in New Britain I 
never saw any. As a rule the whole family work at the garden, 
with the exception of small boys who only help of their own 
accord, during the growing of the garden the weeding is done by 
the women, the men only collect the produce when ripe, it is the
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work of the men to dig out the taros and the women to 
carry it.

W hen I first arrived the native used grass land in preference 
because it was easy to work, they use to hoe the ground with a 
piece of flat stick m ade of wild palm trees, the men digged and 
the women cleaned the roots, the grass called alang alang has a 
long tough white root and require a great deal of handling to get 
rid of it.

In  K inigunan the natives plant taros and yams, on the N orth 
coast where the soil is not so good the native plant bananas of a 
a special specie for cooking purpose, this banana seems to grow 
well in pumice stone land, I tried at K inigunan bu t was not 
successful, I suppose nature has provided for those who are living 
in poor soil.

This is a society the head of a duk duk is called T ub u an  an 
bear the name of the m other’s owner, the owner of the T ubuan  
is a well-to-do man and head of a good family, the tubuan  dress 
is only made of ra tan  leave and the head is made in the form of 
a sugar loaf shape, with eyes and m outh painted the height of the 
head is about two feet from shoulder to top, the dukduk is m ade 
of the same pattern only it has a long top gear of about five feet 
high and has a different face, the dukduk is only periodic bu t the 
T ubuan  rem ain the m ain body of the whole society, any chief or 
well-to-do m an can be the owner of a tubuan which he call after 
his mother, of course he has to have the means to do so and the 
acknowlegement of the members.

The initiation of the Dukduk is rather painful, first the candi­
date must pay ten fathom diw ara as an entrance fee, then he is 
brought to the Puipui which is a selected clearing in the jungle 
not very far from the village this clearing is fenced with native 
plants and bamboos, in this enclosure there a long house m ade of 
grass used as a shelter.

The members of the society are ranged in two rows in this 
enclosure each holding a stick in the thickness of a  walking stick, 
each row has about ten to fifteen members, the row is about six 
feet apart and members are spaced just enough to be confortable 
in their movement, the candidates are then led from the outside 
and rushed through the rows the members are ready with their 
stick in the air to let it drop on the candidate, the best chance a 
candidate has to run as fast as he can to avoid the punishm ent, 
after he has m anaged to go through this ordeal he is a m em ber
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of the dukduk, sometime a poor unfortunate candidate not sm art 
enough to rush the ordeal come off rather roughly, after the 
ceremonie there is a feast plenty to eat and they gorge themselves.

T he D ukduk feast last about two months, generally a t the 
opening the tubuan  and dukduk are on a canoe sometime two 
or three canoes are paddled along the beach making the usual 
noise, ho ho ha ho ho ha, while this going on the duk duk keep 
a balancing movement while the escort keep singing, this perfor­
m ance term inated they return  to the Puipui, while it is on the 
m embers of the escort generally live at the Puipui, also the 
candidates.

T he first thing the dukduk do is collecting, the tubuan escorted 
by the dukduks and some members go to each village and dance 
in front of each hut then he receive a gift of diwara which vary 
according to the means of the giver, sometime he receive quarter 
fathom  sometime half and even five fathoms is given, the tubuan 
receive the biggest share bu t each dukduk receive also their share, 
this continue until they have gone through all the villages each 
collection is brought to the puipui, the tubuan owner take charge 
of his own, the uncle or relation of the dukduk take charge of their 
own.

T he tubuan  carrier can be anybody of the members and they 
change about bu t the carrier of a dukduk is a new initiate and 
has to carry the dress all the time until sometimes he can go no 
further then he has a spell and they may adjourn until next day, 
they retire to the puipui, very tired, and so it go on, the carriers 
of the dukduk are those bridegrooms and the collection go to his 
uncle who brought a wife for him.

No woman is allowed to go to the puipui or call it club, in 
olden time very often a poor wom an had been knocked on the 
head for the misfortune of meeting the tubuan  in the road, when 
a woman m eet the dukduk who is generally well announced by 
the noise they m ade with ho ho ha they have time to rush into 
the shrub and hide until the escort is over. The Dukduk society 
is very useful in its power, for instance it can be used to collect 
debts, this is called ukaukap and the proceeding is as follow, the 
creditor take with some betel nuts on a leaf of banana together with 
five or more diwara, present himself to the club and m ention so 
nam ing the nam e owe me say twenty fathoms diwara for m ention 
the reason, and I w ant you to collect it.

T he members of the dukduk, may be twenty or fifty, go to



the debtor’s hut and stay there until they have collected the 
money, and while they are there they use all the belonging of the 
the debtor such as food poultry etc, while some are waiting some 
of them go to the debtor’s taro patch and help themselve with 
w hat they need and cook in the village, in such case the village 
is deserted, so the longer the debtor wait the worse he will get 
so as a rule a few hours settle the m atter, the members bring the 
collected debt to the creditor, it also square some of the unfair 
claims, I take it that the dukduk is actually taking the place of 
the police, a claim can be made while the dukduk is not open 
the proceeding is to go to the owner of the tubuan and state the 
case then he will fix a day for the members to meet a t the club, 
the claim ant must not forget to shout a good feast tha t is com ­
prised of fish and taro smeared with the cocosnut cream , this is 
prepared in this m anner, the fish is cooked on hot stone in lieu of 
fish fowl can be used, the taro is roasted in the fire and it is 
cooking stones are in the fire to be heated, then while this going 
on a cup is made of wild banana leafs in such way that it act as 
a basin, in this the milk of the cocosnut which is squeezed from 
the scraped kernel, this milk is mixed with a certain leaf of a tree 
the leaf is rubbed into the milk, w ithout this leaf the milk will 
not turn into cream. The stones are now red hot and are fastened 
by the string made of the stem of wild banana leafes, each stone 
is then dropped gently into the milk the result of this proceeding 
is that the milk tu rn  into a thick frosty cream, the cream  is then 
poured on the fish and taro who have been open with a little 
bamboo stick, this dish is called aku, and is not bad at all when 
I knew the secret of the leaf m any time I have had the same dish. 
The members are then served on banana leafs which takes the 
place of plate, after the first meal the rest is left to the members 
who have all they need from the guilty party. I have been initiated 
into the dukduk and it has helped me a great deal in my dealing 
with the natives, the difference was that the chief who took me 
stood over me and the stick did not come down on me. In  one 
instance I had the opportunity to have recourse to the ukaukap 
some of the natives made a breach of contract with me then to 
punish them I brought ten fathom diw ara and I wanted th irty  
fathoms for myself and the rest would be theirs, I got my th irty  
fathom alright but they claimed fifty.

Burial: the body is propped against some support generally 
a drum  or a tree, then he is decorated with all his ornam ents
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such as opossum teeth collar, his diwara collar, and he is painted 
with stripes of red, white and yellow, and feathers on his head, 
at the call of the drum , the spectators appear and a great crowd 
arrive to witness the burial, the mourners distribute the usual 
betel nut, each spectator take just a couple and proceed to chew 
it, another m ourner follow and give to each spectator a piece of 
diwara it may be from a quarter fathom to two or three, according 
to the im portance of the m an, while this is going on the women 
all painted black are crying for all they worth, it is not crying it 
is howling, after the spectators have received their little donation, 
then the body is stripped of all the ornam ents of value, rolled in 
a m at and hurried, the burial ground is next to the hut and 
sometime in the hut itself, the natives are using the village for 
that purpose they have no special allotm ent for cemetery, after 
that all the spectators leave for their own home, some of the 
m ourner women make a fire on the grave and keep howling for 
a considerable time sometime days, of course they are paid to do 
it.

The fire is kept going for a length of time varying from one 
m onth to two months, m ourning is kept up by the men blackening 
their faces with charcoal, women burning a round nut the shape 
of a walnut, I do not know the name, this nut give a greasy black 
this they smear over their faces and hair, the m ourning duration 
last for some time six months some time longer.

The next of kin is the nephew the son of the dead sister, if he 
has a son or daughter they are not the heirs and are not entitled 
to anything, in this case we presume that the deceased was an 
eagle totem all his children would be hawk totem, and the 
children of his sister would be eagle totem and are the heirs, the 
older of the family generally keep the lot, if he has no nephew it 
go to his brother, if he has no brother well they find someone who 
take the lot amongst the eagle totem.

The natives are very superstitious, they do not believe in 
natural death they believe that he has been poisoned by an enemie 
or cursed by somebody, one of their ways of punishing the culprit 
a t K inigunan was to cut the little finger from the corpse and 
send it to K eraw ara Duke of York Islands who had the reputation 
to be able to revenge the deceased, this was done by burning the 
finger and the smoke from the fire would reach the culprit and 
he would die sooner or later, on some other occasion they blam e 
some of the neighbors, and if by coincidence the poor devil they
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suspect should become ill or die, he was the m an all right who 
caused the trouble. They also are great believers in the power of 
their tribe to be able to poison a person by simply blowing the 
poison toward their victim, also by just putting the poison with a 
stick the size of a m atch, the effect of this superstition is tha t the 
fellow who has such reputation make use of it to his advantage, 
though the result is only imagination, my experience in this 
m atter is that the only poison they have is extracted from plants, 
and in this case is a m atter of swallowing, I have offered ten 
fathom diwara to such a reputable m an using very secret com ­
munication, all I got out of it was that I found out that he was a 
fraud, and he knew it himself so he would not accept my gift as 
long as I did not make it public, there was no reason for him  to 
be uneasy about that, no native would believe me if I did.

O n one occasion a chief has been ill for a considerable time, 
and at his convalescence it was judged necessary by his people 
that he should be nurished with hum an flesh, a t least a feast of 
hum an flesh would restore his health, therefore a victim had to 
be procured and this victim must be from a neighbor village, 
this is how it was arranged. A black sheep of the family was picked 
out, a boy of about twenty or less, too old would not be so tender, 
a price is offered to the boy’s relatives perhaps twenty fathom  
diwara or less, then a day is fixed the relatives lead the boy to an 
ambush on some excuse of some sort, when he reach the spot 
agreed upon the purchasers fall on him and kill him, and the 
victim is carried to his destination to be eaten, this all has been 
done in the quiet, the sole rem em berance about the disappearance 
is that he is gone and a good riddance he must have been taken 
by the Devil called akai an im aginary spirit in the same way as 
we have the devil, the natives do not believe in good spirits there 
is only one to be feared and it is the one who can do harm .

They also attach  great im portance if an individual is sick, the 
occupants of the hu t where he sleep must not sleep anywhere 
else while he is sick, should one do so it is sure to make him  
worse, this is called vakubak.

If  by misfortune a native canoe is carried away to sea by the 
current and he or they should reach the beach a t some other 
district, they are considered victims of the sea and on such ground 
are killed and of course it is another excuse for a feast.

A bushm an going to sea for the first time has to pay a penalty, 
in K inigunan the penalty was rather cruel, on the ground tha t
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he has gone to sea for the first time, the beach tribe kill or wound 
some of their own tribe or a neighbor and the poor fellow has to 
pay the pot, this is one of their unjust customs, in the north coast 
in such case they are more generous instead of killing and causing 
an unjust act they force the noviciate to shout, and the whole 
m atter finish by a good feast a t the expense of the fellow.

They have Ingiet that is a kind of a pledge that the members 
will not eat pork, there is no punishm ent if they break the pledge 
but the superstition keep them from doing so, it is of no value and 
it only affect those who have taken the pledge.

Taw al the natives contrary to our fashion like to have their 
teeth black, this is done by some m ineral collected from the 
vulcan, this is kept on the teeth, while this performance is going 
on the patient eat very little and he keep in a unm arried people’s 
hut th a t would be the bachelor hut, until the teeth are black it 
take some time a couple weeks, generally when the patient come 
out he look rather as if he could do with a good feed, bu t having 
his teeth black make him  proud.

The Mission bought a small yacht from Sydney and were good 
enough to let me have it, so we went to New H anover and along 
the coast of New Ireland, bu t owing to the fact that there was a 
Frenchm an established at R ung  I made for it thinking that with 
his help I would get good recruits, bu t it turned out a failure, we 
only stayed a couple of days and had to tu rn  back very disa- 
pointed, Gangloff the Frenchm an an escapee from New Cale­
donia 83 came with us as far as Kavieng and we left him  there 
where he had business.

H aving already wasted some time unsuccessfully disgusted we 
returned and I did not even try, my aim  was to get home as 
quick as possible. However I had a bit of luck as we were keeping 
close to the shore of New Ireland I saw a lot of natives making 
signs waving, so we m ade for the shore and sure enough I made 
a good haul I got nearly twenty boys w ithin a few hours, and 
since then this place called R atubu  has supplied me with labour­
ers, as I did not like to lose my luck no sooner the recruits were 
on board that we started from there to K inigunan it was only

83 For a portrait of Casimir Gangloff see Cayley-Webster (1898: 289-93). In 
1891 he lost his right arm  and eye in a dynam ite explosion but this did not 
stop him from being a ‘veritable Brigham Young’ and having ‘many wives, 
principally natives of New H anover’.
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forty miles so we were a t K inigunan in the early morning. At 
that time I shifted my house from the beach to about 300 yards 
further inland on a little hill where it is yet, I had at that time a 
Frenchm an who did the carpentering with my help when I could, 
we m anaged to have the house transferred I made it higher by 
splicing two feet off the stanchion of one room to make the 
difference the point in those days was to do with the m aterial on 
hand.

W hile this was going on there was a Greek who had a small 
vessel which I brought from him, the ‘M agnetic’ this I used for 
trading but unfortunately she was too small to do any good, and 
she finished by smashing herself on the shore of New Ireland. 
All this time I was keeping my plantation going slowly as my 
means perm itted.

About a little after I had my house shifted I think it must be 
in 1893 the natives became restless and rumours were circulating 
that the natives would chase the whitem en and take their land 
again, of course knowing their language I was kept in touch with 
all the rum ours to make things worse they had a fanatic who 
made them  believe that he had invented a mixture if rubbed over 
the body would make a m an unvulnerable, no harm  could reach 
the person so smeared, this was only a kind of ointm ent m ade of 
cocosnut oil mixed with some leafs crushed together and  the 
usual cantalion over it. The natives believing in such power 
become very beligerent, rum ours circulated of a trial m ade by 
them of shot being fired at a m an and the bullet did not effect 
him, with this belief the natives became very abusive, even came 
to the New Guinea Com pany plantation and started to pull out 
the cotton plants, bu t the police boys soon send them  away, no 
doubt the password was given on my side I found out tracks of 
m any natives just about quarter of a mile from my house and 
the ground very much tram ped, this was a sure sign that if they 
had succeeded with the New Guinea Com pany a t Kokopo they 
were ready to attack me, fortunately a few shots dispersed them  
and the attem pt failed.

The New Guinea Com pany was a Germ an C hartered Com ­
pany who acted as G overnm ent as well, K olbe84 was the business

84 Com ment on the m argin: ‘Big fellow fair not handsom e’. August K arl 
Paul Kolbe was a former Prussian cavalry officer who had come out to the 
police service of the New Guinea Company. He lost his job  in December 1893
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adm inistrator as well as the Governm ent m agistrate, Geisler was 
in charge of the plantation the native police were under a Germ an 
exsoldier who drilled them and controlled the whole force, I 
should think the force of the police at that time was about fifty 
men, this was not very m uch of a force but with the help of a 
G erm an M an-of-war it was quite sufficient. The next day after 
the attack by the natives it was decided by the head of the Com­
pany and staff to punish the natives of the village where the 
rum ours circulated from, knowing that I could give them  help 
with my knowledge of native I was of the party.

At the time there was a G erm an M an-of-war in port , 85 so it 
was agreed in conjunction to punish the natives. O n the appointed 
day which was only a couple days after the attack we started 
from Kokopo at ten p.m. so as to be ready a t the break of day­
light, Kolbe, Geisler, myself and the Officer in charge of the 
native police, also some of the friendly natives who were only 
few and served as guides under me.

We slept near the village and during the night the natives send 
stones at us with their slings, which did not do any harm , at 
daylight we make a move on, our greatest trouble against us was 
the narrow path  only one a t a time could walk right and left 
thick jungle and some part of it prickly, in such disadvantage we 
had to move on, the natives could see us bu t we could not, our 
progress was very slow and the surroundings very still the only

as a result of ‘disciplinary proceedings’, almost certainly because of his role 
in the 1893 uprising and, being not only unemployed but also in debt, he 
proposed to Queen Emm a and was accepted (after Farrell’s death, in 1886, 
she lived with Captain Agostino Stalio but he was killed in 1892). T he couple 
died in M onte Carlo in 1913, within two days of each other.

85 The cruiser Sperber, captained by von Arnoldi, which arrived in New Guinea 
early in December 1893. T he ‘expeditionary’ force consisted of the local 
contingent mentioned by M outon, in charge of Kolbe, and a group of sixty 
sailors from the Sperber, led by the Adm inistrator Schmiele. According to the 
French version (p. 73), on the eve of the punitive expedition the villagers had 
offered M outon diwara on the condition that he did not join it, but he said he 
was a ‘W hitem an’ and had  to go with the others. M outon also fails to mention 
the shelling of the rebellious villagers, possibly because it was ineffective. The 
uprising, which lasted from M arch until December 1893, was caused by 
Queen Em m a’s encroachm ent on village land and was triggered off by the 
behaviour of her Buka labourers. T here was an earlier attack on R alum  in 
M arch 1890.



sound was the birds, then of a sudden as we reached a bunch of 
bamboo the fun started, bullets stones started, no spears the 
distance was not suitable for spear throwing, we returned the fire, 
but the natives no sooner firing that they disappeared toward an 
elevated village called M ukuravudu, we could hear them at some 
distance and now again a stone or two would reach us to show us 
that they were there, from the guide I become aware of their 
tactic, when we reached a grass patch they showed fight again 
and their intention was to rush us, but our fire kept them out, 
we could have done a lot of dam age if the native police had been 
more disciplined, bu t it was no use they fired at anything, it was 
at that patch that I m anaged to drop a fellow with white feathers 
on his head and a round disk on his chest he was about three 
hundred yards, all I can say is that we saw him drop and  the 
next the blood, the wounded was carried away.

Later we arrived at a village on a hill there the natives came 
from all directions uphill to attack us with the exception of one 
side which showed level ground the rest could not be approached 
by climbing to reach us, the native police were uncontrolable and 
I and the officer and the other whites told them not to use our 
am unition wastefully. the natives came from all directions, a t last 
through the level side we saw a fellow painted red and white and 
carrying no arms all he had in each hand a bunch of croton like 
a bunch of flowers, he did not last long as soon seen he was shot, 
from that m oment we could have heard a pin drop after a while, 
no sooner the wizard dropped all we could hear was the rush of 
natives through the bush, I cut one of his ears to show the natives 
of K inigunan, so tha t the fact that they really believed the w izard 
and evidently he believed it himself because he was unarm ed and 
like a priest leading his followers, this part of the attack only 
concerned those of that village or district we had to pass through 
some other districts who did not know the death of the w izard 
so we had to be careful to go back we had two roads the nearest 
we had to cross a river not very wide but each side very steep, 
my guide informed me that it was quite possible for the enemies 
to drop rocks from the top, that was enough for me I took the 
longer road bu t we missed the am bush, bu t on the other hand 
we were not expected to return  that way and Parkinson told the 
M an-of-war sailors who were watching that the enemies would 
come the way we did, we did not know nothing about this 
arrangem ent and the first thing we heard when we come to the



open was a shot as it come from a pistol it sounded very much 
like a native shot, so we shot at the smoke and I and Geisler who 
were pretty  good shots caused a stir and then the sailors send 
their volley, we soon knew that it was not native fire it was 
fortunate for us tha t where we were there was a sloping ground 
which we used quick and lively, and had we been on level ground 
I am  afraid tha t we would have fared very badly.

Fortunately we only fired two shots, the native police did not 
shoot for a wonder they obeyed, the sailors after having send a 
couple of volleys become to wonder and stopped firing and as 
we did not fire the silence reigned and my whistle could be heard 
and shout, so we m anaged to reach the sailors unscratched, of 
the fight the only dam age we had is a friendly native shot through 
the arm  and only a flesh wound no bone broken, and a few 
bullet holes through native loincloth called lavalava, of the 
enemie we shot a few bu t not m any two we were sure the natives 
did not like to adm it their defeat. The death of the witch or 
wizard settled the whole m atter to a certain point , 86 for instance 
when I show my natives the ear they told me that it was the ear 
of a child, so we were ra ther on the alert, some of the natives kept 
showing troublesome, they would set fire to grass pull cotton 
plants and show very insolent yet, as it was with the ear it did not 
suit them  to believe, I could see by their eyes that there was 
something brewing.

My friend Togua told me that there was a plot to wipe out 
Kokopo, that is the New Guinea Com pany the plan was to get 
the firearms and  then take the rest would be easy, unfortunately 
for them  they did not estimate the reverse, the back of my place 
where there was a track going to Kokopo showed to me that a 
great num ber of natives had  used the path, also one day I noticed 
a lot of natives hiding about three hundred yards from my house 
in the shrub, while some were busy with Kokopo they would 
attack me and no doubt the Mission also, bu t I must say that it

80 The ‘wizard’s’ name was Tavalai. H e belonged to the Paparatava and had 
reportedly received 1000 fathoms diwara for his ointm ent. Salisbury (1970: 
80) gives the native account of the reason for the uprising’s failure: one of the 
local converts to M ethodism obtained some of the magic ointm ent and gave 
it to the Governm ent forces thus making them invulnerable. M outon’s assertion 
that the ‘death of the w izard settled the whole m atter to a certain poin t’ is 
equally plausible, however.



was only their way of looking at the position, and the rem aining 
belief of the witch, fortunately their first attem pt was a failure at 
once and lasted only one day, then m atters became norm al again 
and by that time the news that the witch was really killed by a 
bullet convinced them  that the witch was a fraud, meanwhile 
the witch must have done well because I understand that he sold 
his medicine for diwara, by what I can gather is that, with the 
complicity of some fellow from the village he made a business of 
this fraud for some time before it came to a head, and the rumours 
about shooting came only from the same village, of course I 
presume that he only used blank cartridges or loaded the gun 
but omitted the bullet, it is wonderful how such a simple trick 
could cause a lot of trouble, w hat I cannot understand is that the 
witch who was a young m an of no more than twenty five or 
thirty years old, m ust have believed the fraud himself, the 
indication of such belief is that he approached us unarm ed and 
was dancing and singing and in such way that showed th a t he 
was not afraid of bullet.

Just about a little after this occurence I came to the conclusion 
that if I could get a little capital I would be able to get along 
so I approached the New Guinea Com pany for a loan of one 
thousand pound, they were willing to do so at the rate of eight 
per cent, but m eantim e Father C ouppe87 the head of the Sacred 
H eart Mission in New Britain made me an offer to lend me the 
money for ten years a t the rate of five per cent, I understand that 
Father Couppe heard from someone tha t I had approached the 
New Guinea Company, so I accepted the offer, against my land 
as security, that is about three thousand acres of land, and some 
of it planted with cocosnut trees a good w eatherboard house etc.

After having borrowed the money I came to the conclusion 
that the best thing for me was to be independent, I started to get 
my goods from Sydney Father M erg then Procurator for the 
Mission acted as Agent, I kept on little by little I sold my copra 
to Burns Philp & Co. L td . 88 of Sydney and ordered goods from

87 Bishop, not Father Couppe (see fn. 79).
88 Established in 1883 by the am algam ation of the various business interests of 
Jam es Burns and R obert Philp, the firm ran a subsidised shipping service to 
British New Guinea from 1886. T he line was extended to Germ an New Guinea 
in 1898 but Burns Philp was driven out of the Protectorate in 1905. T he correct 
name of the firm is Burns, Philp and Co.



Sydney, in this m anner I got my goods cheaper and got a better 
price for a produce, the SS ‘M oresby’ was then running C aptain 
Williams as M aster.

In  1896 or thereabout a germ an nam ed Deckner came to me 
and I employed him as overseer in the plantation and a help as 
well, he came to the territory with a crowd of gold miners who 
bought a small boat the ‘Strella’ with the intention of prospect­
ing for gold, bu t they were disappointed, the New Guinea 
Com pany G overnm ent did w ant any gold mining business going 
on for time being so they had to give it u p ,89 they tried trading 
in shells bu t it did not pay, so two of the crew both Germans 
stayed Deckner and Schneider, Deckner stayed with me and the 
other went with the New Guinea C om pany.90

Deckner was a dream er he told me that there was a good thing 
in the Adm iralty Islands in beachlem er [beche-de-mer\ , and asked 
if I would finance the scheme which was to go to Sydney by a 
small schooner of about 25 tons or thirty. The idea was rather 
risky he himself was not a sailor and had no ticket however he 
learned how to take the sun and he was able to the sextant, and 
even he could overcome the trouble by engaging a m aster with a 
certificate to bring the ship in, we agree and I gave instructions 
to my Agent to supply the funds, I paid his passage on the 
‘M oresby’ to Sydney, he did not waste time in Sydney he was 
lucky to find a small schooner of twenty five tons fitted her and 
sailed from Sydney as far as I can rem em ber he picked up a crew 
enough to handle the ship and one day he sailed away without 
troubling about the shipping law, however his departure was not 
noticed, and the New Guinea Com pany G overnm ent did not 
trouble about it in those days they were not so particular. H e was 
very lucky to have fine weather and m ade a very good passage 
I think he only took twenty two days to reach Kokopo.

We paid off the crew and replaced them  by native crew, his 
first trip was for the A dm iralty, and filled the vessel with beach­
lemer of all mixed quality, while a t the A dm iralty Islands he got 
rather a scare he was surrounded by canoes and he did not like 
the attitude of the natives, the natives of the Adm iralty were

89 The story of the search for gold in the territory (including the Germ an 
period) has been told in Healy 1965. Also useful is Blum (1900: 140-46).
90 ‘R eturned to’ would be more ap propria te : Schneider was earlier (in 1889-90) 
captain of the com pany’s ship Ysabel.



known to be very bellicose bu t he m anaged to make a paying 
trip, the conditions were that the ship would be his when he 
could pay off w hat it cost, unfortunately he did not see his way 
clear to make a second trip  to the Admiralty. The native nam e 
for the A dm iralty is M anus so that the enterprise as far as Deckner 
was concerned ended, then he went for green snails, a t St. Jo h n  
Islands there he established his business with the natives but 
there again he brought a load of green snails shells and did not 
feel inclined to collect the fruit of his enterprise, the vessel was 
in his nam e but m ortgaged to me so I had to take the vessel 
from him. A chinam an went a few months after and made a good haul 
of green snail shell which should have been Deckner’s ifhe only went 
a second time for it and really collect the fruit of his organisation.

In 1897 Captain M onrad and C aptain R ondahl91 and myself 
we formed a partnership for the purpose of establishing trading 
stations all over the territory, under the nam e of O. M outon & 
Co. C aptain M onrad was a danish national C aptain R ondahl a 
swede and I Belgian, to have the vessel under one flag we arranged 
to be naturalized Germans.

C aptain R ondahl and M onrad went to Sydney and purchased 
a ketch of forty five tons, they filled her with cargo and returned 
to Kokopo, my place was only half mile from Kokopo.

The Ship’s nam e was ‘M uruna’ she was build at N aroom a, 
and was about 50 tons gross, C aptain M onrad took charge of 
her, the first trip she m ade was to O ntong Java  (Lord Howe 
Islands) not the Lord Howe known by Sydney people only a 
few mile from Sydney, there we established a trader bu t could 
not obtain any land the natives would not sell land, so we used a 
native to do the trading under the supervision of the K ing 
W eela,92 then after that we went to Greenwich Islands one degree

91 Com ment on the m arg in : ‘He m arried Grace Coe. He divorced her, she 
m arried Schm idt who was working on [his] plantation [Kabakaul]. He then 
worked the plantation for Rondahl. Grace a very fine wom an.’ W alter Schm idt 
later owned R ainau  plantation.
82 Spelt U ila in Sarfert and Dam m  (1929: 8). The first copra trader on the 
island was a Samoan who worked for Queen Emm a in the early 1890s, also 
under the auspices of K ing Uila. Hernsheim  followed soon after and M outon 
around 1897. Both established themselves on Luangiua where most of the 
3000 or so islanders lived. Hernsheim  withdrew after the islands were trans­
ferred to G reat Britain as a result of the Samoa T reaty  of 1899, and M outon 
ceased to trade there in 1903. Queen Em m a’s trader rem ained on the islands 
until 1909 after which date Lever Bros had a monopoly of the local copra trade.
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north of the equator, on this Island there was already one nam ed 
Patterson who traded for Mrs. Forsayth , 93 the Captain took him 
to Ponape, the Spanish G overnm ent gave us proper perm it to 
trade a t Greenwich Islands Mrs. Forsayth did not get that perm it 
and was trading on the Island w ithout any perm it, here I must 
explain tha t Mrs. Forsayth was Mrs. Farrell previously m en­
tioned, she took Farrell’s business on hand after his death, she 
[Muruna] brought some copra with her from Greenwich, the next 
trip  was to put trader on G ardner Island , 94 Kavieng New Ire­
land, then the ‘M uruna’ m ade a trip to M anus and brought a 
load of beachlemer.

W hen we could spare the ‘M uruna’ we used her recruiting, 
the first trip  we had a good luck we took more then she could 
take the recruits swimed on board, this batch was for a term of 
three years, I was very pleased to have them for my plantation.

The plantation was my own private property and was not 
included in the company, the company interests were only 
concentrated on the outside business, even the store was my own 
which I supplied to the com pany a t cost price, we kept going for 
a while the three of us then R ondahl showed some lack of interest 
in the business, and after one year we dissolved partnership and 
only M onrad and I rem ained together, R ondahl started a p lan ta­
tion a t K ulon or ra ther Mrs. R ondahl did, she was the capable 
pioneer, R ondahl would not have had much if it has not been 
for her Mrs. R ondahl was related to Mrs. Forsayth.

T hen  I and M onrad were together, and I must say tha t we 
agree very well together, often my first contingent of labourers 
finished their time we had to return  them  to their place at 
Bougainville, after three years each recruit had a box filled with 
sundry trade goods such as tobacco pipes axes butcher knives 
beads printed calico to the value of w hat was due to them . 95 The

93 Louis Patterson, an Englishman who settled on the islands in 1892 and 
m arried the daughter of a local ‘high priest’. He died in 1899 (Emory 1965: 17). 
For Mrs Forsayth substitute M rs Kolbe: she m arried Kolbe in 1893 (see 
fn. 84) bu t traded under the nam e E. E. Forsayth.
94 Also known as T abar. In  1893 M outon had recruited thirty labourers on the 
island (French version, p. 77).
98 T he usual monthly wage of an indentured plantation worker was five marks, 
plus food and lodgings. As a rule this was supplemented by a weekly issue of 
one or two sticks of tobacco and a box of matches, and a monthly issue of a 
lavalava and  perhaps a clay pipe a well. A blanket, a bowl and a spoon, issued
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landing was not always a pleasant business, some time it was 
more dangerous than recruiting, in some instance we had to be 
very careful to land the boys in their proper village, if not a 
mistake would m ean the death of the boy for the sake of the goods 
and would also serve as a feast menus for the crowd I am  now 
speaking of 1900.

W hile we returned the laborers we also wanted new recruits, 
in one instance while we were returning and recruiting in 
Bougainville, of course I did the recruiting while the C aptain 
remained on board to look after the ship, that day in the morning 
early seeing a lot of natives on shore I went on shore and by the 
look of things there was a good prospect, I had New Britain boys 
with me to guard against any trouble, on land at one place at 
m outh of a creek where the crowd of natives were standing, I 
notice some queer movement on the part of one or two natives, 
and in kanaka language I gave instruction to my guard to be 
prepared, I noticed for one thing, tha t a native m ade a very 
funny movement in coming toward the boat, he seemed to walk 
dragging something, and another one came near the boat with 
one of his arms kept close to his body, like if he was keeping 
something under his arm , I also noticed a peculiar glitter in his 
eyes, so when I thought that he was near enough, I pointed my 
revolver a t him  and told him  to lift his arms, so sure enough under 
his dropped a short handled hatchet, and those dragging their 
feet were dragging spears with their toes, had they been able to 
be near enough it would have been an attack, the one with the 
hatchet would knock me on the head and the spears would have 
come out of the w ater like lightning, of course I w arned my crew 
of the move which I detected, and we were prepared, my know­
ledge of the native change of face and the glittering of the eyes 
gave them  away, well a native do not turn white or red but he 
tu rn  the colour of ash and the eyes give a sparking shade, which 
jum p as well like trembling, however having discovered their 
deceitful plan, and seeing tha t it was failure they acted as if

on arrival, completed the list of a labourer’s worldly possessions. I f  a worker 
came from an outlying district the employer usually w ithheld half of the cash 
wage; on the expiration of the contract the sum due was converted into trade 
goods such as those m entioned by M outon. In  1907 some of M outon’s labourers 
a t K inigunan were paid ten marks a m onth (CAO, AA 63/83, box 52, case 
10/1907).
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nothing has occured and I recruited just as if nothing had 
happened, in fact after they found out that it was no use, and I 
told them  in a laughing m anner turning the whole m atter as a 
joke, exactly w hat was their plan and action they laughed, and 
they say tha t I know too much, that day I did a good recruiting 
day, though they were prepared to kill me and the crews. The 
business was doing well in those days it was the time to do well 
though the price for copra was not much on the Island we got a 
good price in Sydney, later things changed and we m ade better 
conditions to the traders, some of the stations did not do well for 
instance we had one on G ardner Island and it did not do well, 
under one m anager it would do well and under another one it 
would do very badly, in the trading business there was always a 
chance of striking the wrong one.

O n one occasion when we came to G ardner Island we found 
the station empty, the m anager had disappeared, we found out 
tha t he had sold the copra to some vessel and went to Sydney, 
some of those traders passing by boat would help them  just to get 
the copra cheap also a plausible story would be accepted.

W hile I had the ‘M uruna’ I still had the ‘M inna’ and this 
boat was doing some recruiting and loading copra from near 
stations, after Deckner left I had to get a captain to take charge 
of her, first I had an old m an who had been in M anus doing 
trading there, and I thought to send him to M anus but he did 
not like it so after having done some recruiting I had to get rid 
of him, then I got another one but he did not last long, one day 
I went with him to take a cargo of copra, during the night a 
north west blow came and as the anchorage was unsafe the 
C aptain tried to heave anchore and get away, he may have done 
so if he had been sober, but it was too late the vessel went on 
shore, and landed nicely on a sandy patch w ithout dam age , 96  

she was very strongly build of Australia hardwood, her ribs were 
natural so I had to get rid of the skipper and the vessel rem ained 
on shore for twelve m onths, everthing movable was taken out of 
her and put a t the trad er’s shed at the time I had a G erm an 
trading for me.

W hile the ‘M inna’ was on shore the ‘M uruna’ was doing good 
work, and so far we were doing well, M onrad was the propper 
m an for the business, the ‘M uruna’ between carting copra and

9G In December 1900, on the island ofWatom (German New Guinea 1900-01).
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attending to the traders, had no time to spare and it was quite a 
strain to have a week to recruit, if we did so it was felt and some 
trading business had to be neglected, once a year we send the 
‘M uruna’ to Greenwich, on this occasion this trip M onrad went 
to Greenwich and when he arrived there he found out tha t the 
trader Patterson died a few days before he reached the Island, 
he died of T.B. M onrad m ade an inventory of the stock on hand 
with the mate as a witness, and when he came back to K inigunan 
I m ade the A/c and after the stock on hand and produce received, 
it proved that we were the looser of a few hundred pounds.

About the same year Hersheim and Co. M atupi brought the 
first auxiliary vessel from San Fancisco, amongst the crew there 
was an Americanized W eed, he told me that he would be able 
to save the ‘M inna’ he tried but failed, then a frenchm an who 
also was a crew of the same ship stayed with me and while with 
me I kept him busy with sewing sails for boats, then he told me 
that he would have a try a t the ‘M inna’, so I m ade arrangem ent 
with him  that he would have half of the ship’s value if I could 
sell her, after he worked for about one m onth, he succeeded in 
saving her and he brought her to K inigunan, the ship a t that 
time was no use to me so, not very long after, Schneider who was 
a party of the crew with Deckner came to me and asked if I 
would sell the ‘M inna’ this I accepted and the ship was sold to 
Schneider, I do not rem em ber the price but I think it was about 
six hundred pounds, I gave Pourteau three hundred pounds as 
agreed, Pourteau then went to Hernsheim and Co. and m ade for 
Hersheim and Co. their plantation at Portland Islands he m ade 
a good job of it, and after he had trouble with Hernsheim  he 
started a plantation of his own in the Bainings, later, he was a 
very capable m an. W hen we started w ith  the partnership there 
was also another scheme on we had our eyes on French Islands 
and it was agreed that Peter H ansen 97 then on the Islands would

97 ‘King Peter’ Hansen, a Danish sailor with a long association with New 
Guinea. He had traded for the D .H .P.G . in the early 1880s, accompanied 
Finsch on his 1884 expedition, joined Queen Emma in 1885 and worked for 
her in a num ber of localities, including O ntong Java  and Nukum anu. He was 
the first trader on the French Islands (officially known at V itu Islands since 
1909) which he ‘bought’ in 1898 for the New Guinea Company, living in a 
style which became legendary. In  1903 the islanders burned down his house, 
killed most of his traders and he himself apparently escaped only by accident. 
He was not allowed to return, and spent the next five years m anaging planta-
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buy from the natives all the land he could, bu t this turned out a 
failure, Peter Hansen preferred to deal with the New Guinea 
C om pany and left us in the lurch, had he done w hat we wanted 
him to do we would have had the French Islands to our asset, 
and as it proved later a very good one at that, Hansen with the 
credit of the New Guinea Com pany lived in high style and 
finished by losing all he had and died a poor m an a t R abaul, I 
often m et him  a t R abaul and in talking I told him  w hat a fool 
he has been but he said he had a good time and he was quite 
satisfy, so no more about it.

I t  was about tha t time 1900-1901 that I could not manage the 
p lantation who was going on splendidly that I engaged a clerk to 
help me while I was looking after the plantation he was doing 
all the clerical work and the store, he was D utch by nationality 
and a very good reliable m an, having somebody in charge of my 
place, we decided to go to Sydney to have an engine put into the 
‘M u ru n a’, and in 1902 we started for Sydney98 on board the 
‘M u ru n a’, during the trip C aptain  M onrad had sore eyes and I 
had to take the observation with the sextant I could take the 
m orning and the evening sun bu t the noon was rather intriguing 
so M onrad m anaged that part, this only last a few days then his 
eyes got better, from K inigunan we went to Greenwich Islands to 
take a load of copra to act as balast, and also to leave M onrad’s 
wife a native from Greenwich on the Island while we went to 
Sydney, that was the first time I went to Greenwich. We did not 
get favourable wind and it took us a week to make about four 
hundred miles, we stayed on the Island a few days to land trade 
and take copra.

Greenwhich Islands99 is composed of eleven small Islands all

tions on the Gazelle Peninsula. In  1908 he went to Bougainville to run  the 
Toiem onapu plantation for the New Britain Corporation, established in 
Sydney in 1907. He died a virtual pauper in Rabaul. (For a detailed biography, 
see Groves 1925.)

98 Possibly a slip of memory. According to the French version (pp. 81 and 85) 
M outon had visited Sydney in 1900 and again in 1901.
99 Also known as K apingam arangi or, to Spanish scientists, as Los Pescadores, 
the islands had a population of about 150-200 in M outon’s time. T he islanders’ 
lack of stamina, referred to below by M outon, m ay have been due to ringworm. 
‘Nearly every native was covered with the skin disease called “ tokelan ring­
worm ” in Fiji,’ said the C aptain of H .M .S. Espiigle in 1883 (Eilers 1934: 6).
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covered with cocosnut palms, they are very flat Islands, and the 
natives depend on cocosnuts and breadfruits for their diet also a 
gunagun a small taro growing in brakish water, the breadfruits 
is preserved by the natives, they use the ripe fruits which they 
roll in a thin sheet and then they roll it like a sausage, or to be 
more accurate like the sailors do with tobacco leafes, they make 
a paste of it and dry it in the sun with a roller they press it as 
fine as they can, and roll it as tight as possible then they cover it 
with pandanus leaves, they are some of them  as long as four feet 
and of about three inches diam eter the taste is not 
unlike fig.

The Islands are atoles fringing on one side by the eleven 
Islands so near each other that a low tide one can walk from one 
to the other, on one side are the Islands and the rest is fringed by 
reefs this form practically a large cup the inside is the lagoon 
which in some place is deep enough to take the largest ship, the 
appearance is very pretty, the lagoon is about two miles long 
perhaps more, the white bottom  sand give the water a sky blue, 
the Islands are fringed with cocosnut palms and the green against 
the white beach and blue w ater resemble the picture the Japanese 
are so fond of painting, the inside of each Island is generally 
reserved for bread-fruit trees, the whole Islands if the natives did 
not use such a lot for their food would produce about 100 tons of 
copra, bu t it is a good year if they produce 50 tons, and some 
year when the drought is on they cannot spare any it has to be 
used for food, their principal food is fish and cocosnut the bread­
fruit rolls they make are kept for emergencie when the drought 
is on, there is only one small passage to enter the lagoon and it is 
necessary to go in at hight tide or when the tide come in so that 
the current help to go in, I dont suppose that the entrance is more 
than hundred feet and at some place less, in going in one can see 
the coral reef on each side of the vessel.

The natives are the same as in the Carolines they are copper 
colour some of them  quite light, and the girls are ra ther good to 
look at, the physique is rather fair size in the men some of them

T he same was true twenty-five years later (Eilers 1934: 56; Schlaginhaufen 
1908: 955). M onrad was well-known on the islands as C aptain ‘M onera’ and 
had introduced the sweet potato there (Eilers 1934: 149).
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are six feet high and strongly build, only they have no stam ina in 
them, their life is too easy to give them  enough excercise to make 
them hard, when loading copra it is a point not to fill the bag 
too full, I doubt if they could carry a bag of about 120 pounds, 
they may for a short while bu t not long.

The m en’s duty  is to fish and to get cocosnuts and if they make 
copra to cut and dry the nu t in the sun, they generally split the 
nu t in two after the fibre husk has been removed and expose the 
kernel to the sun, a t night they tu rn  the nuts upside down so as 
to expose the shell to the rain if any, this make very good copra 
when there is fine weather in three days the nuts are dried 
beautifully white, this is cut in three or five pieces and stored into 
the shed ready to be bagged when the ship come, the women are 
doing all the cooking and some of them are very clever in making 
hats m ade of pandanus leafes, they are so well done that they 
are the shapes of panam a hats, they are also good at making fine 
mats, and some of them  are so well done and soft that the women 
use them as a loin cloth, like everywhere else amongst the pacific 
the women have the worst end of the stick, bu t in Greenwich 
Islands they cannot complain they have a very easy time.

Their life is very calm and simple, they are even so calm that 
I do not think tha t they have a row amongst themselves, theft 
is not known they have only spear for fish as a weapon, for fish 
not for fighting, as they have no enemies, their nearest neighbor 
is miles away no less than three hundred miles of pacific ocean 
separate them. However in the past they have had visitors long 
time ago, a canoe landed on Greenwich they were castaways and 
drifted there all nearly dead from exposure and hunger, the 
Greenwich natives brought them to life again and kept them  for 
a considerable time, by the description of the natives they must 
have been natives from the G ilbert Islands, their canoe was a 
large one and they were no more than six or eight peoples. Those 
castaways after a while they become homesick and for this 
purpose m ade ready w ith provisions and made their canoe fit for 
travelling and one day to the surprise of the Greenwich natives 
they massacred a great num ber of the Greenwich natives, to that 
extent tha t the Island was depleted of their peoples only a few 
remained, then they took to sea, if the w eather was fine and 
smooth no doubt they reached their goal bu t otherwise they had 
to make nine hundred miles to reach their destination, of course 
they may have reached the nearer Islands.
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This is the only tragedy they ever h ad , 100 but their most fear 
is drought to them it m ean nearly starvation if it last too long, 
religion I understand that they have a hut reserved in some place 
which they respect very much, and are talking of a very old m an 
who was the founder of the Islands, I also know that there is one 
Island without cocosnuts and the natives are very superstitious 
about it, however like the rest of them  they believe in bad spirits.

Having loaded our ship with copra after a stay of one week 
we m ade a start and we took with us a couple of Greenwich 
Islanders as crew, the weather rem ained rather fine all the time, 
and from Greenwich to near Newcastle we had very good 
w eather then we caught a nasty southerly bust, and for two days 
we had to battle against it, this unfortunately pu t us back two 
days, the only incident during the trip is that M onrad got bad 
eye rheumatism in the eyes, so he taught me how to take the sun 
with the sextant and so we m anaged.

We arrived in Sydney harbour in M ay, I know that I had only 
white suit and I wore two suit to keep me warm, from the time 
I arrived to the Islands to the time I arrived in Sydney it was 
twenty one years since I saw civilisation, I think we arrived on a 
Sunday because it was very quiet, and we could not get in touch 
with store, the only one we saw was the custom officer who stayed 
on board to see tha t we had no dutiable goods on board, beside 
the customs and the Doctor of course, the only person we came 
in contact was Paul the butcher in those day he used to to row a 
skiff to the ship and take orders, Paul was of G erm an descent I 
believe, the next day business looked brighter that is w hat make 
me think that it was a Sunday, Paul was good enough to take 
me to David Jones and there we got a rig-out complete, M onrad 
had European clothes but he got a rig-out as well, of course they 
were ready made clothes, and they were blue serge, I never will 
forget that day, when I went on shore the noise and the traffic 
affected me very m uch, and I was quite useless in the street, this 
lasted only a few days then I got my nerves quiten and in not 
time I was O .K . the only thing I could not get out of my im ag­
ination is that I had the impression that everybody was looking at

100 Not altogether correct. According to oral tradition the islands had also 
been raided by the M adjuro people from the M arshall Islands (Eilers 1934: 
150).
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me, I know that it was only im agination but there it was and it 
m ade me very miserable for a time, until I m anaged to master 
this feeling, my friends told me that it was my own im agination 
and that the people did not take no special notice of me, I just 
fancy that a m an from the outback when he come to the city he 
m ust feel like that, and no doubt it is one of the reasons that we 
can detect a county dweller from a city one, the way he walk and 
the way he tu rn  round to look if somebody really take notice of 
him , bu t he has one thing I did not have and that is the bushm an 
walk, the long and dragging walk.

W e gave ourselve a week holiday before we started business, 
and I think we deserved it, the first thing I had to do was to look 
for an hotel, W. Lucas101 of Burns Philp & Co. Ltd. m anaged 
tha t for me and he put me to the Oxford Hotel in K ing Street, 
Lucas thought tha t it would be the best Hotel for me he was 
right in a way but I did not like it there was something that did 
not agree with me, w hat it was I could not tell.

However I did not stay long in a Hotel I did not feel a t home 
so I shifted to the G rand Central in Clarence Street this seemed 
to suit me better, thought there was not much difference, but I 
presume that in the Oxford there was some stiffness which I did 
not like.

Now for business, on inquiries and experts statements we were 
told that the ‘M u ru n a’ was not build for a propeller having no 
stern post sufficiently large and strong enough to take the pro­
peller, they could do so if we wanted at the expense of the 
strength of the ship it m ean that they would have had to splice 
a stern post to the original which was one piece keel job, this 
splicing would weaken the ship and the expenses were to be 
taken in consideration the quotation was rather heavy, so taking 
all in consideration we agree that the only thing to do was to go 
back to K inigunan and see tha t w hat can be done in the m atter.

M onrad went back with the ‘M uruna’ and I went with the 
‘M oresby’ to K inigunan, quite a civilized citizen, M onrad

101 W alter H. Lucas joined Burns, Philp and Co. in 1896 and became Islands 
Inspector in 1910. H e was one of the Royal Commissioners on the future of 
Germ an New Guinea (1919) and, after his resignation from Burns Philp, was 
appointed chairm an of the Expropriation Board. He was said to be a ‘most 
objectionable type of m an’ whom ‘they all hate and are ashamed o f’ (Bassett 
1969: 15 and 38). He left New Guinea in 1927 and died in Canberra in 1954.
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arrived a t K inigunan a little behind me but we were not very 
much far apart to our arrival. After about nine months we talked 
the m atter over again and we decided to have a new schooner 
build with a engine as auxiliary, therefore I came to Sydney by 
myself and with the help of Edw ard Lanser I found the builder 
of the ‘M uruna’, who was at Naroom a on the south coast, I m ade 
all the arrangem ents and M oat the builder started to work, I 
m ade arrangem ents with Lanser about fixing financial m atters 
and I went away then Lanser kept me informed as the work 
progressed, in those days I did not know anybody in Sydney and 
was not too keen on staying in Sydney the sooner I could get 
away the better for me, so I only paid my visit as the business 
on hand required, and between the laying of the keel and the 
finishing touch I only came once to Sydney, the building of the 
vessel lasted I think nine or twelve months, the ‘M uruna’ would 
be in our hand then so we were fortunate enough to sell her to 
W ahlen102 for £500 we had no use for her now and it was a fair 
price we thought, and it was a very useful opportunity to get rid 
of her, however, M onrad felt it very much to part with his old 
ship. We received information tha t the vessel was ready to be 
launched so we took passage on the ‘M oresby’ and went to 
Sydney me and M onrad. O n arrival at Sydney we stayed a t the 
G rand Central we had a good room No. 7 with two beds one for 
M onrad and one for me it was a very good large room and  we 
were able to invite friends to have a drink with us in our room,

102 Heinrich R udolph W ahlen came to New Guinea in 1895, at the age of 
twenty-two. He became an independent trader in 1903, while still a relatively 
junior clerk with Hernsheim and Co. In  1906 he secured for £5000 from his 
former employer an option on their Herm it Islands concession, went to Germ any 
where he floated the Heinrich R udolf W ahlen Aktiengesellschaft and got 
himself appointed m anaging director, returned to New Guinea, exercised 
his option and became almost overnight a m an of means. He was appointed 
Swedish Consul in 1907, owned one of the two first cars on the Gazelle Penin­
sula (Bishop Couppd had the other) and in 1910 he formed in G erm any the 
Forsayth G .m .b.H . which bought out Queen Emm a in the same year (it was 
converted into the Ham burgische Suedsee-Aktiengesellschaft, or HASAG, in 
1913). After 1910 W ahlen spent most of his time in Germ any and England 
(he m arried the daughter of the Swedish Consul-General in London), and 
during part of W orld W ar One drove a m otor ambulance, presented by 
himself to the Germ an Government. He was still alive in H am burg in the 
mid-1960s. His erstwhile employer Eduard Hernsheim died in Germ any in 
1917.
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we stayed quite three months there at that Hotel we could do 
nothing else than  waiting until such time the new ‘M uruna’ 
which was called after the old one, was ready to go to sea, the 
installation of the rigging and the engine took some time, m ean­
time I got m arried and just a few days before the ‘M uruna’ left, 
I rem em ber tha t the ‘M uruna’ left in Septem ber , 103 me and my 
wife were staying at the G rand C entral a t the time, for one thing 
we had to see the ship off which we did.

From  that time to the present day it still rem ain a secret w hat 
has happen, after the departure of the ‘M uruna’ we left by the 
‘M oresby’ and was surprised to learn that the ‘M uruna’ did not 
arrive yet according to time she should have been a t K inigunan 
a week ago , 104 by the disappearence of the new ‘M uruna’ a great 
calam ity befel me all our enterprise and prospect came to a 
standstill, we had m ade arrangem ent to tackle the Carolines etc. 
and m any other prospects, now I was left with the whole business 
in my hand and my right hand gone, I found it impossible to 
carry  on, because M onrad never could be replaced. After allow 
three months to expire I had to get a vessel to replace the ‘M ur­
u n a ’ thought a t the time the N orddeutscher Lloyd105 was a great 
help because they were taking the copra cargo from every 
station still my recruiting business would suffer also place where 
the N .D .L. boats would not go, for instance the N .D .L. went to 
Greenwich twice and would not go again, on account of the 
passage, however the passage was allright with a steamer if taken 
a t high tide, bu t not been too popular I had to help myself the 
best I could.

103 ‘While in Sydney I m et a young lass and got m arried on 16 September 
[1903]’ (French version, p. 82).
104 Comment on the m argin: ‘Last news when she passed Newcastle.’
105 Established in Bremen in 1857, the line started a regular subsidised service 
between Singapore and Kokopo in M ay 1893 (from 1886 to 1892 the New 
Guinea Com pany m aintained a connection with Cooktown). T he service was 
extended to Sydney in 1902. In  1904 the Singapore-Kokopo line ceased to 
operate and the Sydney-New Guinea service was extended to Hongkong and 
to Japanese ports, under the nam e of A ustral-Japan Line. In  April 1905 the 
Norddeutscher Lloyd agreed to m aintain regular coastal service in the colony 
and  offered favourable shipping terms to settlers who signed an exclusive 
five-year contract w ith it, thus forcing Burns, Philp and Co. to withdraw. T he 
service between New G uinea and Singapore was re-opened in 1909.
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The ‘M uruna’ was insured and the only loss I really had was 
the loss of M onrad and the abandon of all our prospects, I went 
to Sydney and I bought a secondhand boat a schooner of about 
70 tons, which was christened ‘M onantha’ with Captain Stras­
burg106 in charge, I used her to recruit and sometime take cargo 
of copra but it was only Greenwich for tha t work, I m ade a trip 
to Greenwich with her we stayed eight days, we had very bad 
luck on that trip, we took six weeks to make four hundred miles 
we had calm all that time we reached the equator, w hat we did 
at night we lost it in the day, and the heat was unbearable, at 
last a puff of wind came and we m anaged to reach Greenwich, our 
return back only took us four days, we had a good favourable 
wind and made good progress w hat a difference if we had only 
an engine what a lot of time it would have saved, from that time 
I came to the conclusion that the sailing vessel did not pay too 
much time wasted.

W ith the ‘M onantha’ I did not do m uch good C aptain Stras­
burg recruited a few boys for me, and a trip  to Greenwich and 
while in Buka he wrecked her after about eighteen months.

Captain Strasburg was stranded on an Island nearby where he 
was wrecked, the natives have been good to him so he did not 
suffer from them. I then had to charter the N.D.L. boat to pick 
him up and also on the insurance behalf, she was high and dry 
on the beach and the surveyor declared her a total wreck, this 
was in my favour because she was insured, only one m an107 
thought he would be sm art, he went with a shipful of bamboo 
and chartered the N .D .L. to pull her out, fortunately for me it 
was a failure, instead the failure cost the sm art m an a few hundred 
pounds, had he been able to save the vessel I would not have had 
the insurance and the result probably would be th a t I would 
have had to abandon the vessel to him  to cover the cost. I was 
unfortunately insured against total loss, the m an did not need to

106 Jo h n  Strasburg, a Swede by birth  and a naturalised Australian since 1885. 
He had spent m any years in New Guinea waters as the master of coastal 
schooners and was one of the founders of the New Britain Corporation, estab­
lished in Sydney in 1907. He was engaged as a ‘pilot for New G uinea waters’ 
by the 1914 Australian Naval and M ilitary Expeditionary Force and drafted 
the well-known Pidgin version of the Proclam ation which m arked the hoisting 
of the British flag in R abaul (text in M acKenzie 1937: 76).
107 M outon is more explicit in the French version (p. 83), where ‘one m an’ is 
replaced by ‘the son of Mrs. Kolbe previously Mrs. Forsayth’.
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do tha t and it only showed that he wanted to do as much harm  
as he could, I knew when he did not succeed the settlers were 
quite pleased about it. I received from the insurance eight 
hundred pounds and he lost three hundred pounds for the 
chartering alone plus the trouble of his labor to cut bam boo etc.

Now times have changed and the m ain thing for me was to be 
able to get labourers for my plantation, the other part of the 
trading business of taking copra etc. was done by the N.D .L. so 
I decided to buy a small boat if I could find one, a t the time I 
could not go to Sydney and my friend Edward Lanser bought 
the ‘Pactolus’ of twenty tons with twin engines, she proved to be 
w hat I needed, she did a few trips as she was and did not do too 
bad, bu t to cope with the Adm inistration requirem ent I had to 
make some alterations.

I employed Chinese carpenters and had a cabin build on deck 
and a tank on the bow to carry the benzine , 108 this tank has been 
the ruin of the boat, the people who m ade the tank in Sydney 
did a very bad job, the tank leaked this tank was m ade to fit the 
bow of the boat and would be able to carry forty gallons of 
benzine, this would have been a great help, had it been so 
ordained she would have been the boat to fill my requirem ent, 
she had good speed and was very comfortable for a boat of th a t 
size.

The first day I put the benzine in the tank and were prepared 
for a trial the next m orning, during the night I hear an explosion 
and there was the ‘Pactolus’ on fire, the cause of the fire was a 
boy smelling benzine lighted a m atch as soon as he did it he was 
blown in the air by force and was so badly burned tha t he died 
a few minutes after, unfortunately she was not insured the 
insurance had just expired and I forgot to renew it in due course, 
as she stood she cost me one thousand and six hundred pounds, 
the boat burned to rail and next m orning a t day break she 
disappeared in about ten fathom, we could see the engines on the 
bottom. J . C. M. Forsayth109 who was always ready in a case

108 Germ an for petrol, the term  was current on the Gazelle Peninsula during 
most of the 1920s and appeared in the Rabaul Times as late as 1927.
109 Jonas Myndersee Coe Forsayth, son of Q ueen Emm a from her first m arriage, 
born in 1872, joined his m other in 1890 after some schooling in Sydney. He was 
left a portion of her interests when she sold out to W ahlen in 1910. H e retired 
from New Guinea in 1913 and died in Sydney in 1941.



like this m ade me an offer for the engines, I was too disgusted 
with the whole thing tha t I was only too glad to let him  have it, 
I think that it cost him  a good bit to have those engines in good 
order, and I heard tha t he did not do any good with them it cost 
him all he got for it, and I quite believe it a secondhand engine 
which has been in fire was a thing hard to sell.

The ‘Pactolus’ originally’s owner was a G erm an who was the 
proprietor of the Surry Hotel at Bondi Junction  I paid eight 
hundred pounds for her, the alteration made it a costly boat but 
she would have been worthwhile a t the time and the expenses 
were justified. So there I am bad luck again with boat, the danger 
was w hen the boat bu rn t the blaze was so high the Mission shed 
full of tim ber was in great danger of setting on fire I think the 
only thing which saved the Mission was the land breeze blowing 
the flames out to sea.

It is wonderful through those bad luck I spend a fortune in 
bad luck with my boat, my plantation is the only thing which 
kept growing w ithout m uch trouble, bu t then by putting the 
boat’s bad luck against it, no doubt the plantation was respons­
ible, fortunately the p lantation kept her reputation and was able 
to bear the brunt. I t  was unfortunately a lack of discipline which 
caused the fire, strict instructions were given to the w atchm an 
not to light a fire or a m atch as there may be leakage in the tank 
and it would be dangerous to light a m atch this boy who was a 
Buka boy did just w hat he should not do, and the poor fellow 
pay w ith his life for it, and another drawback for me.

I m ust relate an incident which occurred while M onrad was 
in charge of the old ‘M uruna’, amongst the trading stations we 
had on the instigation of a G erm an nam ed Waffler we pu t him 
on Bougainville place called R uburoi, he has an idea tha t a t the 
back of the place there was a great possibility of a great district 
very rich in cocosnut palms and that it was only a m atter of 
getting in touch with them, I and M onrad we did not know what 
to believe of it, a t any rate w ithout taking consideration of this 
castle in Spain, we gave him a chance, so we put him  there with 
the necessary provisions and trade, and gave him a trial of six 
months, when we came at anchor to his place we found him  very 
dishearted, his castle in Spain did not come through and he had 
to acknowledge tha t whoever told him pulled his leg, all he did 
was a patch  of sweet potatoes and a bag or two of copra, it was 
while we were in Bougainville coast trying to recruit and at the
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same time seeing Waffler tha t we came across a canoe containing 
about six to eight rowers, we noticed that this canoe was making 
rather a wide circle and it was our principle to come in touch 
with the natives as m uch as possible, we m ade sign to come but 
of no avail, at last we had only one way of doing it, and we fire 
in front of the canoe, then they stood still and as we came close 
to the canoe we asked why they were afraid of us we had no 
intention to do them  any harm , but in looking in the canoe we 
saw something covered in leafes, and on our request to see w hat 
it was, they lifted the covering and there was a body covered 
with blood, the natives told us that they were going to N um anum a 
to sell it. I t  is a strange thing that a part of Bougainville is not 
canibal bu t they are worse than canibal, it is a practice to entice 
the bush natives to come to the coast to barter with the coastal 
natives who are the guilty partie, the coastal native then m anage 
to get some by himself knock him  on the head and kill him then, 
the victim is brought to some neighbors who are canibal and are 
bought the same as they would a pig, having a ready m arket for 
hum an flesh, the coastal natives do their best to supply the 
market.

Sailing close to the coast we saw a lot of natives, who appeared 
to be bushmen, bu t no chance to go near them, they were always 
on the lookout, no sooner we m ade an attem pt to go ashore they 
runaway, those were very wild natives and I do not think at that 
time any of them ever been with whitemen, bu t their fear was 
because they were hunted by the coast natives. L ater when the 
whitemen m anaged to get in touch with them  and the killing for 
canibalism were stopped, then recruits could be got from those 
parts of Bougainville.

The poor natives were rather handicapped even with the 
white recruiters, on one occasion the New Guinea Com pany 
Schooner ‘Senta’ did some funny recruiting, her crew would be 
dressed as police men and  would lay in am bush and when the 
bush natives came down would surround them  and take the best 
ones out of the bunch of course the recruits would be paid for just 
the same as if came willingly, in some cases such a m ethod was 
quite justified, in some cases it was abused, tha t is it was justified 
when there was no other m ethod to get in touch with the natives. 
W ith all the drawback in vessel line I m anaged to make a trip to 
Europe in 1908 a t the time I had a good supply of labourers and 
the plantation was doing well, and the ice plant a t T akubar with
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Louri110 in charge was going smoothly, I also relied upon Louri 
to keep an eye on the plantation which he did.

In M ay 1908 we boarded the ‘Coblenz’ at Sydney and sailed 
for Europe my wife and boy, the trip was the usual trip  Captain 
R ondahl was on board too travelling with his wife Grace Coe 
and his boy Oscar, my boy was about four years then. Max.

After the usual mixed trip good and bad we arrived at Antwerp 
my m other was waiting for me, for twenty eight years we did not 
see one another, I was only fourteen when I left Belgium, but 
some way or another I recognised my m other a t once, Rondahl 
stayed on board his destination was Stockholm, Sweden so he 
landed at Bremen.

We stayed in Belgium with my m other for about one m onth 
then we pay a visit to Germ any we stayed one m onth in H am burg, 
visited Berlin Kiel while we were there, only stayed in Berlin one 
week I forgot but I know that we spend a good deal of time in 
Germany, with my agent in H am burg who was ready to supply 
me with the credit I wanted but did not take, we were quite 
allright unfortunately dragging children when [sentence in­
complete]. Then we also stayed a good deal in Belgium with 
friends we stayed at H uy a small town on the River Meuse, while 
we were there a pilgrimage was arranged to visit Paris and 
spend one week in Paris, we were alltogether thirty members 
each paying so much, and at liberty to improve himself if wanted 
at his own extra expense, this was rather a good chance to see 
Paris, and I must say that we did see all w hat was to be seen, 
m uch better if we had gone by ourselves, because the trip was 
properly sheduled quarters were not the best, bu t we did not 
expect better for the money, the main thing is that we were not 
lonely, in our group there was Doctors, Lawyers and quite well- 
to-do peoples and their com pany was very agreeable, we had 
with us the daughter of our friend we were staying with Sapart, 
which I asked to go with us at my expense, she was quite thrilled

110 W alter Louri, an engineer by trade. I t appears that M outon and Louri 
formed a public company to run the ice factory, for in the Amtsblatt fuer das 
Schutzgebiet Deutsch- Neuguinea, 1 February 1912, p. 33, there is an announce­
m ent that the company of M outon and Louri had ceased to exist and that 
Louri started business under his own name. T akubar (a coastal locality) is not 
to be confused w ith T akabur which is situated inland from Kokopo.
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to be able to come with us. I must say that the trip has been one 
of the best for so short a time, it was very agreeable.

From  th a t trip to Paris then we went back to my m other for a 
while then it was time to think of thinking to make track home 
again, we did not visit London unfortunately, and we would not 
have visited Paris had we not have the opportunity  we had, it 
is a shame we decided to go by train  to Naples and go on board 
at Naples for the trip  I used Cook, we left from Brussells for a 
trip to the Rhine and different excursions finishing with Naples, 
it was very nice bu t unfortunately every item of the trip  is tim e­
tabled and if one would like to spend a day some place during 
the trip it could not be done unless upsetting the whole arrange­
ment, I quite agree there it would not be possible because 
generally there is a party  as a rule large or small it is the same, 
we have to keep moving as per program m e, for this reason 
Thom as Cook though very handy if one has plenty of money to 
spare it is better w ithout Cook’s Agency.

W e stayed at Naples waiting for the N .D .L. Liner to pick us 
up, I think we had to wait more than one week, we were very 
pleased when the steamer arrived, from Naples we called at 
Ceylon Singapore H ong Kong, we stayed a t H ongkong about one 
week at Hongkong Hotel, we had a ra ther pleasant time at 
Hongkong only it was very hot. The steamer we were waiting 
for was the ‘Prinz Sigismund’ going between Hong K ong R abaul 
Sydney.

After returning from Europe, I became acquainted with a 
John  Calder this was in 1910 he was a Scotchman, he m arried 
an halfcast Samoan who had some properties in the M ortlock 
Islands,111 it was in the beginning or the end of 1910 tha t Calder 
and Hoerler thought of starting a trading business, for this reason

111 O ne of several ‘lady companions’ brought over by Queen Emma. She 
m arried Em m a’s accountant, Joseph Highley, and the couple was given 
Mortlock Islands as a wedding gift (Emm a had ‘bought’ them  in 1886 for £68 
in trade goods). After her husband’s death in 1894 M rs Highley m arried John  
Calder; one of her daughters m arried a Germ an medical officer, D r Bruno 
Kroenig, and was under that nam e one of the respondents in the famous 
Mortlock Islands case heard in 1930 in the Central C ourt of the Territory of 
New Guinea before M r Justice Phillips. Calder, before he died, founded the 
Bougainville Plantation Com pany with the intention of establishing a p lan ta­
tion on the island (French version, p. 85). His widow started a plantation 
there in 1912.
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the three of us came to Sydney and I bought a vessel of about 96 
tons capacity, w ith the understanding tha t each of the partners 
would pay his share in due time as progress improved, the vessel 
was called ‘The Federal’ as she was fitted with stern post capable 
of taking an engine shaft we agree to install an engine it was an 
Invincible engine of about 40 horse power, the boat got fitted 
and nearly completed when Calder became ill and had to go 
under an operation for kidney, before he went to the operation 
he m ade his Will, appointed me and G. Robertson as his exec­
utors, before the operation was performed before even the 
anaesthetic was adm inistered he passed away, leaving his widow 
and me and Hoerler to fight the battle of the new enterprise.

So in 1911 I became Nationalized Australian so tha t we could 
fly the Australian flag, when the ship was properly fitted we gave 
a party  on board before leaving, also a trial trip around the 
H arbour. Nelson & Robertson were then my agents and did all 
the necessary arrangem ents for the clearing of ‘The Federal’ our 
C aptain was an old m an Hoerler acted as m ate and the engineer 
was a nephew of my wife J im  Scandian, I left my wife in Sydney 
with my son and I left w ith ‘The Federal’ we left the H arbour 
very nicely the engine acted very well bu t that did not last long, 
it did not take long before one of the cylinder bearings become 
hot and burned so we were only using one cylinder, the vessel 
was not a good sailer, and the trip lasted a good while when we 
arrived a t Giso British Solomons we were fortunate to have the 
engineer of the ‘M atunga’ to fix the bearing for us he melted the 
white m etal and m ade a good job  of it.

I was certainly very pleased that we could get the engine to 
work properly again, because as it was it would be a waste of 
fuel to use the engine, and only in case of emergency would I 
allow to do so and the Captain in that way was on my side, for 
one thing he did not believe in auxiliary ships, his moto give me 
sail or steam at any time, from Giso we made for O ntong Jav a  
this was the K ing goal of Hoerler it was his castle in Spain, 
according to his notion we were to do wonders, I had been dealing 
there before and therefore I had an old debt there to something 
like in the vicinity of five hundred pounds, the result of the death 
of King Weeler, his successor112 did not look after our interests

112 King Keaipea (Sarfert and Dam m  1929: 9).
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as established by M onrad some years ago, Hoerler had a wrong 
idea that he had a native wife from the place and he had also 
been trading for Mrs. Forsayth who was the only one who bought 
a piece of land from the natives, it was not much but it was a 
footing which was worth while to own.

Having given up O ntong Java  after the disappearance of 
M onrad I was not aware of any change in the place, and Hoerler 
seemed to be very confident that things were for the best, he had 
nothing to lose all the loss were on my side, so after having look 
a t the possibilities in all angles I pointed out to Hoerler, Mrs. 
Forsayth sold the bit of land she had on O ntong Jav a  to Lever 
Bros, no doubt for a good price because it was worth it to Lever 
Bros, any one who thought to be able to do any business in 
opposition to Lever Bros, was m ad, even the G erm an who was 
supposed to wait for Hoerler did not wait and trade for Lever 
Bros, or rather for the T rader installed there by them.

The O ntong Jav a  was knocked on the head there was nothing 
to be done there so I decided that it was a wild goose business, 
as we were not far from the coast of Bougainville we thought 
that we recruit some boys bu t I was very disappointed there 
during daytim e we would get near enough the coast but at night 
the Captain instead of keeping along the coast he kept with full 
square sail out of the coast so a t daybreak we found ourselve 
miles away from the coast, so it was no use to induce the 
Captain to keep the vessel in its proper direction w hat we win in 
the daytime it was lost a t night through the pigheadedness of the 
C aptain or rather I may say that the C aptain was not too keen 
in coming in contact with the wild natives, bu t if he only knew 
he did not need to be scared of them  at that time they were not 
so savages as I saw them  years before bu t he was an old m an and 
we could do nothing unless we m utiny, and that would have been 
a bad job, it was not worth risking, however after a day’s trial I 
gave it up and we m ade for K inigunan Kokopo being the Govern­
m ent Station, called then Herbertshoehe, strange to say we had 
a quick passage, it was like a horse making for his stable, on 
leaving Sydney it was understood that we would go to the 
Mortlocks and take delivery of Calder’s Copra to dispose the 
best I could for her, bu t there we were disappointed on our arrival 
a t K inigunan the first news we got was that M rs Calder sold the 
copra herself to someone else, I think it was to Hernsheim & Co. 
as she was quite justified to do so I had nothing to say about the
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m atter, thought the copra was collected during Calder’s lifetime 
it was not his property it was hers, had he been alife it would 
have been different, so the ship was of no much use to me to 
recruit it was too expensive she was too clumsy and slow she was 
good for what she was build for carry tim ber on the coast of New 
South Wales, she had all the appliances for that trade. Hoerler 
made one trip to Buka and brought a few boys and that all w hat 
the vessel ever m ade so I decided to send her back to Sydney and 
dispose of her, fortunately she did not stay long before she was 
sold to the Buka T rading Com pany starting a p lan tation  at 
Bougainville N um anum a, I was glad of the transaction it was a 
little cash returning back to me but for all that it was a consider­
able loss for me just the same, with Calder out of action and the 
enterprise was too m uch for me I could not manage the Solomons, 
and I could not see any advantage in using more capital and by 
putting Hoerler in charge I am  sure that I would have done the 
wrong thing. Hoerler went trading for somebody else I think he 
went to Ontong Jav a  but he did not last very long after a few 
months I heard he was dead. This Com pany was formed under 
the nam e of Pacific Islands C om pany.113

In 1913 I had to have another vessel and I ordered the ‘Taku- 
b ar’ from Holme Sr.114 M r. Barber Architect designed the vessel. 
I then made a short trip to K inigunan I had then a G erm an who 
m anaged my business and Plantation a t K inigunan and Ron- 
dahl’s at K abakaul. This m an had a very good nam e having 
m anaged the business part for the New Guinea Company, and

113 Correct in substance but not in detail. The Buka T rad ing  Company, 
established in Sydney in O ctober 1912, was one of several companies formed 
by Lever’s Pacific Plantations L td to work their holdings in the south-west 
Pacific. The connection between Lever Brothers and the Pacific Islands 
Company dates from the turn  of the century when W illiam Lever decided 
that his crushing mills in Sydney should be supplied from their own copra 
plantations. In  1901 he invested in J . T . A rundel’s Pacific Islands Com pany 
with its extensive p lantation and m ining interests. In  1902 the company was 
wound up and its phosphate m ining interests were taken over by the Pacific 
Phosphate Company, of N auru  and Ocean Island fame, while the plantation 
interests were assigned to Lever’s Pacific Plantations Ltd. Lever started 
expanding into the Solomons in 1905 and had a financial interest in the already 
m entioned New Britain Corporation (fn. 97). For more information on the 
Lever Brothers’ empire see Wilson 1954.
114 Comment on the m argin: ‘Berry Bay’.
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he proved a good com petent accountant but rather extravagant 
in ordering goods supply, he never could forget that we were not 
like the New Guinea Com pany who was a powerful concern, six 
months after he took the m anagem ent I made a short trip to see 
how thing were going on, the ‘H arrie t Alice’ was doing a little 
recruiting and M ueller complained about the C aptain who did 
not prove very satisfactory he turned out a drunker, well trouble 
again, I also found out that the overseer of the plantation a 
G erm an the boys complained to me that he was very cruel to 
the boys, of which I informed M ueller that the overseer was 
doing very cruel things and was hated by the boys, and that he 
better see to it if he did not w ant trouble later, bu t he poo-hoohed 
and said that the boys did not tell the tru th , that the overseer 
was a very good m an he m ade the boys work well, and that the 
boys are only complaining because he m ade them  do their work, 
this was quite possible bu t the complaints m ade to me did not 
agree with his statem ent, this overseer was a young m an and 
seemed to understand his work.

However, not very long after my return to Sydney I received 
the news that this Overseer had committed suicide by taking 
arsenic, it appear that he was found out and that the G erm an 
authorities were going to deal w ith the m atter so he did not like 
to face the music. I may state here that between this period I got 
divorced and m arried again, this rather private m atter do not 
need to be mentioned.

O n the end of Ju ly  1914 me and my wife we left by the ‘K ob­
lenz’ for R abaul, arrived at R abaul a couple of days before the 
declaration of the great war, while on board yet on hearing of 
the assasination of the Archduke the germ an passengers said we 
will have war and they seemed very joyful about it, amongst the 
passengers M r. M ark Foy was one of them.

As soon as the news arrived the ‘K oblenz’ left R abaul with 
M ark Foy on board, I understand that he was landed in the 
Carolines where he m anaged to hire a boat and got out to friendly 
national, I am  not acquainted of w hat happen to him  only by 
hearsay, I only m et him  in Sydney some years after, bu t did not 
converse with him  as he was in hurry  he had his son with him  I 
think. Well here we are the war is declared and we are in G er­
many territory and to my surprise in a few days all the police boys 
received m ilitary uniforms and the num ber of police boys were 
greatly augm ented, it looked to me that the Germans had
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expected tha t war would come soon and no doubt by the prep­
arations m ade it was not a surprise to them , 115 and they boasted 
in a few days we will be in Paris that is at the start, so they thought 
that they would walk through Belgium and from there to Paris, 
they were quite disappointed when it lasted longer than they 
expected.

M y m anager M ueller was a G erm an and  was held responsible 
for us, all the G erm an planters and civilians became soldiers and 
had to be under m ilitary control, of course they knew w hat was 
going on through the wireless but we did not know and the 
Germans did not enlighten us they kept all the news to them ­
selves. W e were informed that we were not at liberty to leave 
K abakaul and only at liberty to visit K inigunan with K. B. 
M ueller, this kept going until the first Australian Navy came to 
R abaul they landed at Kokopo made a mess of the Post Office 
then went back and disappeared altogether, we were ordered to 
leave K abakaul and go to Kulon a Property of R ondahl a few 
miles along the coast, with instruction not to leave the place we 
were guarded by a couple of civilians dressed in khaki uniforms.

We did not know w hat to make out of this, but by w hat the 
guards say and the vigil they were doing it was plain that they 
expected something, and sure enough about a week after the 
first visit the ‘A ustralia’ and the ‘Brisbane’ arrived and a couple 
of days later the first convoy with soldiers arrived, they landed 
some of them at K abakaul and proceeded to Bitapaka the 
wireless station on the road they were m et by the police and all 
the G erm an force available, and in the action a few men were 
killed and wounded one of them Dr. Pockley, a G erm an R itter, 
and a few soldiers, the Germans were ambushed along the road , 116

115 M outon was right in his assumption, up to a point. Late in 1913 the adminis­
tration toyed with the idea of introducing compulsory ‘police service’ for 
men between the age of sixteen and thirty not in plantation employment. An 
ordinance to that effect was prepared (the earliest draft referred to ‘m ilitary 
service’ but this was later changed to ‘police service’, for fear of international 
repercussions) but the idea was shelved in favour of a vigorous recruiting drive 
coupled with better conditions of service. The draft budget for 1915 authorised 
an increase in the police force from about 650 to 1000, and some 120 additional 
men were recruited by August 1914 (CAO, AA 63/83, Box 205, Item  A 10).
116 The other way around. The Germans had prepared an am bush along the 
Bitapaka road but it failed, because of the poor performance of the native 
soldiers (Mackenzie 1937: 55-61). T he book also discusses looting by Australian 
troops referred to by M outon in the same paragraph.
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the A ustralian force took Bitapaka in no time but not before the 
Germans blowed out the Wireless, this however was reconstructed 
in a few days. Now we were under the Australian military 
controle, and the next day after the taking of Bitapaka we were 
informed to appear a t Kokopo before the military com m andant, 
our M anager M ueller was a prisoner at the time on board one 
of the ships, and we decided to leave Kulon and live a t T akubar 
my plantation, M ueller did not stay long a prisoner, the next day 
he was free, R ondahl went back to K akabaul and we stayed at 
T akubar, during the landing the force looted R ondahl’s Store 
a t K akabaul bu t the drink stuff was the m ain loot, a t my place 
at K inigunan where I had my store and T akubar they did not 
loot one of my Boys told the soldiers that I was not a Germ an, so 
they let my belongings alone.

W hile this was going on my boat the ‘H arriet Alice’ was 
prisoner in Kavieng during the G erm an time after the declara­
tion, and the C aptain who was a bad egg m ade himself notorious 
by helping himself in the G erm an store with the liquor he could 
get and make a beast of himself and when he arrived he did not 
last long I had to get rid of him. Times were not too bright we 
had a drought and food for the labourers was very scarce, my 
M anager unfortunately was not too good and it was fortunate 
for me that I arrived in time, my first move being to save all the 
planted food by cleaning the whole lot of weed, which was taking 
the controle of the field, this I think saved the situation, I started 
tha t as soon I arrived from Sydney before the landing of the 
troop ship.

The country being under the M ilitary A dm inistration the 
routine returned to the usual, only food became scarce and it 
was with great relief that we saw the ‘M oresby’ arrive with some 
rice, I only w anted rice for my boys bu t I had to take a certain 
quantity  of preserve m eat as well to obtain rice from Burns Philp 
& Co. Ltd.

From that time on I and R ondahl came to the conclusion that 
M ueller was a bad M anager117 and we agree to get rid of him, 
Rondahl did not like the idea at first bu t I told him  that he could 
have him if he w anted tha t I would give him  notice, so he did

117 Comment on the m argin: ‘Was only partner with R ondahl some years 
before in business not in p lantation .’



also and we were glad to get rid of him, we could not forget that 
he was our gaoler for a time. I managed my plantation after that, 
then while I was m anaging I received a letter from a Belgian 
nam ed V ancant who asked for the job, it was in the beginning of 
1915 1 wanted to go to Sydney to see about the ship in the way 
of construction so I engaged this m an who arrived by the next 
steamer, I did not know him but before I left I had a pretty good 
idea that he would not be the man, however I gave him  instruc­
tion to get rid of the ‘H arriet Alice’ which he did by selling the 
ship for six hundred pounds on credit to the Japanese K om ine,118 
while I was at T akubar one nam ed Leslie pay me visit then he 
was M anager of a Firm  at Sam arai and by his talk I thought that 
he must be a good m an, but this gentlem an will be referred to 
later.

In  the beginning of 1915 the ‘M atunga’ arrived and I decided 
to leave by her she came to my place to take a load of copra then 
we went on board, I left V ancant M anager of my plantation but 
with uneasiness, the next mail gave me bad news I heard tha t he 
was half m ad and was doing lot of foolishness, so while I was in 
Sydney Leslie came to see me and asked me for the position of 
m anager, not knowing better I jum ped on the good fortune which 
give me a good m an I thought, because I thought being m anager 
of the British Com pany at Sam arai he would be the m an I 
w anted, so I accepted his offer, so he went to R abaul and with 
my instruction got V ancant out of the way and took his place. 
O n the completion of my new ship ‘T akubar’ I send her to 
R abaul Captain Fendick being master it must have been in M ay 
1915 or perhaps a little earlier bu t I know it was a little before 
my boy was born and he was born on the 31st of M ay, 1915. 
Leopold.

118 Captain Isokide Komine, the leader of the Japanese community in R abaul, 
settled in New Guinea in 1902, started a shipyard in 1907 and brought out 
the first Japanese tradesm en to settle in the colony in 1910 (not to mention 
four ladies of easy virtue who had arrived some five years earlier). He had 
extensive plantation interests on M anus and was said to be worth £ 70,000 
in 1919. Note marginal comm ent: ‘Komini [sic] was boat builder, rogue. Fled 
R abaul.’ This is a reference to his ‘escape’ to Japan , late in 1913, after Hern- 
sheim and Co. had applied for an order for his arrest because he would not pay 
his debts. After his return  Komine was advanced money by the Australian 
military administration ‘on account of his financial em barrassm ent’ (CAO, 
CP 661/15, folder 4).
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Leslie then wrote to me that Captain Fendick may not suit 
however I went back to R abaul to see how thing were going on 
my wife stayed in Sydney, as soon as I arrived at R abaul I made 
a trip  to Greenwich, there I found the copra very dry and of poor 
quality, also they had the drought and things looked very bad, 
and I come to the decision tha t I would have to give up G reen­
wich which was under the Japanese rule, at the best time the 
most it gave was seventy tons of copra and subject to drought 
and  a t the time there was no prospect so I gave it up with a loss 
of a couple thousand pounds, would be more if I kept going 
beside the distance was 400 miles from my place too far for the 
result, while M onrad was alive he was very interested in the 
Island because his Girl and children were there and during his 
time there never was such a bad time as it was now, bu t the 
native yarn point out that there has been droughts before which 
caused a lot of damages to hum an lives, so this is my last trip to 
Greenwich, and another failure.

I ordered the ‘T akubar’ before the w ar and in my prospect 
Greenwich was an asset as a working proposition for her.

Having visited Greenwich and having a good M anager as I 
thought it would be after I went with him  showing how to work 
the plantation, which of course he knew better than  I did, I left 
K inigunan again, I m ust explain here that T akubar was the 
dwelling where the Overseer lived and Louri before, K inigunan 
is the m ain dwelling but owing to the change m ade to have a 
M anager for K abakaul and K inigunan the dwelling at K inigunan 
rem ained neglected during the M anagem ent of the G erm an 
M anager M ueller, so when m entioning K inigunan in this stage 
is because it is occupied again.

I stayed in Sydney for about ten months then I went back to 
K inigunan during my absence Leslie had to get rid of C aptain 
Fendick and when I arrived he had a new m an nam ed Hawker 
who was only a sailor and had no M aster certificate, I thought that 
it was a bad plan to do that he had the perm it to sail the vessel 
allright bu t it was not the thing according to my way of thinking 
and it turned out wrong later on.

This m an kept the ‘T ak u b ar’ like a M an-of-war boat and the 
vessel looked beautiful she was well painted and kept clean, and 
while I was there this Haw ker got m arried, he took his wife with 
him on the ‘T akubar’. He was instructed to recruit boys for the 
plantation, all the recruiting he did was to have a good honey-
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moon a t my expense, he returned with only one boy which cost 
me over £100 because I had to send him back etc. I also noticed 
that he had ordered petrol and signed for it but no record to be 
seen, I came to the conclusion that he did not do straight dealing 
and that he was in understanding with the Chinam en and J a p ­
anese, fortunately for me I came back in time and saw a t once 
that he was the wrong m an, I found out that the sails were 
rotten, owing to neglecting to use them and to put them  to dry, 
this m an was running the vessel on petrol, never used the sail, 
the way it was going on was simply ruinous still my M anager 
did not see it or did not w ant to see it, having inspected the ship 
and discovering the deceiving part of the m an in charge I dis­
missed him, and ordered the boat to pu t at anchore at R abaul 
with a few boys as caretakers, this m an threaten me that he 
would go for damage, I told him  that the dam age was on my 
side if he wanted to go on he must know that all I had to do was 
to show the state of the sails, it would be enough for any seaman 
to understand. T h a t settled the m atter he knew that I had him 
there.

The ‘T akubar’ was pu t to anchore a t R abaul for a time then 
I engaged a m an who had some experience, but before he left 
for a trip he got on the booze and I did not think it was safe to 
let him  go ahead. T hen I got a Swede from Sydney who took 
charge he did not do too bad but it turned out ra ther expensive 
so the vessel did not pay and it turned out to be a white Elephant 
to me, however I had to keep the ship going, I then engaged a 
former captain send him to recruit w ith an help for recruiting 
the result was that he did not help the recruiter and the vessel 
returned empty so by the report I received from the recruiter 
this C aptain was of no use, then I came to the conclusion if I 
could charter her or let her it would be better for me than lose 
money as I did, so after failing with the G overnm ent I chartered 
the ship to the G erm an New Guinea Com pany just for the keep­
ing of the ship provided they kept me with the labourers required, 
this turned out good for me and one of the Captains who had 
been with me now was in charge I got the first recruits as stipu­
lated and after three trips he wrecked the ‘T akubar’ on the South 
coast of New Britain,119 she was insured for two thousand pounds

119 Comment on the m argin: ‘About 1916 or 1917 wrecked’.
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she cost me three thousand but in a way she had been a white 
E lephant to me so far, and it was the best thing it could have 
happen.

After having inspected my plantation I saw that the plantation 
was neglected and that those parts to be seen by the public were 
kept clean and my m anager when I told him  that the plantation 
was very much neglected told me that he could not see how it 
could be cleaned better, of course I must give him credit he d id 
w hat he thought was right, bu t after I took the working of the 
p lantation  for a couple of weeks he saw the difference, so I came 
to the conclusion after seeing that he did not even kept the books 
though he ordered very expensive set of books they were not 
used, I then gave him  notice we parted good friends bu t he was 
useless so I managed the plantation again myself that was in the 
later end of 1919 then my wife mentioned a friend of hers who 
m ay likely be a good m an for me, I did not think so at first but 
after all I will give it a trial, so this m an came and I thought he 
was w hat I w anted and so he was until later.

At the end of 1919 I m ade up my m ind to make a trip to 
Europe to see my m other in Belgium, we were three myself my 
wife my child and a nurse, there is nothing special with a trip to 
Europe we stayed in London, Paris, Brussels and N am ur most of 
the time as it was not far from where my m other lived, unfortun­
ately we arrived just after the war and we found the hotels and 
tourist accom m odation very bad, the only advantage we had was 
th a t we were able to see the dam age done by the war which was 
worth the inconvenience of the accommodation.

W e stayed ten months, while I was away my m anager wrote 
to me that the authorities were making trouble regarding my 
nationality, on the ground that I had been naturalized a Germ an 
subject, no doubt it would have been acceptable in a point of 
view of asset for the Expropriation Board, unfortunately for them  
and fortunately for me I was naturalized in A ustralia in 1911, 
when this was proved by my Solicitor in Sydney that ended the 
case, however, I thought th a t it was time to make my way back 
and see for myself, so we returned to Sydney in 1920.

Through the advice of my friend I applied for the new natu ra l­
ization the Empire N aturalization which I was granted, then I 
went to my plantation, a t the time my m anager was due for a 
holiday so I m anaged the plantation and he went to Sydney with 
his wife and child.



I had made arrangem ents that he should come back a t first 
I had not much time to see w hat had been done, and it could 
only be ascertained by time and working the plantation, the 
reports given to me were to the good and I thought that I did 
not make a mistake in having him back I even increased his 
salary.

No sooner I had the plantation under my controle I was able 
to find that my m anager was not w hat I thought he was, the 
plantation was very m uch neglected and I found out that the 
reports were only m ade according to w hat their eyes were able 
to see, after about one week’s work I found out tha t even the 
nuts were not collected and were left to sprout in the p lantation  
because the plantation was so dirty tha t the nuts could not be 
seen, w hat a good time the labourers must have had, it took me 
six months hard work to get the plantation in order again, during 
this m anager’s controle I must have lost nearly one hundred 
tons of copra at the price of copra at the time my loss was about 
£2,500, it was unfortunate for him that he was too fond of society 
and the two cannot go together the plantation was left in charge 
of a Guam  overseer who on his part should have known better, 
having been under me for over several years.

So it was a surprise to me as well as my m anager when I had 
to cancel any future engagement and broke the agreem ent, of 
course the usual threat of ligitation occurred but it did not come 
to anything because facts were too strong against him  so he stayed 
in Sydney and it was the last with the only exception that I m et 
him occasionally in Sydney but with the old hatchet buried.

I tried my son bu t he was too young and too weak as a boss, 
I found out that he was the tool for other people’s benefit, and 
too fond of outing so after I gave him two trials each of six 
months, I found out that the last six months were worse than  the 
first ones so I had against my heart to give it up, it was between 
the plantation being ruined and business neglected had I let it 
go further under my son’s m anagem ent.

So against all my best wishes for my son to take charge of the 
plantation I had to engage another m anager I knew M r. Hooger- 
werff H ollander so I made arrangem ent with him, my son was 
then under him, bu t my son felt rather hum iliated, and both did 
not agree very well he could not see that it was his own fault tha t 
it was so, but w hat is the use one cannot teach sense in fools, we 
have also to take in consideration that there are people about,

146



who only relish through jealousie or envie to pu t their little 
poison dart into the weakbrained.

Well my son went and tried his luck mining, but like the rest 
through his foolishness failed by trusting too much to others and 
by not acting on his own counsel.

I must say th a t under M r. Hoogerwerff I had to stay at the 
plantation a good while bu t not on account of the p lantation 
because I found out that M r. Hoogerwerff after knowing the 
proper way of working did not need looking after and having 
put his heart in it there was no cause for me to interfere, so I 
could put all my time in building works.

In  the later end of 1929 I had an offer to come in partnership 
with the printing of ‘R abaul Tim es’ against w arning I accepted, 
and signed the contract trusting the proposer, I was bound for 
twenty one years or I must get out at the cost of nine thousand 
and all the deceased H am ilton’s120 debts had to be paid, m ean­
while the proposer or my partner121 started Picture show122 and 
restaurant, the upkeep of which I had to pay after spending about 
seven thousand pounds in clearing picture show and restaurant 
I came to the conclusion to make a stop, meanwhile my partner 
had a proposition from a London Syndicate to buy plantations, 
and I offered mine for Eighty five thousand pounds cash no terms, 
the option money I did not ask for, which I should have done, 
he being my partner in the ‘R abaul Times’ paper I thought tha t 
I would leave him  have the benefit of it, first option failed then 
I give a second option of three months, after the second option 
then I was approached by the Catholic Mission, to my surprise 
because Bishop C ouppe123 told me that the Mission would not

120 H arry W illiam H am ilton, arrived in New Guinea in 1915, became Govern­
ment Printer soon after and held the position until it was abolished in 1923. 
He started the Rabaul Times as a weekly in April 1924, with the m otto: ‘O ur 
journal stands for progress’. He died in O ctober 1927 and the paper was 
taken over from his widow in Jan u a ry  1929 by St Jam es Enterprises, owned 
by Francis Geraghty, formerly of W. R. Carpenter and Co. Ltd. Between 
1925-27 the paper was edited by Gordon Thom as (see f.n. 124).
121 Comment on the m argin: ‘G arrity  [i.e. Geraghty] now dead was partner 
with R abaul Tim es.’
122 The St Jam es Pictures, later called the Regent.
123 Comment on the m arg in : ‘Bishop Couppe had told me that he couldnt buy 
it years before He was dead then Bishop Vester[s] was in charge H ollander.’

HI



buy my plantation, and the Mission was also surprised that the 
late Bishop could say such a thing, then I agreed with the Mission 
that after the option was expired that I would sell the Plantation 
to the Mission, on the date of the option expiring a Lady asked 
for another option in the nam e of a London Syndicate just for 
a few days, I turned her down and accepted the Mission offer 
which was closed w ith a deposit of twenty thousand pounds, that 
settled the London business.

After having settled this option then I came to the conclusion 
that I must ask my partner to resign in the ‘R abaul Times’ 
concern which he did owing to the fact tha t he was unable to pay 
his share in the business. Having settled the partnership and the 
Mission transaction, I made use of my option to pay nine thou­
sand pounds to get clear of the agreem ent binding me to twenty 
one years, to the unwillingness of the parties concerned, this 
business was at last term inated at the cost of sixteen thousands 
pounds in all , 124 and now I am  the owner of the ‘R abaul Times’. 
So far this paper do not give me an income but it keep itself 
going and having M r Hoogerwerff as m anager cause me no 
worry and the institution give work to some people a t Rabaul, 
as well as keeping the R abaul residents informed of the news of 
the world, I think by so doing I have kept going a concern which 
benefit the Territory, and if there is nothing else in a way of 
rem uneration I have at least given some pleasure to the territory 
residents, by enabling them  to have the ‘R abaul Times’ kept 
going which would have perished under the former owner. Now 
after my hard labour and hard  time of the past I have at least 
the benefit of my hardship.

124 Comment on the m arg in : ‘W ith picture show and all now . . . £3,500’ (one 
word illegible). T he deal was finalised in Jan u a ry  1931 when M outon estab­
lished the R abaul Printing Works. In  Ju n e  1933 the editorship of the Rabaul 
Times was taken over again by Edw ard Llewellyn Gordon Thomas, usually 
known as Gordon Thom as, who started his New Guinea days in 1911 as a 
M ethodist mission printer, worked as an oil driller and ran  a plantation on 
Bougainville. Thom as was one of the few civilians to survive the Japanese 
occupation of R abaul— most of the 300 civilian prisoners drowned in M ay 1942 
when the ship which was taking them  to Jap an , the Montevideo Maru, was 
sunk by an allied torpedo.
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francs, Belgian, 34 
francs, French, 34 
French Islands, see V itu  Islands 
Fring, m anager, 89 
From m , Father, 74n.

G aillard, Father, 75n.
Gangloff, Casimir, 111 
G ardner Islands, 25, 27, 119, 121 
Geisler, m anager, 113, 115 
Ginil: 8, 15-16, 48n., 49, 5 In., 56, 61, 
63, 65, 75; sold in Sydney, 66 
Geraghty, Francis, 147n.
Germ an New Guinea, annexation, 82 
Gilbert Islands, 125 
Godeffroy and Son, 21 
goldmining, 117 
Golon, 64-5
green snail shell, 25, 118 
Greenwich Islands: 2, 25, 118-19,
130; social structure, 123-6; M outon 
gives up concession after Japanese 
occupation, 143

De Groote, P., 35 
G unantam bu, 6

H am burg, 21, 134 
Ham burgische Suedsee-Aktien- 
gesellschaft (PI.A.S.A.G.), 128n. 
Ham ilton, H. W ., 147n.
Harriet Alice, 139, 141, 142 
Hansen, Peter, 122-3 
H artzer, Father, 75n.
H auterm an family, 37, 38, 39, 40, 50, 
52, 75
Le Havre, 37, 38 
Hawker, Captain, 143 
Hayes, J . ,  6
Heinrich Rudolph W ahlen 
Aktiengesellschaft, 128n.
Henry, Jules: 17, 18, 46, 47n., 55n.,
59, 61, 74n. ; arrested and tried in 
M anila, 60
H erm it Islands, 2 1 ,128n. 
Herbertshoehe, see Kokopo 
Hernsheim, E duard: 21, 74, 83, 88; 
dies in Germ any, 128n.
Hernsheim, Franz, 22 
Hernsheim and Com pany: 1, 21-2,
23, 58n., 63, 68, 75, 81, 84, 86, 118n., 
122, 137; M outon’s contract with, 74 
Highley, Joseph, 135n.
Hoerler, seaman, 136, 137, 138 
Hongkong, 21, 129, 135 
Hoogerwerff, m anager, 146, 147, 148 
Hulster, Dutchm an, 37, 38, 40

ice m anufacture, 134 
lie  aux M arteaux, 64n.
India, 8, 16-17, 49n., 5 In., 75 
Ingeborg, 37n. 
ingiet, 111
inheritance, 102, 109 
initiation, 106 
Irish Cove, 52n.

Ja lu it Company, 22 
James Patterson, 17 
Japanese, 142n., 144 
Jav a , 12

Kabakaul, 24, 25, 70, 80, 140 
Kadelek (Katolik), 87
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Keaipea, ‘K ing’, 136n.
Kavieng, 119, 141 
Keraw ara, 87, 88, 99, 109 
Kinigunan, 2, 23, 24, 26, 70, 71, 80, 
112, 114, 137, 140 
Kokola, 87, 91-3
Kokopo: 4, 23, 24, 26, 27, 74, 75, 76, 
137, 140, 141: 1893 ‘uprising’, 113-16 
Kolbe, K. A. P., 112, 113, 119n. 
Kolbe, Mrs, see Queen Em m a 
Komine, Isokide, 142 
K opara, ‘K ing’, 61n.
Kroenig, Bruno, 135n.
Kulolon, see Golon 
Kulon, 119, 140 
K um am ba Islands, see Arimoa 
Islands
kunai, 56n., 86 
K ung Island, 111

labour recruiting, 26-7, 82n., 87,
91-2, 111-12, 119-20, 130, 133, 137, 
144
Labur, 27, 93-4 
Lamassa, 64n.
Lam bom  Island, 11, 54, 58, 62n., 63, 
64
land alienation: 21, 22, 24, 75, 77n., 
78, 82n., 101, 135n.; clearing, 90-1; 
inheritance, 102; registration of title, 
82-4
Lanser, Edward, 128, 131 
Lanuzel, Abbd, 51n., 75 
Laughlan Islands, 14 
leadership, traditional, 104-5 
Legaspi, 60, 63 
Lemesle, trader, 49n.
Leslie, manager, 142 
Lever Bros, 118n., 137, 138n.
Lever’s Pacific Plantations Ltd, 138n. 
Liki-Liki: 14, 48n., 58, 62n.; 
evacuated, 15
Linnem ann, Bernard, 89-90, 91 
Londip, 25
Long-handle firm, see Deutsche 
Handels-und-Plantagengesellschaft 
Lord Howe Island, see O ntong Jav a  
Louri, W alter, 134, 143 
Luanguia, 118n.
Lucas, W alter, 126

M clver, Henry, 7 
M adjuros, 126n.
Magnetic, 112
M akada, 22
maize, 105
M alaguna, 76, 77, 98
M alaria, 59, 86
Malays, 12, 44, 45, 46n., 47
M anila, 41, 53, 60, 74n.
M anokwari, 7
Manus, see Adm iralty Islands 
M aragano, ‘K ing’, 62n.
Marie, 85
m arket days, 20
marks, New Guinea, 90
M arquis de Rays: 8, 36, 37, 60, 68n.;
character, 8; biography, 9-10;
assumes title of Charles I, 11
Marquis de Rays: 43, 45, 47n., 56, 65,
67; passes into Farrell’s ownership, 63
marriage, traditional, 102
Marseilles, 12
M arshall Islands, 22, 126n.
Mason Brothers, 23 
M atanakunai, 51n.
Rlatunga, 136, 142 
M atupit, 21, 22, 63, 67 
Merg, Father, 116 
Merkusoord, 7
M ethodist Mission, 14-15, 20-1, 48,
62, 115n.
Metlik, see Liki-Liki 
Mimiass, Cape, 56, 64n.
Minna, 121, 122
Mioko, 6, 21, 63, 65, 67, 75, 78, 88
Mioko Agency, see Deutsche Handels-
und-Plantagengesellschaft
Mioko ‘T rea ty ’, 65
M odip, 25
Monanlha, 130
M onrad, C aptain : 25, 123, 124n.,
127, 132, 143; partnership with 
M outon, 118-19; drowns off Newcastle, 
129
M onte Carlo, 113n.
Montevideo Maru, 148n.
Moresby, 117, 127, 128, 141 
Mortlock Islands, 735«., 137 
M other (volcano), 76 
m otor cars, 98, 128n.
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M outon and Co., 25, 118-19 
M outon and Louri (Com pany), 134n. 
M outon, Dupr6 and  Co., 84-5 
M outon, Jean  Baptiste O ctave: family 
and children 2, 5, 129; character, 5-6; 
relations w ith Farrell and Queen 
Emm a, 6, 28, 67-8, 75, 83-4; as 
writer, 18-19; land acquisitions, 24, 
80-4; Tolai customs, 24, 27, 98; 
m arriage to local woman, 28; 
involved in libel proceedings, 29; 
childhood in Belgium, 35-6; know­
ledge of Spanish, 38; in Singapore, 
41-5; arrives in Port Breton, 49; as 
cook, 53-4; early trading expeditions, 
71-2; moves to Kinigunan, 74; con­
flict with villagers, 78-9, 96-7; as 
recruiter, 89, 91-2, 111-12, 119-20; 
sells part of plantation  to New Guinea 
Company, 89; role in 1893 ‘uprising’, 
773-75; v isits Sydney, 126-7; 
becomes A ustralian citizen, 136; 
visits Europe, 134-5, 145; sells 
plantation to Sacred H eart Mission, 
147-8
M outon,J .  M. Senior: 7, 25, 35, 36,
40, 45, 52, 60, 70, 78; relations with 
Farrell, 67-8; early land acquisitions, 
80-1; dies in Cooktown, 85 
M outon, Jean  Leopold, 2, 142 
M outon, Octave M ax, 2, 3, 134, 146-7 
M urakuvudu, 114 
M uliam a, 64n.
Mueller, K. B., 139, 140, 141, 143 
Muruna, 118, 119, 121, 122, 123, 127, 
128, 129, 130, 132

Nakanai, 103n.
Namalili, 25
Naples, 135
Napoleon I I I ,  8
Narooma, 118, 128
Nelson and Robertson, agents, 136
Natava, 25
Navarre, Bishop: 74, 75, 76, 77, 85; 
biography, 86n.
Nettie Merriman, 43n.
New Albion, 7
New Britain Corporation, 130n., 138n. 
New France, see Port-Breton

New H anover, 111
New Guinea Com pany: 4, 6, 25, 26,
27, 83n., 85n., 122, 123; granted 
charter, 82n.; establishes station at 
Keraw ara, 87; buys p a rt o fM outon’s 
land, 89; mints own currency, 90; 
recruiting methods, 133 
New Guinea Exploration and 
Colonisation Com pany, 7 
New South Wales, 7,17 
Niau, J .  H ., 3 
Nodup, 28, 74, 76 
Norddeutscher Lloyd, 129, 130 
Noumea, 16
Nouvelle Bretagne: 8, 17-18, 39, 41, 44, 
45, 47, 48, 55, 59, 60, 61; 
prevented sailing from Le Havre, 37; 
sold in M anila, 6In.
Nouvelle-France, see Port-Breton 
Nouvelle France, La, 13, 14, 36, 49-50 
Nukum anu, 122 
Num anum a, 133, 138 
Nusa, 63n.

Oertzen, Komissar von, 82-4 
O n to n g jav a , 2, 25, 118, 136-7, 138 
oral tradition, on Greenwich Islands, 
126
opossum, 59, 64, 102

Pacific Phosphate Company, 138n.
Pactolus, 131, 132
Palau, 21
Panay Island, 60
Paparatava, 115n.
Paris, 37, 135
Parkinson, R ichard: 27, 81, 87n., 114; 
biography, 8In.
Patterson, Louis, 119, 122 
Peel-Hubel, shipping firm, 61 
Pescadores, Los, see Greenwich Islands 
Phantom Paradise, The, 3 
Phillips, M r Justice, 735«.
Pidgin English, 42, 44, 78, 130 
Pi toy, Auguste, 50, 56, 59 
Pockley, Dr, 140
police, native: 64n., 113, 114, 115; 
in 1914 fighting, 139-41 
Ponape, 119
Port-Breton: 7, 4, 6-14, 18-19, 36,
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49-63; attitude of French Govern­
ment, 7-8, 37; climate, 11, 49; 
indentured labour, 12, 16, 18; 
settlement scheme, 36, 39; militia, 
38n., 39; description, 50; Colonial 
Assembly, 55, 63n; flooding, 57-8; 
a ttitude of Philippine Government,
60; final evacuation, 62-3 
Port des Fran<jais, 52n.
Port Flacking, 2 
Port H unter, 22, 48 
Port-Praslin, 10, 11, 14 
Port Said, 40 
Port Saint Joseph, 52n.
Poulain, J ., 52n. 
poultry, 52, 108 
Pourteau, planter, 122 
Praslin Straits, 58 
Le Prevost, J .  A., 16, 5 In.
Prinz Sigismund, 135 
Puipui, 107 
pulu, 103 
pum pkin, 52-3
punitive expeditions, 93n., 113-16

Queen Emma (E. E. Forsavth): 1, 22, 
26, 27, 28, 65n., 135n., 137; 
compared to Empress Elizabeth of 
Russia, 83; sells out to W ahlen, 128n.; 
dies in M onte Carlo, 113n. 
Queensland, 7

R abardy, Gustave: 16, 51n., 56, 6 In., 
63; character, 19; ‘purchase’ ofN ew  
Ireland, 62; dies at Mioko, 65 
R abaul, 122, 130, 139 
R abaul Printing Works, 148n.
Rabaul Times, 3, 131n., 147, 148 
R ainau, 118n.
Ralum , 3, 27, 69, 80, 81, 89, 113n.,
118n.
R atubu , 111
Ravalien, 24, 68
reciprocity, 27
restitution, 73, 79, 96
R itter, casualty, 140
Robertson, G., 136
Romilly, H. H., 23
Rondahl, Captain, 25, 118, 119, 134,
140, 141

R ondahl, Mrs, 118n., 134 
Rooney, Rev. I., 20 
Rosenthal, 68 
Ruboroi, 132

Sacred Congregation for the 
Propagation of Faith, 5 In., 74n. 
Sacred H eart M ission: 2, 24, 67n., 75, 
76, 78, 99; relations with Farrell, 
74-5; buys out M outon, 147-8 
Saint Jam es Enterprises, 147n.
Saint Jo h n  Islands, 25, 118 
Sam arai, 142 
Sam arang, 35, 43 
Samoa T reaty  (1899), 118n.
San Francisco, 22 
Sangihe Island, 46 
Sapart family, 33, 80n., 84n., 134 
Scanlan ,Jim , 136
Von Schleinitz, Landeshauptm ann, 
82n.
Schmiele, Landeshauptm ann, 88,
113n.
Schneider, Captain, 117, 122 
Schulle, E., 63, 67 
Schurm an, Director-General of 
Agriculture: 19, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39,
40, 43, 44, 45, 46, 50, 52, 67; leaves 
for M anila, 60 
Semeriva, 48n.
Senta, 133
Shark Bay, 9
shell money, see diwara
shipping regulations, 117, 130
Siara, 64n.
Singapore, 17, 41-5, 129n.
Siren, 60
Societe des Fermiers-gendraux de la 
Nouvelle-France, 13, 52n.
Society des Sucreries, Distilleurs et 
Exploitation Agricole, 13 
Societd Franco-Oc^anienne de 
Commerce et de Navigation, 13 
Societe Franco-O ceanienne des 
Mines de Nouvelle-France, 13 
Soe, 88
Solomon Islands, 25 
sorcery, 109-10, 112, 115-16 
spirits, evil, 110 
Splenter, de, hotelier, 19
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Stalio, Agostino, 113n.
Strasburg, Captain, 130 
Strella, 117 
Suez, 40 
Sum atra, 46 
sweet potato, 124n.
Sydney, 2, 123, 126-7, 136, 139

T abakur, 134n
T abar, see G ardner Islands
T akubar, 133, 134n.
Takubar, 138, 142, 143, 144
T am aluban, 87
tam bu, see diwara
Tange t, 103
Tani, native girl, 6In.
taro : cultivation, 47, 105, 124; trade,
25, 94
Tavalai, 115n. 
tennis, 29
Tetzlaff, trader, 48n.
Thom as Cook Travel Agency, 135 
Thomas, Gordon, 147n., 148n. 
T ilm ont family, 41, 42-3, 52, 60 
tobacco trade, 68, 69, 81-2, 93 
Togua, 115
Tolai: 6, 20, 26; m aterial culture, 
70-1; social structure, 100-11 
totemism, 101-4
trading, 46-7, 68-70, 81-2, 94, 98 
trepang, see beche-de-mer 
T riton  Bay, 7 
tubuan, 106 
turtle shell, 46, 47

Uila, ‘K ing’, 118n., 136 
ukaukap, 107, 108

Vakubak, 110 
V ancant, m anager, 142 
V atan, Father, 75 
Velaine, 33 
Vesters, Bishop, 147n.
V itu Islands, 122-3 
Vlavolo, 58n., 78, 91 
Vunakam bam bi, 58n., 85 
V unanam i, 70n.

Waffler, trader, 132, 133 
wages, 26, 119-20 
W ahlen, Rudolph, 26, 128 
Wallis Island, see Lam bom  Island 
Wallis, Samuel, 64n. 
watermelon, 52 
W atom  Island, 121n.
W estern Australia, 9 
West Irian, 7, 46
women, position of, 100-1, 105, 107 
W oodlark Island Mission, 74 
W orld W ar I, 130, 139-41

Yap, 21 
Yekanavo, 28 
Ysabel, 85, 96, 117n.
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Peter Biskup was born in Czechoslovakia and came to Australia 
in 1950 as a displaced person. He read law at the Comenius 
U niversity, Bratislava, and is a graduate of the University of 
W estern Australia. His first job  in A ustralia was as a navvy; he 
also tried his luck as a gardener, furniture removalist, storeman, 
salesman and waiter.

Since 1958 he has worked in Perth as librarian and archivist, 
trained librarians a t the N ational L ibrary in Canberra, and 
taught history at the Adm inistrative College of Papua and New 
Guinea. From  1969-72 he was Law Librarian at the Australian 
N ational University and now lectures in librarianship at the 
C anberra College of Advanced Education. Lie is co-author of 
A Short History o f New Guinea (1968) and Readings in New Guinea 
History (1973) and author of Not Slaves Not Citizens (1973).
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